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Independent Auditors' Report on the Half yearly and Year to Date Consolidated Financial 
Results of the Fund Pursuant to Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended 

To, 
The Board of Directors 
IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRS InvlT Fund) 
IRS Complex, Chandivali Farm, 
Chandivali Village, 
Andheri (East), 
Mumbai 400 072, India. 

Report on the audit of the Consolidated Financial Results 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying Statement of consolidated financial results of IRS InvlT 
Fund (hereinafter referred to as "the Fund") comprising its subsidiaries (the Fund and its 
subsidiaries together referred to as "the Group"), consisting of the Consolidated Statement of 
Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive Income, explanatory notes thereto and the 
additional disclosures as required in paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the SESI Circular No. 
CIRlIMDIDF/127/2016 dated November 29,2016 ("SESI Circular") for the half year and for the 
year ended March 31, 2021 ('the Statement'), attac,hed herewith, being submitted by the Fund 
pursuant to the reqUirements of Regulation 23 of the SESI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SESI Circular. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the Statement: 
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a. includes the results of the following entities: 

i. IRS InvlT Fund 
ii. IRS Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited 
iii. IDAA Infrastructure Limited 
iv. IRS Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited 
v. IRS Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited 
vi. MV.R. Infrastructure and Tollways Limited 
vii. IRS Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited 
viii. IRS Pathankot and Amritsar Toll Road Limited 

b. is presented in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 23 of SESI 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, read with 
SESI Circular No. CIRlIMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29, 2016, in this 
regard; and 

c. gives a true and fair view in conformity with the applicable accounting standards, 
and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated 
net profit and other comprehensive income and other financial information of the 
Group for the half year and for the year ended March 31, 2021. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs), issued by Institute 
of chartered Accountants of India. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further 
described in the 'Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Results' 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 'Code of Ethics' 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial results under the provisions of the 
InvlT Regulations and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance these 
requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion 

Management's Responsibilities for the Consolidated Financial Results 

The Statement has been prepared on the basis of the consolidated annual financial statements. 
Management of the Investment Manager (,the Management') is responsible for the preparation 
and presentation of the Statement that gives a true and fair view of the consolidated net profit 
and other comprehensive income and other financial information of the Group in accordance 
with the requirements of the InvlT regulations; Indian Accounting Standards as defined in Rule 
2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended) and other 
accounting prinCiples generally accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with InvlT 
Regulations. The respective Soard of Directors of the companies included in the Group are 
responsible for maintenance of adequate accounting records for safeguarding of the assets of 
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the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and 
application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Statement that give a 
true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which 
have been used for the purpose of preparation of the Statement by the Management, as 
aforesaid. 

In preparing the Statement, the management and the respective Board of Directors of the 
companies included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the respective Board of Directors either 
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Management and the respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group 
are also responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Results 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Statement as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the Statement 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal 
control. 
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• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the 
management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the management's use of the goi ng concern 
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the ability of the Group to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the Statement or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the Statement, 
including the disclosures, and whether the Statement represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. For companies included in the consolidated 
financial statements, which have been audited by other auditors, such other 
auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the 
audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the Statement that, individually or in 
aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably 
knowledgeable user of the financial statements may be influenced. We consider 
quantitative materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work 
and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified 
misstatements in the Statement. 

We communicate with those charged with governance of the InvlT and such other 
entities included in the Statement of which we are the independent auditors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit. 
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Other Matter 

1. We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information of 7 subsidiaries 
(mentioned in the paragraph (3)(a)(ii) to (viii) above), whose financial statements reflect 
total revenues (before eliminating intra-group transactions) of Rs. 66,479.28 Lakhs and 
Rs. 115,749.81 Lakhs for the half year ended March 31,2021 and for the year ended 
March 31, 2021, respectively. These financial statements and otherfinancial information 
have been audited by the other auditors and whose reports have been furnished to us by 
the management and our opinion on the consolidated financial results in so far as it 
relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries and our 
reports in terms of InvlT regulations, in so far it as relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries is 
based solely on the reports of the other auditors. 
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(I~s . in lakhs unless 1J1I!~r\\'is~ stall'd) 

Audited Consolidated Fillancial results for the half ,'('!I" alld "car ended March 31 . 2U21 

Six MOllth 
Six MOllth Six "Iollth 

Yea,' ended Year elided ended elided 
Sr. :-.io. Particulars ended Marl'll 

September March 31, 
March 31, March31, 

I. 

II. 

III. 

IV. 

V. 

VI. 

VII. 

31,2021 
30,2020 2020 

2021 2020 

(Audited-
([ Inaudited) 

(Audited-
(Audited) ( Audited) Refer note 3) Refer note 3) 

I IICOl11eS and gaills 

Revenue from operations 65.33044 48.95282 63.16497 114,28326 124.05725 

Interest 89857 26901 23192 1.16758 48792 

Prorit on sale of investments/assets 31697 43948 15455 75645 4R I 42 

Other income * III 17 (22965) 1.030 75 (11848) 1.98260 

Totallllcol11e and gains 66,657.15 49,431.66 64,582.19 116,088.81 127,009.19 

Expenses and losses 

O[Jeration expenses 3.532 .95 3,1 8406 95493 6,71701 4.47631 

Project managemcnt fees "(Refer Note c below) 6.076.31 6.10969 7.561 82 12.18600 13 ,361 87 

Valuation expenses 2054 1083 15 19 31 37 31 37 

Annual Listing Fees 30.32 3049 3040 6081 6081 

Trustee r ees 14.75 1475 1475 2950 2950 

Audit fees 19 .05 2486 21 04 4391 4746 

Insurance & security expenses 1288 12992 600.45 14280 1.20931 

Employee bene1its expenses 1.19694 1,231 61 1.348.67 2,42855 2.72682 

Investment management fccs (Refer Notc b below) 29500 29500 618.42 59000 1.22049 

Depreciation on property, plant and equipmcnt 095 098 I 51 I 93 291 

A mortisation of intangible assets 37.484 32 23,320 14 34,76222 60,80446 68.534.98 

Finance costs (Interest) 6.806.49 7,351 .42 7,48812 14.15791 15.355 82 

rinance costs (Others) 252 .85 12745 43401 38030 1.00550 

Re[Jairs and maintenance 035 11.40 17083 II 75 31998 

Legal and profcssional fces 8649 14691 40590 23340 462 12 

Other expenses **. 37 ,27 14953 29603 18680 881 26 

Total Expenses and losses 55,867.46 42,139.04 54,724.29 98,006.50 109,726.51 

Profit fo,' the pcl'iod bcfo"e incol11e tax (I) - (II) 10,789.69 7,292.62 9,857.90 18,082.31 17,282.68 

Tax expenses (current tax and defcrred tax)/reversal 086 (271 ) (88 (6) (I 85) 1274 

Profit fo,' the period lifter income (ax (III) - (IV) 10,788.83 7,295.33 9,946.06 18,084.16 17,269.94 

Items of Other COl11prehensivc Income (3868) - 1479 (3868) 1479 

To(al Comprehens;,'e IncollIe (V) + (VI) 10,750.15 7,295.33 9,960.85 18,045.48 17,284.73 

* Other income includes fair value gain and other non-operating income. 
** Project management fees do no! include major maintenance of Rs.5,773 lakhs, Rs. 2,749.22 lakhs, Rs. 7,031.72 
lakhs, Rs.8,522.22 lakhs and Rs. 13,506.15 lakhs incurred during the six month ended March 2021, six month ended 
September 2020, six month ended March 2020, year ended March 2021 and year ended March 2020, respectively 
for which the provision for major maintenance was made in earlier years. 



Notes to consolidated financial results: 

RD 
IRS InvlT Fund 

(An Irrovocable "ust set up undor the Indian Trus tfl AG-r, 1881. and regls torod ",. 
an Infrastructure Investment ',ust with the Socuritles flna EJ(t'l lI l lge Board (If 'nell,,) 

I. Investors can view the results of the IR!3 InvlT Fund ('Fund ' or 'Trust ' ) on the Trust's website 
(~~~_\\.':iLb_Lnvit.co.iD.) or on the websites ofBSE (www.bseindi a. com) or NSE (www.nseindia.com). 

2. The Audited Consolidated Financial Results comprises of the Consolidated Statement of profit and loss 
(including other comprehensive income), explanatory notes thereto and additional disclosures as required in 
paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the SEBI Circular no. CIRJlMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29, 2016 
CSEBI Circular') of IRB InvlT Fund (,Fund') for the half year ended March 31 , 2021 ("Consolidated 
Financial Results" ) being submitted by the Fund pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 23 of the SEBI 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI 
Circular. 

3. (i) The half yearly Consolidated Financial Results for the half year ended March 31 , 2021 are the derived 
figures between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2021 and the published year-to­
date figures up to September 30, 2020, being the date of the end of the first half of the current financial 
year, which were subject to limited review. The consolidated financial results for the half year ended March 
31, 2021 and year ended March 31, 2021 have been prepared on the basis of the consolidated financial 
results for the half year ended September 30,2020, the audited annual consolidated financial statements as 
at and for the year ended March 31, 2021, and the relevant requirements of the SEBI (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular. 

(ii) The half yearly consolidated financial results for the half year ended March 31, 2020 are the derived 
figures between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2020 and the publ ished year-to­
date figures up to September 30, 2019, being the date of the end of the first half of the previous financial 
year, which were subject to limited review .. 

4 . The Audited Consolidated Financial Results for the year ended March 2021 have been reviewed by the 
Audit Committee of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 15 , 2021 and thereafter 
approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 15,2021. 

5. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have declared 41h Distribution ofRs. 2.50 per unit which 
comprises of Rs.I.70 per unit as interest and Re. 0.80 per unit as return of capital in their meeting held on 
May 15,2021. 

Total distribution made by the Fund is Rs. 8.50 per unit (including I sl Distribution of Rs. 1.50 per unit, 2nd 

Distribution of Rs.2.00 per unit and 3rd Distribution of Rs.2.50 per unit) for the year ended March 31,2021. 

6. The outbreak of Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic globally and in India has caused significant 
disturbance and slowdown of economic activity. As per the directions of the Ministry of Road Transport & 
Highways (MoRTH)/ National Highway Authority of India (NHAI), in order to follow MHA guidelines 
about commercial and private establishment in the wake of COVID-19 epidemic in the country, operations 
at the toll plaza of the subsidiary companies were closed down w.e.f. March 26, 2020. The toll operations 
were resumed from April 20, 2020 by ensuring compliance with preventive measures in terms of 
guidelines/ instructions issue by Government of India to contain spread of COVID-19. 

Due to this, traffic for the toll road has been impacted during the first half of Financial year 2020-21 . In 
accordance with the Concession Agreement and NHAI Policy no. 8.3.33/2020 and 8.4.20/2020 dated May 
26,2020, the subsidiary companies are eligible for extension of concession period with NHAI towards loss 
of revenue due to COVID-19 pandemic situation and NHAI is also extending COVID-19 loan to the 
Concessionaire for shortfall in cashflow. 
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model, COVID-19 does not have any material impact on the Group's financial position as at March 31, 
2021, its financial performance for the year then ended and its internal control over financial repol1ing as at 
March 3 I , 2021 . 

Considering the uncertainties involved in estimating the impact of this pandemic, the future impact of this 
pandemic may be different from those estimated as on the date of approval of these consolidated financial 
results, and this will continue to be monitored in future periods. 

7. IRB InvIT Fund was registered as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 on October 16, 
2015 and as an infrastructure investment trust under the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 on March 14,2016. Units of IRB InvlT Fund have 
been I isted on both the stock exchanges on May 18, 2017. 
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Additional Disclosures as J'equired by PaJ'agraph 6 to SEBI eire.ular No. C1RJIMDIDF/127/2016 : 

a Net Distributable Cash Flows for the halfye:u' ended Ma.-eh 31, 2021 

(i) IRB In"IT Fund (Fund) 
(Rs. ill lakhs) 

Si~ months Si~ months Six months 
Year ended Year ended Sr. ended ended coded 

No. 
Particulars 

March 31, Septembel' 30, March 31, 
March 31, Mard131, 

2021 2020 2020 
2021 2020 

I Cash flows received rrom Project 
SPVs in the !i.lrIll of Interest (Refer 21.718.17 22.673 .51 29.445.10 44.391.68 59.426.29 
note 1) 

2 
Cash flows received jj·om Project 
SPVs in the form or Dividend - - - - -

Any other income accruing at the 
TI ust level and not captured above. 

3 including but not limited to 177.86 161.13 255.43 338.99 628.16 , 
j nterest/ret urn on surplus cash 
invested by the Trust 

Cash flows received rrom the project 

4 
SPVs towards the repayment (Net) or 

18.513.89 3.880.00 6.411.63 22.393 .89 18.054.58 the debt issued to the Project SPVs by 
the Trust (Refer note 2) 

5 
Total cash inflow at the Trust le"el 

40,409.92 26,714.64 36,112.16 67,124.56 78,109.03 (A) 

Lcss: 

Any payment or fees. interest and 
expense incurred at the Trust level. 

6 including but not limited to the fees (6.464.40) (2,890.66) (6.847.36) (9.355.06) ( 13.949.35) 
or the Investment Manager (Refer 
note 3) 

7 
Income tax (if applicable) at the 
Standalone Trust Level - - - - -

8 Repayment of external debt (2.705 .22) ( 1.604.24) ( 1.163.89) (4 ,309.46) (3.478.35) 

9 
Total cash outflows I retention at 

(9,169.62) (4,494.90) (8,011.25) (13,664.52) (17,427.70) 
the Trust leyel (B) 

10 
Net nistrillutallle Cash Flows (C) = 

31,240.30 22,219.74 28,100.91 53,460.04 60,681.33 
(A+B) 

Notes: 

I) Excludes amount due but not received or Rs.6.567 .50 lakhs. Rs. 6,603.58 Lakh and Rs.13. I 7 J .07 lakhs for the period Oet- 20 to March 21 
April-20 to September-20 and FY 2020-21 respectively. 

2) Netted - off with disbursement of long-term unsecured loan to project SPVs (Refer RPT disclosures of standalone financial results). 

3) Excludes interest of Rs. 4.119.45 lakh which was not paid on account of moratoriulll availed as per Rl3I circular dated March 27. 2020 
and May 22. 2020. 



Sr. 
No. 

I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 
7 
8 

9 

10 

(ii) IDAA Infl'astructure Limited (IDAATL) 

Six months Six months 
ended ended 
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(Rs in lakhs) 

Six months 
Yea I' ended Year ended 

ended 
Desc.-iption 

March 31, September 30, March 31, 
Ma"ch 31, March 31, 

2021 2020 
2021 2020 2020 

Profit after tax as per Statement of 
profit and loss/income and 863 .12 (1,203 .81) (937.38) (340.69) (3 ,172.91) 
expenditure (A) 

Add : Depreciation and amortisation 
as per Statement of profit and 9,879.63 6,091.21 9,395.77 15,970.84 18,387.42 
loss/income and expenditure 

Add/less: Any other item of oon- , 
cash expense / non cash income 
(net of actual cash flows for these - - - - -
items), if deemed necessary by the 
Investment Manager 
Add: Interest paid to the Fund 828.51 [,294.37 1,504.88 2,122.88 3,518.35 
Add :- Provision for Resurfacing 

1,177.53 363.27 379.69 1,540.80 284.25 
EXEenses ( Net) 
Add: Non-cash expenses - - - - -

Less :- NHAI Premium - - - - -
Less :- Principal repayment - - - - -
Total Adjustments (8) 11,885.67 7,748.85 11,280.34 19,634.52 22,190.02 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) 

12,748.79 6,545.04 10,342.96 19,293.83 19,017.11 = (A+B) -. 



Sr. 
No. 

I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 
7 
8 
9 

10 

(iii) IRB Surat llahisarTolhlllY Limited (ISDTI ,) 

Six months 
ended 

RD 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An JrrovaCllble 'rus' set up under ,he Indian Trust. Ac~, 1882. and reg/storDd ,II 
an In/rsJlmr.;.fUro Inveslmtmt trust with the Securities ftftd SJ(ctlllnge Board Qf ',ldl. ) 

(R . I I I ) S. 111 :J, lS i 

Six months 
Six months Year ended Year ended 

ended 
Description ended March March 31, Mal·ch 31, 

March 31, September 30, 
31,2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 

Profit after tax as per Statement of 
profit and loss/income and 30.06 (344.74) 483.68 

(314.68) (463.61 ) 
expenditure (A) 

Add: Depreciation and amortisation 
as per Statement of profit and 17,685.27 9,235.10 13 ,750.49 

26,920 .37 27,565.97 
loss/income and expenditure 

Add/less: Any other item of non-
cash expense / non cash income 
(net of actual cash flows for these - - - - -
items), if deemed necessary by the 
Investment Manager . 
Add: Interest paid to the Fund 1,590.46 1,717.25 2,587.90 

3,307.71 5,293.49 
Add :- Provision for Resurfacing 

(197.91) (759.42) (1,297.16) 
Expenses (957 .33) (2,411.45) 
Add: Non-cash expenses - - - - -

Less :- NHAI Premium - - - - -
Less :- Principal repayment - - - - -
Total Adjustments (8) 19,077.82 10,192.93 15,041.23 29,270.75 30,448.01 
Net Dist.-ibutable Cash Flows (C) 

19,107.88 9,848.19 15,524.91 28,956.07 29,984.40 
= (A+B) 



Sr. 
No. 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An frtovocnb/e trust set up under the Indian Trus '~ Act 1882, and reglstolod ~ 
an 'nfrufruc:lurv Investment 'rust with the Securities lwd &c/ltwge Board of r,.dJ,J 

(i ,, ) mB Talcgaon Amra\'ati TolI\\ay Limited (ITATL) 
(Rs in hkhs ) . . , 

Six months Six months Six months 
Year ended Year ended ended ended ended 

Description 
Mat"eh 31, September 30, March 31, 

March 31, MatTh 31, 

2021 2020 2020 
2021 2020 

Profit after tax as per Statement of 
profit and 1 oss/i ncome and ( 179.65) (1,489.18) (850.53 ) (1,668.83) (1,984.87) 
expenditure (A) 

Add : Depreciation and amortisation 
as per Statement of profit and 629.22 413.15 545.25 1,042.37 1,093.51 
loss/income and expenditure 

Add/less : Any other item of non-
cash expense / non cash income (net 
of actual cash flows for these items), - . - - . 
if deemed necessary by the 
Investment Manager 

Add: Interest paid to the Fund 2,985.65 3,003.52 3,002.06 5,989.17 6,015.80 
Add :- Provision for Resurfacing 

242.27 205 .76 148.52 448 .03 324.64 
Expenses 

Add: Non-cash expenses - . - - -
Less :- NHAI Premium - - - - -
Less :- Principal repayment . - - . -
Total Adjustments (8) 3,857.14 3,622.43 3,695.83 7,479.57 7,433.95 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) 

3,677.49 2,133.25 2,845.30 5,810.74 5,449.08 
= (A+B) 



(\) M.\'.R Infrastructure and Tolh,ays Limited ('"'1'1,) 

Six 
months 

Sr. 
Description ended 

No. 
March 

31,2021 

1 
Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and 
loss/income and expenditure (A) 703.77 

Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per 
2 Statement of profit and loss/income and 

1,363 .98 
expenditure 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / 
.., non cash income (net of actual cash flows for ., 

these items), if deemed by the -necessary 
Investment Manager 

4 Add :- Interest paid to the Fund 
2,029.62 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 
166.69' 

6 Add : Non-cash expenses 
-

7 Less :- NHAI Premium -
8 Less :- Principal repayment -
9 Total Adjustments (8) 

3,560.29 

10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 
4,264.06 

RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

An 'rrevocab/e trust set up under ,he Indian Trus,. Act, '882. and reglstolDd,lJ 

an J~f,as'ructu,e Investment trust with the Securities "rid SJfclumge Board ol lndJ/I) 

(Rs in lak hs) .. 
Six Six 

Year Year 
months months 

ended ended 
ended ended 

Mat'ch March September March 
31,2021 31,2020 

30,2020 31,2020 

(958.33) (356.05) (254.56) 120.53 

965 .21 1,741.06 2,329.19 2,943.92 

- - - -

2,362.94 2,353.88 4,392.56 4,101.31 

[66.69 (739.93) 333.38 (1,275.00) 

- - - -

- - - -

- - - -

3,494.84 3,355.01 7,055.13 5,770.23 

2,536.51 2,998.96 6,800.57 5,890.76 



(vi) IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJOTL) 

Six months 

Sr. No. f)escription 
ended 

March 31, 
2021 

I 
Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and 

(4.035.99) 
loss/income and expenditure (A) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement 

961.11 
of profit and losslincome and expenditure 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non 
3 cash income (net of actual cash flows tor these items), -

if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 6.957.86 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses (2.068.32) 

6 Add: Non-cash expenses -
7 Less :- NHAI Premium -
8 Less :- Principal repayment -

9 Total Adjustments (8) 5,850.65 

10 Net I>istributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 1,814.66 

RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An lrtuvor:nble trusl set up under the Indian TrusffJ Act, 1682. and r9glsromr/"s 
en Infras'nkl ture Inveslment 'rust with the Securities and Elc;/'nllge Board ql lndU') 

(R s. in lakhs) 

Six months Six months Year Year 
ended ended ended ended 

September March 31, March 31, March 31, 
30,2020 2020 2021 2020 

(5.566.60) ( 4.231.09) (9.602.59) (8.95R.57) 

711.16 L184.62 1.672.27 2,369.29 

- - - -

7.029.08 6.323.69 13.986.94 12.697.06 

696.27 (592.62) ( 1.372.05) (752.69) 

- - - -
- - - -
- - - -

8,436.51 6,915.69 14,287.16 14,313.66 

2,869.91 2,684.60 4,684.57 5,355.09 



Sr. No. 

I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

RD 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An IrrfJ v(Jcahle frust set up under 'helnd/an Trusts At:I, " S:l, and registered as 
an 'nfraS(I'UDIUfD Investment trust wllh 'he Securilles and Exch"ng8 Board of Indl,) 

(vii) IRB Pathankot Amritsal' Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) 
(Rs in lak hs) 

Six months 
Six 

Six 1II0nths Year Year months 
Description 

ended 
ended 

ended ended ended 
March 31, Mal'eh 31, March 31, March 31, 

2021 
September 

2020 2021 2020 30,2020 

Prolit aller tax as per Statement or profit and 
(7.940.82) (5.784.43) (3.967.14) ( 13 .725.25) (8.32R.26) 

loss/income and expenditure (A) 

Add: Depreciation and amorlisation as per Statement 
(66.93) 1.062.40 1,569.08 995.47 3.138.16 

of profit and loss/income and expenditure 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non 
cash income (net of actual cash /lows for these items). - - - - -
if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

Add : Interest paid to the Fund 7.339.72 7.279.22 7.081.22 14,618 .94 14.225.96 

Add :- Provision for R<.:Slu'lilcing Expenses (2.054.30) 356.71 (960.49) ( \.697.59) ( 1.326.15) 

Add: Non-cash expenses - - - - -
Less :- NHAI Premium - - - - -
Less :- Principal l'cpaymcn! - - - - -
Total Adjustments (B) 5,218.49 8,698.33 7,689.81 13,916.82 16,037.97 

Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (I\+B) (2,722.33~ 2,913.90 3,722.67 191.57 7,709.71 



Sr. 
No. 

I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An 'rrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trust ACf. 18<120 and regIstered 8$ 
an Infrastructure Investment 'rust with the Securities IJnd Ex~/'nnge Board of India) 

(viii) IRB Tumlwr Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 
, . -(Rs in lakhs) 

Six Six Six 
Year 

months months months Year 

Description ended ended ended 
ended ended 

March31, September March 31, 
March 31, March 31, 

2021 30,2020 2020 
2021 2020 

Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and 
(1,789.02) (574.25) (3,385 .94) (2,363 .27) (6,836.56) loss/income and expenditure (A) 

Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per 
Statement of prol~t and loss/income and 7,664.14 5,085.37 6,902.62 12,749.51 13,805 . 18 
expenditure 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / 
non cash income (net of actual cash flows for 

- -
these items) , if deemed by the - - -necessary 
1 nvestment Manager 
Add: Interest paid to the Fund 6,567.50* 6,603.58* 6,603.58 13,171.08* 13,597.84 
Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses (72.69) (926.60) (1,502.53) (999.29) (3,389.23) 
Add: Non-cash expenses 1,268.'jl8 (2,176.59) 1,403.12 (908 .11 ) 2,912 .33 

Less :- NHAI Premium (11,490.77) (7,842 .00) (10,371.50) (19,332.77) (19,926.42) 
Less :- Principal repayment - - - - -
Total Adjustments (B) 3,936.66 743.76 3,035.30 4,680.42 6,999.70 
Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 2,147.64 169.51 (350.65) 2,317.15 163.14 

* I nterest due but not paid 

b. Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager is entitled to an Investment 
Management fees to be calculated @ I % per annum, exclusive of GST, of the consolidated toll revenue 
(net of premium paid I revenue shared with NHAI) of the Fund at the end of the reporting period subject 
to a floor of Rs . 100 million and a cap of Rs. 250 million. Considering the COVIO-19 impact, the Board 
of Directors of Investment manager has reduced the Investment management fees by 50% for financial 
year 2020-::'.021 and also reduction in floor price by 50% for financial year 2020-21. Therefore, the 
revised management fees calculated is 0.50% per annum exclusive of GST subject to a floor of Rs . 50 
million. 

c. [n accordance with the Project Implementation Agreements, the fees and remuneration payable by the 
Project SPVs to the Project Manager has been worked out and agreed upon for the duration of current 
financial year, between the Project Manager, Investment Manager and the respective Project SPY, on an 
arm's length basis, after taking into account the extent of work to be done in respect of maintenance and 
other services to be provided by the Project Manager to such Project SPY. 

d. Statement of Earnings per unit 

Pa,·ticu[ars 

Profit for the period Iyear 
Number of units outstanding for 
computation of basic and diluted 
earnings per unit 
Earnings per unit (basic and 
diluted) 

Six Months 
ended 

Much31, 
2021 

10,788.83 

580,500,000 

Six Months 
ended 

September 
30,2020 

7,295.33 

580,500,000 

(Rs. in lakhs e cc I for unit data) 
Six Months 

ended 
March 31, 

2020 
9,946.06 

580,500,000 

1.71 

Year ended 
March 31, 

2021 

18,084.16 

Year ended 
March 31, 

2020 

17,269.94 

580,500,000 580,500,000 



RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An Irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882. and reglstRJ'fH/ .O: 
an Infrastructure Investmont trust with the Securities end EJicl, lUJge Board ()f Inrlt~) 

l' , Statement of contingent liaiJilities and commitments 

Contingent liabilities not provided for 

(Rs in lakhs) 

As at March 
As at As at 

Pa.,ticulars 
31,2021 

September 30, Much 31, 
2020 2020 

NHAI claim for shortfall ill Revenue share - - 3,289.08 

- - 3,289,08 

Commitments 

(Rs . in lakhs) 

As at March 
As at As at 

Particulars 
31,2021 

September 30, Ma,'ch 31, 
2020 2020 

Estimated value of contracts In capital account - - -remaining to be executed . 
Commitment for acquisition of toll equipment & 

156.01 - -
mach i neri es 

Other commitments 156,01 - -

r. Statement of Related party transactions 

L List of Related Pa.1ies 

i. Parties to the Fund IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) (Sponsor) 
IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) (Investment Manager) 
Modern Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) (Project Manager) (Up 
till 15 d1 May 2019) 
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) (Project Manager) (w.e.f. 
16'h May 2019) 
IDBI Trusteeship Services Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 

ii. Pmmotersl Directors of the parties to the IRB InvlT Fund specified in (i) above 

IRB 
IRB Infrastructure Infrastructu re 

Particula.'s Developer's Limited (Sponso.' Private Limited 
and Project Manager) (Investment 

Manage.') 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
IRB Infrastructure 

Promoters Developers Limited 
Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar 

Modern 
Road 

Makers 
Private 
Limited 
(P.'oject 

Mana er) 

IRS 
Infrastructur 
e Developers 

Limited 

lOBI 
Trusteeship 

Services Limited 
(Trustee of the 

IRB InvlT 
Fund) 

IDBI Bank 
Limited 
Life Insurance 
Corporation of 
India 



Directors 

RB 
IRS InvlT Fund 

(An Irrevocable ',usl set up under the Indian Trusts Ao'.l "882~ and rogls ffu od"JI 
an Infrastructure Investment trust with the Securities alld Eltch;mge So",d DI "ldlN 

Virend ra D. Mhai skar HUF General Insurance 
Corporation of 
India 

Mr. 
Mr. J.Samuel 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
Mr. Vinodkumar 

Mukeshlal 
Joseph 

Menon 
Gupta 

( w.e .f. 
26 .11.2019) 

Mr. Rajinder Pal 
Mr. 

Mr. Ravishankar Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar Dhananjay 
Singh 

K. Joshi 
G. Shinde 

Mr. Sunil Tandon 
Mr. Rajpaul Ms. Madhuri J . Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta ( w.e.f. 

05.06.2020) 
S. Sharma Kulkarni 

Mrs.Arati Mr. Satyajit 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 
Mr. Mr. Bajrang Taskar Tripathy 
Lal Gupta (till (w.e.f. (w.e.f. 
24.05 .2020) 25 .02.2020) 15 .02.2020) 

Mr. Ajay P. 
Ms. Padma Betai 

Mr. Chandrashekhar S. Kaptan 
Deshmukh 

( w .e.f. 
Mr. Sumit Banerjee (till 

(till 31.07.2020) 26.03.2021 ) 
19.03 .2020) 

, Mr. Sandeep 
Mr. G .M . 

Mr. Sunil H. Talati 
J. Shah 

Yadwadkar 
(w.e .f. 

(till 30.10.2019) 
25 .02.2020) 

Mr. 
Chandrashek Mr. Swapan 

Mr. Sandeep J. Shah har S. Kumar Bagchi 
Kaptan (till (till 03 .03.2020 ) 
25 .02.2020) 
Mrs. Heena 

Mr. Saurabh 
Mrs. Heena Raja 

Raja 
Chandra 

(till 
25.02.2020) 

(till 21.05.2019) 

MS.Sashikala 
Muralidharan 
(till 16.01.2020 ) 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 

Mr. Tushar Kawedia (res igned w.e.f. 26.03 .2021 ) 

Mr. Urmil Shah (res igned w.e.f. 26 .06.201 9) 

Mr. Rushabh Gandhi (w .e.f. 31.03 .2021) 

iii. Directors of Subsidiades Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupl!l 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee 

Mr. litendra Sharma ( res igned w.e.f. 16.10.2019) 

Mr. O mprakash Singh (w.e.f.30.1 0.20 19) 

Mrs. Heena Raja (w.e.f.30 .03.20 19) 



II. Transactions with related pal"ties during the pedod 

Six Six 

Sr" 
Months Months 

No" 
Pa I"ticula rs Relation ended ended 

March September 
31,2021 30,2020 

1 
Project 

11,849.31 8,858.91 Manager Fees 

MRMPL 
Project 

Manager . -
IRBIDL 

Project 
11,849.31 8,858 .91 

Manager 

Investment 
Management 

2 fees paid 295.00 295.00 
(including 
indirect taxes) 

IRBFL Investment 295 .00 295 .00 
Manager 

3 
Secured 

6,827.64 7,947.90 
advance Given 

IRBIDL 
Project ' 

6,827.64 7,947.90 
Manager 

Secured 
4 advance 9,686.64 5,516.89 

I"ecovel"ed 

JRBIDL 
Project 

9,686.64 5,516.89 
Manager 

5 
Interest 

131.70 229.81 
Income 

IRBIDL 
Project 

131.70 229.81 
Manager 

RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An 'rrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act! 1B62. and reg/s tofod IJ 
an Infrastructure Investment "ust wllh .he Securities and Erch;mge Board or Indll) 

( Rs in lakhs) 

Six 
Year Year 

Months 
ended ended 

ended 
March March 

March 
31,2021 31,2020 

31,2020 

14,588.55 20,708.22 26,868.03 

3,879 .25 - -
14,588.55 20,708 .22 22,988.78 

, 

618.42 590.00 1,220.49 

618.42 590.00 1,220.49 

32,272.94 14,775.54 46,622.04 

32,272.94 14,775 .54 46,622 .04 

34,459.67 15,203.53 46,194.06 

34,459.67 15,203 .53 46,194.06 

223.12 361.51 418.15 

223 .12 361.51 418 .15 



6 
Perfol-mance 
secul"ity repaid - -

MRMPL 
Project - -

Manager 

7 
Director sitting 

7.78 10.16 
fees 

Mr.Vinodkumar 
1.52 1.90 

Menon 

Mr.Tushar 
0.86 0.86 

Kawedia 

Mr.Urmil Shah - -

Mr.Sumit 
2.00 2.7 

Banarjee Director 

Mr. Omprakash 
0.20 0.70 Singh 

Mrs.Heena Raja 2.40 3.00 

Mr. litendra -Sharma -

Mr. Bajrang Lal 
0.8 1.0 

Gupta 

8 
Trusteeship 

14.75 14.75 
Fees 

ITSL Trustee 14.75 14.75 

Distribution in 
9 the form of 3,520.93 2,667.93 

interest 

Sponsor 

IRBlDL 
and 

3,059.26 2,317.63 
Project 
Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Director 
403 .92 306.00 

Mhaiskar of Sponsor 

RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An Irrevocable ',usl se' up under the Indian Trus ts Act, 1882, and reg/sloTod Btl. 
8n Infrastructure/nves'ment trusl with the Securities Al'ld Exc/ulnge Board of lad/II) 

- - 2,950.00 

- - 2,950.00 

6.35 17.94 24.53 

1.38 3.42 4.39 

0.85 1.72 2.41 



Mrs. Deepali Y Director 
Mhaiskar of Sponsor 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Director 
Hoshing of Sponsor 

Director 
Mr. Mukeshlal of Sponsor 
Gupta & Project 

Manager 

Mr. 
Director 

Yinodkumar 
of 

Menon 
Investment 
Manager 

Director 
Mr. Bajrang Lal of 
Gupta Investment 

Manager 

Mr. Sumit 
Director 

of Project 
Banerjee 

Manager 

Mr. Dhananjay 
Director 

of Project 
K. Joshi 

Manager 

Mr. Ajay P. Director 
of Project 

Deshmukh 
Manager 

Mr. Rajpaul S. 
Director 

of Project 
Sharma 

Manager 

Director of 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Sponsor & 
Project 
Manager 

Mr. 
Director of 

Chandrashekhar 
Sponsor & 

Kaptan 
Project 
Manager 

Distribution in 

10 
the form of 
return of 
capital 

Sponsor 

IRBIDL 
and 
Project 
Manager 

51.15 38.75 

5.28 4.00 

- -

0.99 0.75 

- -

0.55 -

- -

- -

- -

0.33 0.25 

- -

1,280.34 854 

1,112.46 741.64 -
1~~i\&A? 

RD 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An '".vocab/e 'rust se' up under the/odie" Trusts .qat. 1882, and regls tC1r~d 011:1 
an Infrastructure Investment 'rust with 'he Securities nud' &(ihnnge Board 01 Iud/I) 

62.00 89.9 127.1 

4.4 9.28 8.6 

2.80 8.68 -

1.20 1.74 2.46 

0.20 0.41 -
, 

1.80 0.55 3.26 

0.60 1.23 
-

5.20 10.66 
-

OAO 0.82 
-

0.20 0.58 0.20 

0.60 0.60 
-

1,276.58 2,134.34 3,298.58 

1,112.46 1,854.10 2,873.86 

~ 

~~§:.~ .:t: y 
Co? CtJa."ti ~ 

I \ '''A.b", ;; I 
* *~ I.fUM~1 \ 

-



Mr. Virendra D, Directo"r 
146.88 

Mhaiskar of Sponsor 

Mrs . Deepali V, Director 
18.60 

Mhaiskar of Sponsor 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Director 
1.92 Hoshing of Sponsor 

Mr. Mukeshlal Director 
Gupta of Sponsor -

Mr. 
Director 

Vinodkumar 
of 

0.36 
Menon 

Investment 
Manager 

Director 
Mr. Bajrang Lal of 
Gupta Investment -

Manager 

Director 
Mr. Sumit of 
Banerjee Investment -

Manager 

Mr. Dhananjay 
Director 

of Project 
K. Joshi -

Manager 

Mr. Ajay P. 
Director 

of Project 
Deshmukh -Manager 

Mr. Rajpaul S. 
Director 

of Project 
Sharma -

Manager 

Director of 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Sponsor & 

0.12 
Project 
Manager 

Director of 
Mr. 

Sponsor & 
Chandrashekhar 

Project -Kaptan 
Manager 

~\,\"' &A.s$o 
;::,4 ~ 

c.; ~ 

I ~ Ch<'f,\d rn (/.) ({) 

~ flc' ,r , ,: In!' ~-r-.. .... b ~ 

* I.. UM'O~'\ 

97.92 

12.40 

1.28 

-

0.24 

. 
-

0.44 

-

-

-

0.08 

-

I 

RD 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An Irrevocable trus' a I up under the IndIan Trusl$ Act. 18B2. and ruglsfsrad 11$ 

an Infrasfructure InvotlfnfUnt 'rust w/fh ,he Securities " l'Id ExciulIIge Board of 'ndll) 

140.4 244.8 362.7 

18.60 31.00 48.05 

1.34 3.20 3.24 

0.70 3.36 -

0.36 0.60 0.93 

0.06 0.16 -

0.55 0.44 1.22 

0.18 0.47 -

1.56 4.03 -

0.12 0.3\ -

0.07 0.2 0.07 

O. \8 0.\8 
-

-=--
~~1T~ 

1~8 
*..d --



III. Related pal'ty outstanding balances 

As on 

S ... March 
No, 

P~II,ticulars Relation 3 I, 

2021 

I Trade Payables 138.13 

IRBFL 
Investment 

138.13 
Manager 

IRBIDL Project Manager -

2 Secured Advance -
IRBIDL Project Manager -

3 
OirectOl' sitting fees 

0.05 
payable 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 0.05 

Mr. Tushar Kawedia -
Mr. Sum it Banerjee Director -
Mrs. Heena Raja -
Mr. Omprakash Singh -
Mr. Bajrang La1 Gupta -

RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An Irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trus t. Aat. 18112. and registJJTOd p 
an Infrastruc'ure Invostment 'rust with the Securities lWei Exchange Board 01 l"dl~ 

( Rs in lakhs) 

As on As on 
September Mal'ch 

30, 3 I, 

2020 2020 

963.23 2,519.48 

892,81 816.06 

70.42 1,703.42 

2,859.00 427,98 

2,859.00 427.98 

3.61 1.27 

0.66 0.23 

0.35 0.14 

0,93 -

0.93 0.45 

0.37 -
0.37 0.45 

The Fund has not acquired any asset from related party during the year ended March 31, 2021 as well as in previous 
financial year ended March 31, 2020. 

For IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRB InvlT Fund) 

~ 
Vi nod kumar Menon 
Whole time Director 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 15, 2021 
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Independent Auditors' Report on the Half Yearly and Year to date audited Standalone 
Financial Results of the Fund Pursuant to Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended 

To, 
The Soard of Directors 
IRS Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRS InvlT Fund) 
IRS Complex, Chandivali Farm, 
Chandivali Village, 
Andheri (East), 
Mumbai 400 072, India. 

Report on the audit of the Standalone Financial Results 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying Statement of standalone financial results of IRS InvlT Fund 
("Fund"), consisting of the Statement of Profit and Loss including Other Comprehensive 
Income, explanatory notes thereto and the additional disclosures as required in paragraph 6 of 
Annexure A to the SESI Circular No. CIRlIMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29, 2016 (USESI 
Circular") for the half year and for the year ended March 31, 2021 ('the Statement'), attached 
herewith, being submitted by the Fund pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 23 of the 
SESI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read 
with SESI Circular. 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, 
the Statement: 

i. are presented in accordance with the requirements of Regulation 23 of SESI 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, read with SESI 
Circular No. CIRlIMD/DF/127/2016 dated November 29,2016 in this regard; and 

Registered Office: 
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ii. give a true and fair view in conformity with the applicable accounting standards and 
other accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the net profit and other 
comprehensive income and other financial information for the half year and year ended 
March 31,2021. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) issued by Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). Our responsibilities under those Standards are 
further described in the "Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial 
Results" section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the Code of 
Ethics issued by the ICAI and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the ICAI's Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Management's Responsibilities for the Standalone Financial Results 

The Statement has been prepared on the basis of the standalone annual financial statements. 
Management of IRS Infrastructure Private Limited ('Investment Manager') is responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the standalone financial results that gives a true and fair view of 
the net profit and other comprehensive income and other financial information of the Fund in 
accordance with the requirements of SESI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, 
as amended from time to time ("the InvlT Regulations"); Indian Accounting Standards as defined 
in Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as amended), and 
other accounting principles generally accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with InvlT 
regulations. This responsibility includes the design, implementation and maintenance of 
adequate internal financial controls for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the Statement that give a 
true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the Statement, the Management is responsible for assessing the Fund's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the management either intends to liquidate 
the Fund or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Investment Manager is also responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Results 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Statement as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error nd are considered 
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material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the Statement. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the Statement, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial 
results or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Fund to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial 
results, including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial results represent 
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the Statement that, individually or in aggregate, 
makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable user of the 
financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative materiality and qualitative 
factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and 
(ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the standalone financial results. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them a" 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 

Other Matter 

The Statement includes the standalone financial results for the half year ended March 31,2021 
being the balancing figures between the audited figures in respect of the full financial year 
ended March 31, 2021 and the published unaudited year-to-date figures up to September 30, 
2020, being the date of the end of the first half of the current financial year, which were subject 
to limited review as required under Regulation 23 of the SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular No. 
CIRlIMDIDF/127/2016 dated November 29,2016. 

FOR SURESH SURANA & ASSOCIATES LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Reg. No. 121750WIW-100010 

(Rame~a) 
Partner 
Membership No.: 1 02306 
UDIN: 21102306AAAABP6864 
Place: Mumbai 
Dated: 15 May 2021 
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RD 
IRS InvlT Fund 

(An Irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882, and registered as 
an Infrastructure Investment trust with the Securities and Exchange .Board of India) 

A~dited Standalone Financial Result for the half year and year ended March 31,2021 

( Rs. In lakh) 

Six month Six month Six month 
Year ended Year ended ended ended ended 

Sr. March 31,2021 September 30, 
March 31,2020 Mal'ch 31,2021 Ma"ch 31,2020 

No. Particulars 2020 

(Audited -
( Unaudited) ( Audited-

(Audited) ( Audited) Refer note 3) Refer note 3) 

I Incomes and gains 

Interest on loan 28,285.68 29,277.08 29,445.10 57,562.76 59,426.29 
Profit on sale of 

63.86 388.58 62.02 452.44 282.08 investments 

Interest on bank deposits - 26.64 - 26.64 50.33 
Interest on income tax 

2.11 2.11 refund - - -
Other income (changes in 
fair value gain / (loss on 114.00 (256.20) . 193.41 (142.20) 295.75 
investments» 

Total income and gains 28,463.54 29,438.21 29,700.53 57,901.75 60,054.45 

II Expenditure 

Valuation expenses 10.68 10.83 15.19 21.51 31.37 

Annuallisting fee 30.32 30.49 30.40 60.81 60.81 

Audit fees 6.81 8.51 6.13 15.32 12.92 
Investment management 

295.00 295.00 618.42 590.00 1,220.49 fees (refer note b below) 

Trustee fees 14.75 14.75 14.75 29.50 29.50 

Finance cost (interest) 5,594.50 6,097.89 6,141.76 11 ,692.39 12,544.91 
Legal and professional 

16.29 14.60 17.87 30.89 29.76 expenses 

Other expenses· 2.61 4.87 2.84 7.48 19.59 

Total Expenses 5,970.96 6,476.94 6,847.36 12,447.90 13,949.35 

Profit from ordinary 
III activities before tax (I) - 22,492.58 22,961.27 22,853.17 45,453.85 46,105.10 

(II) 

IV 
Tax expense (current tax - - - - -and deferred tax) / reversal 

V 
Profit for the period after 

22,492.58 22,961.27 22,853.17 45,453.85 46,105.10 income tax (III) - (IV) 

VI 
Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income - - - - -
Total Comprehensive 

VII Income (after tax) (V) + 22,492.58 22,961.27 22,853.17 45,453.85 46,105.10 
evn 

• miscellaneous expenses. 



Notes: 

RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An 'rrevocable 'rust set up under .he Indian Trusrs AClf, 1882. and registered as 
an Infrastructure Investment trust with the Securities ,and EKo/umge Board of India) 

1. Investors can view the results of the IRB InvIT Fund ('Fund' or 'Trust') on the Trust's website 
(www.irbinvit.co.in) or on the websites ofBSE (www.bseindia.com) or NSE (www.nseindia.com). 

2. The Audited Standalone Financial Results comprises of the Standalone Statement of profit and loss, 
explanatory notes thereto and additional disclosures as required in paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the SEBI 
Circular no. CIRlIMD/DF/127!2016 dated November 29, 2016 (,SEBI Circular') of IRB InvIT Fund 
(' Fund') for the half year ended March 31, 2021 and for the year ended March 31, 2021 ("Standalone 
Financial Results") being submitted by the Fund pursuant to the requirements of Regulation 23 of the SEBI 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI 
Circular. 

3. (i) The half yearly Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2021 are the derived 
figures between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2021 and the published year-to­
date figures up to September 30, 2020, being the date of the end of the first half of the current financial 
year, which were subject to limited review. The Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended 
March 31, 2021 have been prepared on the basis of the Standalone Financial Results for the half year 
ended September 30, 2020, the audited annual standalone financial statements as at and for the year ended 
March 31, 2021, and the relevant requirements of the SEB! (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 
2014, as amended from time to time read with SEBI Circular. 

(ii) The half yearly Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2020 are the derived 
figures between the audited figures in respect of the year ended March 31, 2020 and published year-to-date 
figures up to September 30,2019, being the date of the end of the first half of the previous financial year, 
which were subject to limited review. 

4. IRB InvIT Fund was registered as an irrevocable trust under the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 on October 16, 
2015 and as an infrastructure investment trust under the Securities and Exchange Board of India 

. (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 on March 14,2016. Units ofIRB InvIT Fund have 
been listed on both the stock exchanges on May 18, 2017. 

5. The Trust has considered the possible effects that may result from the second wave of COVID-19 
pandemic on the carrying amounts of its investments in SPVs including loans and other receivables. In 
developing the assumptions relating to the possible future uncertainties in the global economic conditions 
because of this pandemic, the Trust, as at the date of approval of these financial results has used internal 
and external sources of information including reports from Independent Traffic Consultants and related 
information, economic forecasts and consensus estimates from market sources on the expected future 
performance of the Trust. 

6. The Audited Standalone Financial Results for the half year ended March 31, 2021 have been reviewed by 
the Audit Committee of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 15, 2021 and thereafter 
approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager at their meeting held on May 15, 2021. 

7. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have declared 4th Distribution of Rs. 2.50 per unit 
which comprises of Rs.1. 70 per unit as interest and Re.0.80 per unit as return of capital in their meeting 
held on May 15,2021. 

Total distribution made by the Fund is Rs. 8.50 per unit (including 1.1 Distribution of Rs. 1.50 per unit, 2nd 

Distribution ofRs.2.00 per unit and 3rd Distribution ofRs.2.50 per unit) for the year ended March 31, 2021. 
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(An IrfiWOfi-Bb/e 'rust set up under fhe/ndlsn Trusls Act. 7d82, and reglsfO",fJ'~ 
an InfrlJstructuro Investment trust with 'he Securities bntl ExtJlmnge Board of Jf)(J#t) 

Additional Disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 of Annexure A to SEBI Circular No. CIRfIMDIDF/127/2016: 

a) Net Distributable Cash Flows as at the Standalone Trust level 

(Rs. In lakh) 

Six month 
Six month 

Six month Year ended Year ended Sr. ended 
No. Particulars ended 

September 30, 
ended March 31, March 31, 

March 31,2021 
2020 

March 31,2020 2021 2020 

Cash flows received from 
j Project SPVs in the form of 21,718.18 22,673.50 29,445.10 44,391.68 59,426.29 

Interest (Refer note 1) 

Cash flows received from 
2 Project Spy s in the form of - - - . -

Dividend 

Any other income accruing at 
the Trust level and not 

3 
captured above, including but 

177.86 161.13 
, 

255.43 338.99 628.16 not limited to interest/return 
on surplus cash invested by 
the Trust 

Cash flows received from the 
project SPVs towards the 

4 repayment of the debt issued 18,513.89 3,880.00 6,411.63 22,393.89 1.8,054.58 
to the Project SPVs by the 
Trust (Refer note 2) 

5 
Total cash inflow at the 

40,409.93 26,714.63 36,112.16 67,124.56 78,109.03 Trust level (A) 

Less: 

Any payment oUees, interest , 
and expense incurred at the 

6 
Trust level, including but not 

(6,464.40) (2,890.66) (6,847.36) (9,355.06) (13,949.35) 
limited to the ft;es of the . 
Investment Manager (Refer 
note 3) 

7 
Income tax (if applicable) at - - - - -the Standalone Trust Level 

8 Repayment of external debt (2,705.22) (1,604.24) (1,163.89) (4,309.46) (3,478 .35) 

Total cash outflows I 
9 retention at the Trust level (9,169.62) (4,494.90) (8,011.25) (13,664.52) (17,427.70) 

(B) 

10 
Net Distributable Cash 

31,240.31 22,219.73 28,100.91 53,460.04 60,681.33 
Flows (C) = (A+B) -// • ~ 

~<>:-'r~ ' :, vSo~ -c.; c .... 
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Notes: 

RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An Irrevocable trust set up under the IndIan TrusJs A ct, 10b~, and '9f}Js l tJled ,. 
an InfrastflllJ llH'Q Investment trust with the SecurWes II lt d EMduutge Board or India) 

1) Excludes amount due but not received ofRs. 6,567.50 lakhs , Rs. 6,603.58 Lakh and Rs.13, 171 .08 lakhs for the period 
Oct- 20 to March 21, April-20 to September-20 and FY 2020-21 respectively. 

2) Netted - off with disbursement of long-term unsecured loan to project SPY (Refer RPT note). 

3) Excludes interest of Rs. 4,119.45 lakh which was not paid on account of moratorium availed as per RBI circular dated 
March 27, 2020 and May 22, 2020. 

b) Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager is entitled to an Investment 
Management fees to be calculated @ 1% per annum, exclusive of GST, of the consolidated toll revenue 
(net of premium paid / revenue shared with NHAI) of the Fund at the end of the each quarter subject to a 
floor of Rs. 100 million and a cap of Rs. 250 million. Considering the COVID-19 impact, the Board of 
Directors of Investment Manager has reduced the Investment Management fees by 50% for financial year 
2020-2021 and also reduction in floor price by 50% for financial year 2020-21. Therefore, the revised 
management fees to be calculated is 0.50% per annum exclusive of GST subject to a floor of Rs. 50 
million. 

c) Statement of earnings per unit 

R s. in Jnkh, excc pt for unit data) 
Six month Six month Six month 

Particulars ended ended ended Year ended Year ended 
March 31, September March 31, March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

2021 30, 2020 2020 

Profit for the period / year 22,492.58 22,961.27 22,853 .17 45,453.85 46,105.10 

Number of units outstanding for 
computation of basic and diluted 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 580,500,000 
earnings per unit 

Earnings per unit in Rs. (basic and 
3.87 3.96 3.94 7.83 7.94 

diluted) 

d) Statement of contingent liabilities and commitments 
( Rs. In lakb) 

Particulars As at As at As at 
March 31,2021 September 30,2020 March 31,2020 

Contingent liabilities Nil Nil Nil 

Commitments Nil Nil Nil 
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IRB InvlT Fund 

(An 'rrevocable 'rust set up under the Indian Trus' S.Aef, 1882, and registered IS 
an Infrastructure Investment 'rust with the Securities .nd Exc"':mge Board of IndllJ) 

e) Statement of Related party transactions 

I. List of Related Parties 

i. Subsidiaries/ SPVS lDAA lnfi astructure Limited (lDAAlL) 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IJDTL) 
IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (JP A TRL) 
IRB Surat Dahisar Tollwa)' Limited (lSDTL) 
IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (IT A l'L) 
IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 
M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) 

ii. Parties to the Fund IRB Infrastructure Develop_ers Limited (lRBlDL) (Sponsor) 
IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (TRBFL) (Investment Manager) 
Modem Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) (Project Manager) (Up 
till 15th May 2019) 
IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBlDL) (Project Manager) (w.e.f. 
16th May 2019) 
IDBI Trusteesbip Services Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 

iii. Promoters! Directors of the parties to the Fund specified in (ii) above 

Particulars 

Promoters 

Directors 

IRB Infrastructure 
Developers Limited 
(Sponsor & Project 
manager) 

Mr. Virendra D. 
Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Deepali V. 
Mhaiskar 

Virendra D. Mhaiskar 
HUF 

Mr. Vireildra D. 
Mhaiskar 

Mrs. Deepali V. 
Mhaiskar 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 

Mr. Chandrashekhar S. 
Kaptan 

Mr. Sunil H. Talati 

Mr. Sandeep I . Shah 

Mrs. Heena Raja 

IRB Infrastructure 
Private Limited 
(Investment 
manager) 

IRB Infrastructure 
Developers Limited 

Mr. Vinod Kumar 
Menon 

Mr. Rajinder Pal Singh 

Mr. Sunil Tandon 
( w.e.f. 05.06.2020) 

Mr.Bajarang Lal Gupta 
(till 24.05.2020) 

Mr. Sum it Banerjee 
(till 31.07.2020) 

Modern Road Makers 
IDBI Trusteeship 

Private Limited 
Services Limited 

(Project manager) 
(Trustee of the IRB 
InvIT Fund) 

IRB Infrastructure IDBI Bank Limited 
Developers Limited 

Life Insurance 
Corporation of India 

General Insurance 
Corporation oflndia 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Mr. I .Samuel Joseph 
(w.e.f. 26.11.2019) 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Mr. Ravishankar G. 
Shinde 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Ms. Madhuri J. Kulkarni 

Mr. Sandeep J. Shah Mr. Satyajit Tripathy 
( w.e.f. 25.02.2020) (w.e.f. 15.02.2020) 

Mrs. Arati Taskar Ms. Padma Betai 
(w.e.f.25.02.2020) ( w.e.f. 15.02.2020) 

Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh 
(ti1126.03 .2021) 



n. Transactions with related parties 

Six month Six month 
Sr. ended ended 
No. Particulars Relation 

March 31, September 
2021 30,2020 

1 
Repayment of secured 

13,121.57 4,580.00 loan (Long term) 
ISDTL Subsidiary 11,289.87 2,840.00 

IJDTL Subsidiary 593.04 -
IDAAIL Subsidiary - -
IPATRL Subsidiary 252.73 -
MlTL Subsidiary 985.93 1,740.00 

2 Unsecured loan given 
9,000.00 2,000.00 (Long term) 

IJDTL Subsidiary - 2,000.00 

MlTL Subsidiary 9,000.00 -

Repayment of 
3 unsecured loan (Long 14,392.32 1,300.00 

term) 

IDAAIL Subsidiary 14,392.32 1,300.00 

4 
Unsecured loans given 

17,841.00 8,817.00 (Short term) 

ISDTL Subsidiary 9,525.00 3,290.00 

IJDTL Subsidiary - 400.00 

IPATRL. Subsidiary 7,616.00 4,365.00 

ITATL Subsidiary - 100.00 

ITCTL Subsidiary - -
MITL Subsidiary 700.00 662.00 

Repayment of 
5 unsecured loan given 18,502.50 3,924.10 

(Short term) 

ISDTL Subsidiary - 450.00 

IJDTL Subsidiary - 400.00 

IPATRL Subsidiary 10,967.00 1,014.00 

ITATL Subsidiary - 100.00 

ITCTL Subsidiary - -
MITL Subsidiary 7,535.50 1,960.10 

RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An Irrevocable trust set up under the Indian Trus~s Aet.1S82, and '9glsrll",11 1'$ 
an Infrastructure Investment trust wllh the SecurfOes and Exchange Soard of In dirt) 

( Rs. In lakh) 

Six month 
Year ended Year ended ended 

March 31, 
March 31, March 31, 

2020 
2021 2020 

16,165.68 17,701.57 27,808.63 

14,593.14 14,129.87 19,457.52 

- 593.04 -
- - 6,402.00 

- 252.73 196.57 

1,572.54 2,725.93 1,752.54 

15,662.50 11,000.00 15,662.50 

9,800.00 2,000.00 9,800.00 

5,862.50 9,000.00 5,862.50 

5,908.46 15,692.32 5,908.46 

5,908.46 15,692.32 5,908.46 

15,599.30 26,658.00 55,874.30 

7,827.00 12,815.00 9,897.00 

- 400.00 7,552.00 

- 11,981.00 2,700.00 . 
- 100.00 800.00 

- - 11,173.00 

7,772.30 1,362.00 23,752.30 

25,827.00 22,426.60 50,729.00 

2,345.00 450.00 9,897.00 

7,552.00 400.00 7,552.00 

- 11 ,981.00 2,700.00 

- 100.00 800.00 

- - 13,850.00 

15,930.00 9,495.60 15,930.00 



Six month Six month 
Sr. ended ended 
No. 

Particu la rs ReI<ltion 
M<lrch 31, September 

2021 30,2020 

6 Intel"Cst income 28,299.32 29,289.96 

ISDTI. Suhsidiar) 1.590.46 1.717.25 

I.ID 1'1 . Suhsidiary 6.957.86 7.02908 

IDAAIL Suhsidial") 828.51 1.294.37 

IPATRL Suhsidiary 7.339.72 7.279.22 

ITATL Suhsidiarj 2.985.65 3.003 .52 

ITeT!. Subsidiary 6.567.50 6.603.58 

MITL Suhsidiary 2.029.62 2.362.94 

Investment 

7 
Management fees 

295.00 295.00 
(including indirect 
taxes) 

I RI3FI. 
Investment 

295 .00 295.00 
Manager 

8 
Distribution in the 

3,520.93 2,667.93 
form of interest 

Sponsor & 
IRBIDL Project 3.059.26 2.317.63 

Manager 

Din:ctor of 
Mr. Virendra D. Sponsor & 

403.92 306.00 
Mhaiskar Project 

Manager 

Director or 
Mrs. Deepali V Sponsor & 

51.15 38.75 
Mhaiskar Project 

Manager 

Director or 
Mr. Sudhir Rao Sponsor & 

5.28 4.00 
Hashing Project 

Manager 

Director of 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta 
Sponsor & 

- -Projed 
Manager 

Director or 
Mr. Sunil Talati 

Sponsor & 
0.33 0.25 

Project -
Manager ~ ~&~~ 

l:~;\ ~ .,.. 
(t.) Cha~~t IT! I 
~ Ar;&olJ lis::: 
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RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An /rrtJvoctiblo 'nu,. r up under the IndIan TrusUt Acr, ' 882. and reg/s foftJd.ll::S 
an Infratt irucwro inv04lmon' 'rust with ,he Securities unCI EKOI,n' lge Board of Inrll,) 

Six month )'e<lr ended )'ear ended 
ended 

March 31, 
March 31. March 31, 

2020 
2021 2020 

29.457.21 57,589.28 59.449.81 

2.51\7.90 3.30771 5.293.49 

6.323 ,69 13.9R694 12.697.06 

1.504.lIX 2.122.X8 3.51835 

7.081 .22 14.618.94 14.225.96 

3.002.06 5.989.17 6.015.80 

6.603.58 13 .171.08 13.597.84 

2.353 .88 4.392.56 4.101.31 

618.42 590.00 1,220.49 

618.42 590.00 1.220.49 

4,255.60 6,188.86 8,725.23 

3.708.20 5.376.89 7.601.81 

468.00 709.92 959.40 

62.00 89.90 127.10 

4.40 9.28 860 

2.80 - 8.68 

0.20 0.58 0.20 

~ 

b ,"lT~ 

~8 ( - MUMBAI I) 

* ------



Six month Six month 
S ... 

Particulars Relation 
ended ended 

No. March 31, Septemoer 
2021 30,2020 

Director of 
Mr. Chandrashekhar Sponsor & - -Kaptan Project 

Manager 

Mr. Vinod Kumar 
Director of 
Investment 0,99 0.75 Menon 
Manager 

Director of 
Mr. B.L.Gupta Investment - -

Manager 

Director of 
Mr. Sumit Banerjee Investment - 0.55 

Manager , 

Director of 
Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Project - -

Manager 

Director of 
Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh Pr~iect - -

Manager 

Director of 
Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Project - -

Manager 

9 Distribution in form of 
1,280.34 854.00 capital 

Sponsor & 
IRBIDL Project 1.112.46 741.64 

Manager 

Director of 
Mr. Virendra D. Sponsor & 

146.88 97.92 Mhaiskar Project 
Manager 

Director of 
Mrs. Deepali V. Sponsor & 

18.60 12.40 Mhaiskar Pr~iect 
Manager 

Director of 
Mr. Sudhir Rao Sponsor& 1.9') 1.28 Hashing Project 

~ fl..&A~ Manager ~O{). 

l l5~~ VI Cnar'6! '1d ) ,ro I ~ Aceo~t'> ;; 
iP* *Q 

"'tJMSI\\ 

-

RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An JmtVocab/g trus' 58' up under 'helndJan Trust~ Aor. 18tf2, and ,eglSfft/olllllt 
an Infrastructure Investment trust with the Securities lind EJtfJ /umge Board of lodl,) 

Six month 
Year ended Year ended ended 
March 31, March 31, March31, 

2021 2020 2020 

0.60 - 0.60 

1.20 1.74 2.46 

0.20 - 0.41 

1.80 0.55 3.26 

0.60 - 1.23 

5.20 - 10.66 

0.40 - 0.82 

1,276.58 2,134.34 3,298.58 

1.112.46 1.854.10 2.873.86 

140.40 244.80 362.70 

18.60 31.00 48.05 

1.34 3.20 3.24 

-
.b" ,r~ 

~~8~ (.... MUMBAl CI I) 

\;* ~ -



Six month 
Sr. ended 
No. 

Particulars Relation 
March 31, 

2021 

Director or 

Mr. Mukcshlal Gupta 
Sponsor & -Project 
Manager 

Director of 

Mr. Sunil Talati 
Sponsor & 

0.12 
Project 

Manager 

Director or 
Mr. Chandrashckhar Sponsor & 
Kaptan Project -

Manager 

Mr. Vinod Kumar 
Director of 

Menon 
Investment 0.36 
Manager 

Director or 
Mr.Bajarang Lal Gupta Investment . 

Manager 

Director or 
Mr. Sumit Banerjee Investment . 

Manager 

Director of 
Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Project -

Manager 

Director or 
Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh Project -

Manager 

Director of 
Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Project -

Manager 

10 Trustee fee 14.75 

ITSL Trustee 14.75 

Six month 
ended 

September 
30,2020 

-

0.08 

-

0.24 

-

0.44 

-

-

-

14.75 

14.75 

RD 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An /rrniJ'()l'mbld trust se' up under the Indian T"1518 AClt, 1882, iJ ilel l'Ool8(OJod.1I 
an IJl frrudftU:truo '"vo,tm ", IfUJI' wJII, lito Sucurlllos hncl E>CGhlmu" Board o( ImJ#) 

Six month 
Year ended Year ended ended 

March 31, 
March 31, March31, 

2020 
2021 2020 

0.70 - 336 

0.07 0.20 0.07 

0.18 - 0.18 

0.36 0 .60 0.93 

0.06 - 0.16 

0.55 0.44 1.22 

0.18 . 0.47 

1.56 - 4.03 

0.12 - 0.31 

14.75 29.50 29.50 

14.75 29.50 29 .50 



III. Related party outstanding balances 

Sr. 
No. 

Pal·ticulal"S Relation 

1 Equity Investment 

ISDTL Subsidiary 

IJDTL Subsidiary 

IDAAIL Subsidiary 

IPATRL Subsidiary 

ITATL Subsidiary 

ITCTL Subsidiary 

MITL Subsidiary 

2 Subordinated debt 

IJDTL Subsidiary 

IPATRL Subsidiary 

ITATL Subsidiary 

ITCTL Subsidiary 

3 
Secured loan receivable 
(Long term) 
ISDTL Subsidiary 

IJDTL Subsidiary 

IPATRL Subsidiary 

ITATL Subsidiary 

ITCTL Subsidiary 

MITL Subsidiary 

4 
Unsecured loan 
receivable (Long term) 
ISDTL Subsidiary 

IJDTL Subsidiary 

IDAAIL Subsidiary 

IPATRL Subsidiary 

ITATL Subsidiary 

ITCTL Subsidiary 

MITL Subsidiary 

o ~ 
B-~A &A~ ~ ~~0t" 
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RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An 'rrevocable trus' set up under the IndIan Trusts .<tce, 1882, and registered SS 
an Infrastructure Investment "us, with the Securities au" EXt:lumge Board of IndiA) 

( Rs. In lakh) 

Ason As 011 As on 
March September 30, March 
31 ,2021 2020 31 ,2020 

127,505.48 127,505.48 127,505.48 

53,232.48 53,232.48 53,232.48 

13 ,175.00 13 , 175 .00 13, 175 .00 

19,812.00 19,812.00 19,812.00 

9,909.00 9,909.00 9,909.00 

4,925.00 4,925.00 4,925.00 

15,550.00 15,550 .00 15,550.00 

10,902.00 10,902 .00 10,902.00 

99.,431.00 99,431.00 99,431.00 

39,525.00 39,525 .00 39,525 .00 

29,581.00 29,581.00 29,581.00 

14,775.00 14,775 .00 14,775.00 

15,550.00 15,550.00 15,550.00 

330,347.81 343,469.38 348,049.38 

- 11 ,289.87 14,129.87 

92,068.74 92,661.77 92,661.77 

92,901.41 93 ,154.14 93 ,154.14 

37,153.84 37,153 .84 37, 153 .84 

93 ,712.76 93 ,712.76 93 ,712.76 

14,511.06 15,497.00 17,237.00 

78,320.19 83,712.52 83,012.52 

11 ,006.23 1/,006.23 11 ,006.23 

14,907.71 14,907.71 12,907.71 

4,166.58 18,558 .91 19 ,858 ~91 

15,490.04 15,490.04 15,490.04 

8,905.47 8,905.47 8,905.47 

7,338.07 7,338 .07 7,338.07 

16,506.09 7,506.09 7,506.09 

~ 

~~ 

(~O)) '-< MUMBAI 

* ~ 



RB 
IRB InvlT Fund 

(An Irrovor;ttb/e 'rust 5e' up under Ihe/ndlan Trusls ~ct, '.88"- end regls/olfJd~:l 
an Infrultuclurtl lnves,menl trust with the Securities lInd EMallnllge Board of/I,dlp) 

Sr. As on Ason As on 

No. 
Particulars Relation March September 30, March 

31)].021 2020 31 ,2 020 

5 
Unsecured loan 
receivable (Short term) 16,093.90 16,755.40 11,862.50 

ISDTL Subsidiary 12,365 .00 2,840.00 -
IPATRL Subsidiary - 3,351.00 -
ITCTL Subsidiary 265.20 265.20 265.20 
MITL Subsidiary 3,463 .70 10,299.20 11,597.30 

6 Interest receivable 17,573.47 11,005.97 4,402.40 
ITCTL Subsidiary 17,573.47 11,005.97 4,402.39 
MITL Subsidiary - - 0.01 

I 

7 Trade payables 138.13 892.81 816.06 

IRBFL Investment 
138.13 892.81 816.06 Manager 

• The Fund has not acquired any asset from related party du~ing the year ended March 31, 2021 as well as in 
previous financial year ended March 31,2020. 

For IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager to IRB InvIT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 
Whole time Director 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 15, 2021 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To The Unit holders of IRB InvlT Fund 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of IRB InvlT Fund 
(hereinafter referred to as "the Fund") and its subsidiaries (the Fund and its subsidiaries together 
referred to as "the Group"), which comprise the consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31,2021, 
the consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive income), the 
consolidated Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' Equity and the consolidated Statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and the consolidated Statement of Net Assets at fair value as 
at March 31, 2021, the consolidated Statement of Total Returns at fair value and the Statement of 
Net Distributable Cash Flows ('NDCFs') of the Fund and each of its subsidiaries for the year then 
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as "the consolidated 
financial statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us and 
based on the consideration of reports of other auditors on separate financial statements and on the 
other financial information of the subsidiaries, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the 
information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time including any guidelines and circulars issued 
thereunder, in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in conformity with Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in the Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 and other accounting principles generally accepted in India, 
of the consolidated state of affairs of the Group as at March 31, 2021, its consolidated profit including 
other comprehensive income, its consolidated movement of the unit holders' funds and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year ended March 31,2021, its consolidated net assets at fair value as at March 31, 
2021, its consolidated total returns at fair value and the net distrib able cash flows of the Fund and 
each of its subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2021. 

Registered Office. 
:Jot\ ·:~ou i"U Gi1llopo lis Kno'"leuge Pal k M<1ili1kali Caves KOclCI 
And!,,,ri (E), MUlnl"" - ,100 093 Ilirlia T '91 (22) 61915555 
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Chartered Accountants 

Basis of Opinion 

We conducted our audit of consolidated financial statements in accordance with the Standards on 
Auditing (SAs) issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). Our responsibilities 
under those Standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by ICAI and we have fulfi lled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the ICAI's Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in 
our audit of the consolidated financial statem~nts of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have 
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our 
report. 

Sr.No. Key Audit Matter 

1 Assessing Impairment of Intangible assets 
(note 3.21 and 4) 

The Group operates toll assets which is 
constructed on Build Operate and Transfer 
(BOT) basis. The carrying value of the toll 
collection rights as at March 31, 2021 is Rs. 
1,162,829.30 Lakhs. In accordance with its 
accounting policy and requirements under Ind 
AS 36 "Impairment of Assets", the 
Management has performed an impairment 
assessment by comparing the carrying value 
of the toll collection rights to their recoverable 
amount. For impairment testing, value in use 
has been determined by forecasting and 
discounting future cash flows. Further, the 
value in use is highly sensitive to changes in 
critical variable used for forecasting the future 
cash flows including traffic projection and 
discounting rate. The determination of the 
recoverable amount of the toll collection right 
involves significant judgment and accordingly, 
the evaluation of impairment of toll collection 
rights has been determined as a key audit 
matter. 

How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 
Our audit procedures included the 
following: 

Assessed the appropriateness of 
the Fund's valuation methodology 
applied in determining the 
recoverable amount. In making 
this assessment, we also 
evaluated the objectivity, 
independence and competency of 
specialists involved in the 
process. 

Assessed, based on the report of 
external expert, the assumptions 
around the key drivers of the cash 
flow forecasts, discount rates, 
revenue projection based on the 
independent experts traffic study 
report after considering the impact 
on account of COVID-19 scenario, 
etc. 

Assessed the appropriateness of 
the weighted average cost of 
c . al used in the determinin 
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Also, refer Note 4 to the consolidated 
financial statements 

Toll revenue in respect of toll collection 
under the Service Concession Agreement 

The Group's right to collect toll under the 
concession agreement with National Highway 
(NHAI) 
Authority of India falls within the scope of 
Appendix C of Ind AS 115, "Service 
Concession Arrangements". The Group 
operates and earns revenue by collecting toll 
on the road constructed. This involves large 
volume of cash collection and use of 
customized equipment installed at the toll 
plaza for correctly identifying vehicle type, 
calculating fare and for appropriate billing and 
collection on information technology systems 
for the related automated and IT dependent 
controls. 

Refer Note 3.8 and Note 20 to the 
consolidated financial statements 

recoverable amount by engaging 
valuation expert. 

Discussed/Evaluated potential 
changes in key drivers as 
compared to previous year I 
actual performance with 
management in order to evaluate 
whether the inputs and 
assumptions used in the cash flow 
forecasts were suitable, including 
considerations due to current 
economic and market conditions 
including effects of COVID- 19 
pandemic. 

Assessed the recoverable value 
headroom by performing 
sensitivity analysis of key 
assumptions used. 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy 
of the model. 

Our audit procedures included the 
following: 

Obtained an understanding of the 
processes and control placed for 
toll collection and evaluating the 
key controls around such process 
and testing those controls for the 
operating effectiveness. 

Checked a selection of 
Information Technology General 
Controls (ITGCs) supporting the 
integrity of the tolling system 
operation, including access, 
operations and change 
management controls. 

Verified the reconciliation of toll 
collection as per transaction report 
(generated from toll system) with 
cash deposited in bank and 
revenue recorded in the books. 

the mana ement 
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Unused tax credits (MAT credit 
Entitlement) 

One of the subsidiary company have unused 
tax credits of Rs 3,257.84 lakhs as at 31 
March 2021 (MAT Credit Entitlement). Since 
the subsidiary Company has incurred losses 
in the last two financial years, the utilization of 
unused tax credits in the remaining tenure of 
the Concession period has been determined 
to be a key audit matter. 

Refer Note 3.12 and Note 8 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Provisioning for resurfacing expense 

As per the Concession Agreement, the Group 
is obligated to carry out resurfacing of the 
roads. The Group estimates the provision 
required towards resurfacing in accordance 
with Ind AS 37 "Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets. The 
estimate made by the 
Group over the concession period, involves 
detailed calculation and 'ud ment. In view of 

rationalization, by multiplying that 
toll rate charged for each category 
of vehicle as per NHAl's 
notification with the number of 
vehicles (as per Schedule M 
submitted with NHAI) and its 
reconciliation with the revenue 
recorded in accounts. 

On test check basis, traced the 
daily collection from bank 
statement to daily cash toll 
collected and the revenue 
recorded in the books. 

Performed analytics procedures 
on transactions to detect unusual 
transactions for further 
examination. 

Performed revenue cut off 
rocedures. 

Our audit procedures included the 
following: 

We have obtained the estimates 
and projections from the 
management. 

Discussed with the management 
the key drivers in the projections. 

Assessed the assumptions used 
in the projections. 

Checked the mathematical 
accuracy of the projections. 

Our audit procedures included the 
following: 

Understood the Group's process 
associated with the estimation of 
resurfacing obligation. 

Verified the requirement under 
Concession Agreement and 
Group's pOlicies. 
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the nature of provision and amount involved, 
the provision for resurfacing expense is 
considered to be a key audit matter. 

Refer Note 3.17, Note 17 and Note 37 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Computation and disclosures as 
prescribed in the InvlT regulations relating 
to Statement of Net Assets and Total 
Returns at Fair Value 

(as described in note 37 and in Statement of 
Net assets at fair value and Statement of total 
returns at fair value of the consolidated 
financial statements) 

As per the provisions of InvlT Regulations, the 
Fund is required to disclose Statement of Net 
Assets at Fair Value and Statement of Total 
Returns at Fair Value which requires fair 
valuation of assets. For this purpose, fair 
value is determined by forecasting and 
discounting future cash flows. The inputs to 
the valuation models are taken from 
observable markets where possible, but 
where this is not feasible, a degree of 
judgement is required in establishing fair 
values. Judgements include considerations of 
inputs such as WACC, Tax rates, Inflation 
rates etc. 

Accordingly, the aforementioned computation 
and disclosures are determined to be a key 
audit matter in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements. 

s c 
Ch'lrlHed An:ouI1L:mts: 

Tested the assumption used in 
determining the resurfacing 
provisions. 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy 
and also verified the disclosure in 
the consolidated financial 
statements. 

Our audit procedures include the 
following-

Read the requirements of SEBI InvlT 
regulations for disclosures relating to 
Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value 
and Statement of Total Returns at Fair 
Value. 

Assessed the appropriateness of 
independent valuer's and 
management's valuation methodology 
applied in determining the fair values. 

Tested controls implemented by 
management to determine inputs for 
fair valuation as well as assumptions 
used in the fair valuation. 

We involved valuation specialists to : 

a) Assess the valuation reports issued 
by the independent valuer engaged 
by the management and compared 
key property related data used as 
input with actual data. 

b) Assess the key assumptions 
included in the cash flow forecasts 
by management and independent 
valuer, including considerations due 
to current economic and market 
conditions including effects of 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

c) Discussed changes in key drivers as 
compared to actual performance 
with management in order to 
evaluate whether the inputs and 
assumptions used in tlie valuation 
models b mana ement and 
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independent valuer were 
reasonable, including 
considerations due to current 
economic and market conditions 
including effects of COVID-19 
pandemic. 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy of 
computation in the Statement of Net 
Assets and Total Returns at Fair Value 

Read/Assessed the disclosures in the 
standalone financial statements for 
compliance with the relevant 
requirements of InvlT Regulations. 

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

The management of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited ("Investment Manager") is responsible for the 
preparation of the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Management Discussion and Analysis, Investment Manager's Report including Annexures to 
Investment Manager's Report and Investment Manager's Information, but does not include the 
consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Investment Manager is responsible for the preparation of these consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position as at March 31, 2021, consolidated 
financial performance including other comprehensive income, consolidated movement of the unit 
holders' funds and the consolidated cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2021, its consolidated 
net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2021, its consolidated total returns at fair value of the Fund 
and the net distributable cash flows of the Fund and each of its subsidiaries in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 
and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting 
Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended read with the Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time including any 
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guidelines and circulars issued thereunder (together referred to as the "lnvlT Regulations"). 

The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group are responsible for 
maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for 
safeguarding of the assets of the up and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; 
the selection and application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that 
are reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate Internal 
financia l controls, that were operating effectively 'for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the 
accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, which have been used for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements by the management of the Fund, as aforesaid. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of the 
Companies Included in the Group are responsible for assessing the ability of the Group to continue as 
a going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concem and using the going 
concern basis of accouhtin!1J unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The respective Board of Directors of the Companies included in the Group are also responsible for 
overseeing the financial reporting process of the Group. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objec~ives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detetting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
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• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Group to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group of which we are the independent auditors, to express 
a opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the audit of the financial statements of such entities included 
in 
the consolidated financial statements of which we are the independent auditors. For 
companies included in the consolidated financial statements, which have been audited by 
other auditors, such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

Materiality is the magnitude of misstatements in the consolidated financial statements that, 
indiviqually or in aggregate, makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably 
knowledgeable user of the financial statements may be influenced. We consider quantitative 
materiality and qualitative factors in (i) planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the 
results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the effect of any identified misstatements in the consolidated 
financial statements. 

We communicate with those charged with governance of the Fund included in the consolidated 
'financi~1 statements of which we are the independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical reqUirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters 
that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report 
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the 



Associates LL!,:} 
Char It:redAccollnt;)11 ts 

adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

Other matters 

We did not audit the financial statements and other financial information of 7 subsidiaries, whose 
financial statements reflect total assets of Rs. 1,230,736.92 Lakhs and net assets of Rs. 90,017.65 
Lakhs as at March 31, 2021, total revenues of Rs 115,749.81 Lakhs and net cash inflows amounting 
to Rs. 26,534.93 Lakhs for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial 
statements before giving effect to elimination of intra-group transactions. These financial statements 
and other financial information have been audited by other auditors whose reports have been 
furnished to .us by the management and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, in so 
far as it relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries and our 
report in terms of InvlT regulations, in so far as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries is based solely 
on the reports of the other auditors. 

Our opinion above on the consolidated financial statements, and our reports on the Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with respect to our 
reliance on the work done and reports of the other auditors. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Based on our audit and as required by InvlT Regulations, we report that; 

a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge 
and belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit; 

b) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, and the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss 
including other comprehensive income dealt with by this report are in agreement with the 
books of account maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements; and 

c) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. 

FOR SURESH SURANA & ASSOCIATES LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Reg . No. 121750W/w-100010 

(Rames~\~ partne/~) 
Membership No.:102306 
Place: Mumbai 
UDIN: 21102306AAAABQ4807 
Dated: 15 May 2021 



\ 
IRllln\'IT Funt! 
COllsolit!~tct! B~I~ncc sheel as at M~rch 31, 2021 

ASSETS 
NOli-current assets 
Propeny. plant and equipment 
Intangible assets 

Intangible assets under development 

Financial assets 
Investments 
Deferred tax assets (net) 

Total non-current ~sscts 

CUITcn! assets 
Financial assets 

i) Investments 

ii) Cash and cash equivalents 

iii) Bank balances other than (ii) above 
iv) Loans 

v) Other financial assets 
Income tax assets (net) 

Other current assets 

Tot~1 current assets 

Total assets 

EQUIT\' AND LIABILITIES 

Equit)' 
Initial settlement amount 
Unit capital 

Other equity 

Total equity 

Non-current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

i) Borrowings 

ii) Other financial liabilities 
Provisions 

Total non-current liabilities 

Current liabilities 
Financial liabilities 

i) Trade payables 

a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and 
small enterprises 

b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than 
micro enterprises and small enterprises 

ii) Other tinanc'ial liabilities 

Other current liabilities 

Provisions 

Total curren! liabilities 

Total liabilities 
Total equity and liabilities 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

See accompanying notes to the consul ida ted financial statements. 

Notcs 

4 

4 

4 

5 
8 

5 

9 

10 
6 

7 

11 
12 

13 
13 

14 

15 
16 

17 

18 

16 
19 

17 

3 

As M March 31, 
2021 

10756 

1, 162,829 30 

212.09 

040 

3.220.33 

1,166.369.68 

15,856.15 
39,499.20 

78.06 

74.02 
1,12437 

722.09 
329.67 

57.683.56 

1,224,053.24 

010 

531,157.50 
(95,85079) 

435,306.81 

170,943.17 
545,753.43 

1,303.65 
718,000.25 

9.42 

1,074.63 

58,748.14 
21437 

10.69962 
70,746.18 

788.746.43 
1,224,053.24 

(Rs in Lakhs ) 

As at March 31, 
2020 

10950 

1,228 ,882.50 

0.40 
3,22033 

1,232.212.73 

5,34867 
19,00431 

6616 
98 .73 

1,01869 
840.70 

76961 
27,146.87 

1,259,359.60 

0. 10 
542,767.50 
(80.227.27) 

462,540.33 

169,287.58 

570.006.07 
4,313.83 

743,607.48 

76.00 

3,134.88 

39,544.04 

12638 
10,33049 

53,211.79 

796,819.27 

1,259,359.60 

As per our report of even date For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Reg no 121750W/w-IOOO I 

R'm~\\~ I'm1n:~ 
Membership no : 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 15,2021 

(Investment Manager of IRB InvlT Fund) 

~ 
Villod Kumar Menon 
CEO & Wholetime Director 
DIN: 03075345 

Chief Financial Ofticer 

Place : Mumbai 
Date: May 15, 2021 

Sunil Tandoll 
Director 

DIN : 00874257 

~uJ~ 

--

Swapna Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 
Membership No: 
A32376 

.... 



I ~Ii InvJT Fund 
C(}~solidated Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31, 2021 

( I{ ~ in Lakhs) 
~----------------------------------------------------------------------~~~~~-

Notes 
For the year 

ended March 31, 
2021 

For the )'car 
cndcd March 31, 

2020 

~-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------

Income 

f4e~enlle trom operations 

Other income 

..-Olal income 

f!:xOenscs 

Operating expenses 

f'roject management tees 

employee benefits expense 

I nSUrance and security expenses 

'frustee tees 

,Anouallisting fees 

I nvestment management fees 

Repairs and maintenance 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 

Finance costs 

Other expenses 

Total expenses 

PI'Orit I (loss) before tax 

Tax expenses 

Current tax (including tax adjustments related (0 earlier years) 

Deferred (ax 

Total tax 4!I(penses 

Profit! (loss) aft4!r tal( (A) 

Other comprehensive income 

Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods 
Re·measurement gains! (losses) on defined benefit plans (net of tax) 

Other comprehensive incomc!(loss) for th4! year, net of tax (8) 

Total comprehensive, income! (loss) for the year, net of tax: (A+8) 

Profitl(loss) for the year 

Attributable to: 

Unit holders 

Non-controlling interests 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
Attributable to: 

Equity holders of the parent 
Non·controll ing interests 

Earnings per unit 

- Basic 

- Diluted 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

See accompanying notes to the consol idated financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana and associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Reg no 121750W/w-I OOO 

R,m~ 
P~rt"CI 
Membership no: 102306 

Place : Mllmbai 
Date : May 15 , 2021 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

3 

114,283.26 

1,805 55 

116,088,81 

6,71701 

12,186.00 

2,428.55 

14280 

29.50 

6081 

590.00 

11.75 

60,806.39 

14,53821 

495.48 

98.006.50 

18.082.31 

( 1.85) 

(1.85) 

18,084.16 

(38.68) 

(38.68) 

18,045.48 

18,084,16 

18,084.16 

18,04548 

18,04548 

3 12 

3.12 

124.057 25 

2,951 94 

127,009.19 

4,47631 

13 .361.87 

2,726.82 

1,209.31 

2950 

60.81 

1,220.49 

31998 

68,537 .89 

16.361.32 

1,422.21 

109,726.51 

17,282.68 

1005 

269 

12.74 

17,269.94 

14.79 

14.79 

17,284.73 

17,269.94 

17,269.94 

17,284.73 

17,284.73 

2.98 

298 

For and on behalf of IRS Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IR8 InvlT Fund) 

V 
Villot! I umnr Menon 

CEO & Wholetime Director 

DIN: 03075345 

~ 
Rushllbh G'lIIdhi 
e ll i(: r Fi"onci;l I Ofll cc.r 

Place : Mllmbai 
Date: May 15,2021 

Sunil Tandon 

Director 

DIN : 00874257 

Swapll" Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 
Membership No: A32376 



I RB I nvlT Fund 
Consolidated Statement of cash flows for the year ended March 31,2021 

!'al·ticular·s 

Cash flow fl'om operating acti\'itics 

Profit I (loss) befol'c tax 

Adjustment to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows : 

Depreciation and amortisation expenses 

Movement in provision for resurfacing expenses 

Change in Fair value on mutual funds 

Gain on sale of Investments (net) 

Gain on sale of assets (net) 

Finance costs 

Interest income on fixed deposits 

Operating profit before working capital changes 

Movement in working capital: 

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 
Increase/(decrease) in other financial liabilities 
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables 
Decrease/(increase) in loans 
Decrease/(increase) in other financial assets 
Decrease/(increase) in other current assets 
Cash gelK!rated from/(used in) operations 

Taxes paid (net) 

Net cash now from opel'ating activities 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Purchase of intangible assets 

Proceeds from sale of intangible assets 

Sale/( purchase) of current investments (net) 

Acquisition I Redemption of bank deposits (having original maturity of more than 
three months) (net) 
Interest received 

Net cash now (used in) investing activities 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Repayment of unit capital to the unit holders 
Distribution to unitholders 
Repayment of non-current borrowings 
Finance costs paid 
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A+B+C) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the yeal' (refer note 09) 

Components of cash and cash equivalents 
Balances with scheduled banks: 
- Escrow accounts 
- Current accounts 
Cash on hand 
Total Cash and Cash Equivalents (refer no(c 09) 

For the year ended 
March 31, 2021 

18,082.31 

60,806.39 

2,704.05 

141.99 

(551.64) 

(204.81 ) 

11 ,692.36 

(28.19) 

92,642.46 

(2,126.83) 
(5,383.78) 

4,778.56 
87 .98 

24.70 
(105.68) 

439.97 
90,357.38 

12047 

90,477.85 

(7,321.33) 

5,597.92 

(10,097.82) 

(1.91) 

28.20 

(11,794.94) 

(11,610.00) 
(33,669.00) 

(190.01) 
(12,719.01) 
(58,188.02) 

20,494.89 
19,004.31 
39,499.20 

39,322.59 
114.86 
61.75 

39,499.20 

( Rs. in Lakhs) 

For' the year ended 
March 31 , 2020 

17,282.68 

68,537.89 

8,545.65 

(295.75) 

(481.42) 

12,546.13 

(52.26) 

106,082.92 

1,320.44 
(17,072.59) 

(3.363.87) 
(44 40) 

41.47 
26 .99 

509. 11 
(238.24) 

87,261.83 

(266.59) 

86,995.24 

(12,003.26 ) 

3 .53 

18,132.46 

4,998.11 

60.13 

11,190.97 

(17,995.50) 
(47,601.00) 

(3,478.35) 
( 11.520.15) 
(80,595.00) 

17,591.21 
1,413.10 

19,004.31 

18,765.76 
154. 17 
84.38 

19,004.31 



Reconciliation between opening and closing balanccs for liabilities a.-ising from financing activities: 
( I~ . L 11 1 05. 111 :I ( IS' 

Paliiculars Long tCl'm 
hO l'l'o\\'ing~ 

o I-A pr-19 189,100.41 

Cash flow 

- Interest (11,520.15) 

- Proceeds / (RcpMymcnt) {J ,478.35) 

I\ccrurll for the yeal 15,458.46 

31-Mal'-20 189,560.37 

Cash flow 

- Interest (12,719.01 ) 

- Proceeds / (RepIlYIllCI11) (190.0 I) 

Accrual for the year 14,259.1 I 

31-Mar-21 190,910.46 

Notes: 

I . All figures in bracket are outflow. 

2. The Consolidated cash flow statement has been prepared under Indirect Method as per Ind AS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows" . 
J. Taxes paid are treated as arising from operating activities and are not bifurcated between investing and financing activities. 

Summary of Significant accounting policies (refer note 3) 
See accompanying notes to the consol idated financial statements 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana and associates LLP 
Chartered Acoountants ......-:::;::::::::::::~ .... 
Finn's Regno. 121750W/w-1000I 

.'m~\\:~ partll::~ 
Membership no : 102306 

Place : Mumbai 

Date: May 15,2021 

For and on behalf of IR8 Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Im·estment Manager of (RK (nvlT Fund) 

~~ 
Vinod Kumal' Menon 
CEO & Wholetime Director 

DIN: 03075345 

.~~ 
'?-~ - . 
Rushabh Gllndhi 
Chier Financia l Officer 

Place : Mumbai 
Date : May 15, 2021 

Sunil Tandon 
Director 

DIN : 00874257 

Swapna Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB 'nvlT Fund 
ConS~lidatcd Statcmcnt of changcs in unit holdc.·s cquit)' fo.· thc yca.· cndcd Ma"ch 31, 2021 

a. tI (lit capital: 
At the beginning of the year 
Issued during the year 
Less : Capital reduction during the year (refer note 41) 
At tile end of the yCal' 

b. Initial settlement amount 
At the beginning of the year 
Received during the year 

At the end of the year 

c. Other equity 
Rctained earnings 

At the beginning of the year 
Profit/(Ioss) for the year 
Other comprehensive income 
Interest distribution" (refer note 41) 
At the end orthe year 

No of units 
As at March 

31,2U21 

580,500,000 542,767.50 

( 11.6 1000) 

0580,500,000 531,157.50 

No of units 

580,500,000 

580,500,000 

As at March 31, 
2021 

0.10 

0.10 

As at March 31, 
2021 

(80,227.27) 
18,084.16 

(38.68) 
(33,669.00) 
(95,850.79) 

(Rs . ill Lakhs l. 

As at lVta"ch 31, 
2020 

560,763.00 

( 17,995.50) 
542,767.50 

As at March 31, 
2.020 

0.\0 

0.10 

As at Ma"ch 31, 
2020 

(49,911.00) 
17,269.94 

14.79 
(47,601.00) 

(80.227.27) 

,. Pertains to the distributions made during the financial year along with the distribution related to the last quarter of FY 2019-20 and does not 
include the distribution relating to the last quarter of FY 2020-21 which will be paid after March 31, 2021. 

Summary of Significant accounting policies (refer note 3) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Sureslt Surana & Associates LLP 

~m'b~~ 
Partner I~ 
Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date : May 15, 2021 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB InvlT Fund) 

Vinodkumar Menon 
Wholetime Director 
DIN: 03075345 

~g-
~IGandhi 
Chier Financial o rticcr 

Place: Mumbai 
Date : May 15, 2021 

Sunil Tandon 
Director 
DIN : 00874257 

~~~ 
Swapna Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 
Membership No: A32376 



1R1I1",' lr Fund 
Disclo,u,cs I'ursu~nt to scm Circulars 
(S EBI Circular No CIRflMDfDFII14120 16 dated 10- Oct-20 16 and no CIRf IMDfDFf l17f20 16 dated 29-Nov-20 16 issued the InvlT 

regula!' O~s) 

A. Co"SQlidatcd statement of net assets at fair value: 
(R' in L..khs) ". ' 

As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020 

I'nrtlculars Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 

A. Totll l assets 1,224,053 25 1,427,48333 1,259,359.61 1,307,950.22 

B, Tot91liabilities 788,74643 819,384.76 796,81927 799,171.52 

C Net Assets (A - B) 435,306.82 608,098,57 462,540.34 508,77870 

D, NUI'f'lber orunits (in lakhs) 5,805 5,805 5,805 5,805 

E. NAV (Cf D) 7499 10475 79.68 8764 

Project Wise break ul' offair value oftolal assels: 
(Its. in L.q khs ) 

Name Ollhe project 
As at March As at March 

31,2021 31,2020 

IDAA Infm$truclurc Limited (IOAA) 27,152.49 40,969.37 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (lRBTA) 
114,07330 86,424.96 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limiled (IRBJD) 184,95755 142,538.44 

IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (IRBSD) 87,02635 90,764.71 

IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited 816,173.01 767,204.11 
(IRBTC) 

M.VR Infrastructure and Tollways Limited 61,221.97 57,941.36 
(MVR) 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited 174,931.16 137,608.96 
(IRBPA) 

Suhtotal \,465,535.83 1,323,451.91 
Assets in IRB InvlT Fund (38,052.50) ( 15,501.68) 
Total assets 1,427,483_33 1,307,950,23 

B, Consolidated statement of tota I returns at fair value: 

(Rs in Lnkhs l 
Particul~rs As at March Year ended 

31,2021 March 31. 2020 

Total comprehensive income (As per the statement 18,04548 17,28473 
of profit and loss) 

Add/Less: other changes in fair value (e g, in 172,791 75 46,23837 
investment property, property, plant & equipment 
(if cost model is followed)) not reCOb'Tlized in total 
cornprehensive incorne 

Total Return 190,837.23 63,523.10 

Note: 
The fair value of~nvestments in Project SPY's are computed on the basis of the fair value oflhe underlying T.oll Collection RighlS as at 
March 31,2021 alohg with the book values of other assets and liabilities accounted in respective Project SPY's financial statements as at 
March 31,2021. 

Fair value ofassels as at March 31,2021 and as at March 31,2020 and other Changes in fair value for the year then ended as disclosed in 
the above tables are derived based on the fair valuation reports issued by the independent valuer appointed under the InvlT Regulations. 

Summary of Significa nt accounting policies ( refer note 3) 

See accompanying notes to the consolidated financial statements 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana and associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firrn's Reg no. 121750WfW- IOOO I 

I~",.~~ partrlc:h-~ 
Mernbership no : 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 15, 2021 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment Manager or IRB InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

CEO & Wholetime Director 

DIN: 03075345 

/"".. 

I~U:e-
Chief FIllnnciul Ol'liccr 

Place: Murnbai 
Date: May 15, 2021 

Sunil Tandon 

Director 

DIN : 00874257 

~~f' 
SW3pna Vengurlckar 

Cornpany Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 
(SEBI Circular No CIR/MO/OFII14/2016 dated October 20,2016 and No CIR/MO/OFII27/2016 dated November 29, 

2016 issued under the InvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Oistributable Cash Flows (NOCFs) of IRB InvlT Fund 
(Rs. in Lakhs) 

1". No. 
Veu ended ':'ear ended 

Particulars 
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

I 

I Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Interest (Refer nole I) 
44,391 .68 59,426.29 

2 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Dividend - -
3 

Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above, including 
338.99 628.16 

but not limited to interest/return on surplus cash invested by the Trust 

4 
Cash flows received from the project SPVs towards the repayment (Net) of the 

22,393.89 18,054.58 
debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust (Refer note 2) 

5 Total cash inflow at tbe Trust level (A) 67,124.56 78,109.03 
Less: 

6 
Any payment of fees, interest and expense incurred at the Trust level, including 

(9,355.06) ( 13,949.35) 
but not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager(Refer note 3) 

7 Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - -
8 Repaymcl1l of external debt (4,309.46) (3,478.35) 

9 Total cash outflows I retention at the Trust level (8) (13,664.52) (17,427.70) 
10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+Il) 53,46().O4 60,681.33 

Note: 

I) Excludes interest due but not received of Rs.13, 171.08 lakhs for the year ended 

2) Netted - off with long-tenn unsecured loan given to project SPY's. 

3) Excludes interest of Rs. 4,119.45 lakhs (Previous year Rs. Nil) which was not paid on account of moratorium availed 

as per RBI circular dated March 27, 2020 and May 22,2020. 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SERI Circulars 
(SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DFII 14/2016 dated October 20,2016 and No CIR / MD / OF / 127/2016 dated 
November 29, 2016 issued under the InvIT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NOel's) of underlying SPVs 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAA) 

(Rs in Lakhs) . 

Vea'r ended V~'r ellded . 
St·. No. Description Marcb J I, 1\1.a:' ·ch 31 , 

202~ 2 02Q 
I 

I 
Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expendiLUre 

(340.69) (3,172.91) 
I(A) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and 

15,970.84 18,387.42 
loss/income and expenditu re 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of 

3 actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Inv tmcnt - -
Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 2, 122.88 3.518.35 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( Nel) 1,540.80 284.25 
6 Add: Non-cash expenses - -
7 Less :- NHAI Premium - -
8 Less :- Principal repaymenl - -
9 Total Adiustments (B) 19634.52 22,190.02 
10 Net Oistribu(ablc Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 19,293.83 19,017.11 



IRO InvlT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SERI Circulars 
(SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DFII14/20 16 dated October 20,2016 and No CIR / MD / DF / 127/201 6 dated November 29, 
2016 issued under the InvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRO Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (IROSD) 

(Rs. in Lakhs) , 
Year ended Vea rended ' 

Sr. No. De criptioll ' Mardt.3l , Ma r ch 31 , 
2 ('121 i2 Q20 

I Profit after tax as per Statement of profi t and loss/income and expenditure (A) (3 14.68) (463.61 ) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income and 

26,920.37 27,565.97 
expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual cash -
fl ows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager -

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 3,307.71 5.293.49 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing~ellses (957.33 ) (2,411.45) 
6 Add: Non-cash expenses - -
7 Less :- NHAI Premium - -
8 Less :- Principal repayment - -
9 Total Adjustments (B) 29,270.75 30448.01 
10 Net Distributllble C2Sh. Flows (C) = (A+n) 28,956.07 2 9 ,984.40 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 
(SEBI Circular No CI RJM D/DF/ I14/201 6 dated October 20, 2016 and No CIR / MD / DF /127/2016 dated 
November 29, 2016 issued under the InvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (IRBT A) 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

Yea1' Vea,' 
,-

ended ended 
Sr. No. Oescription 

March 31, M:-\rch .31 , 
202l 2020 

1 
ProHI after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expend iture 

(1,668.83) (1,984.87) 
!(A) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and 

1,042.37 1,093.51 
loss/income and expenditure 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense I non cash income (net of 

3 actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment - -
Managcr 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 5,989.17 6,015 .80 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurraci,,~ Expens.cs 448.03 324.64 
6 Add: Non-cash expenses - -
7 Less :- NHAI Premium - -
8 Less :- Principal repayment - -
9 Total Adjustments (B) 7,479.57 7,433.95 
10 Net Distributable Cash FlowsJC) = .0'+ B1 5.810.74 5,449.08 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 
(SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DF/ I 14/2016 dated October 20, 2016 and No CIR / MD / DF / 127 /2016 dated November 
29,2016 issued under the lnvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

M.V.R Infrastructure and ToJlways Limited (MVR) 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

Year- ended Y a r ended 
S.·. No. Oescription M an;h 31~ Ma"cll 31 , 

2()21 2020 

I Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) (254.56) 120.53 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income 

2,329.19 2,943 .92 and expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual -
cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

-

4 Add :- Interest paid to the Fund 4,392.56 4.101.31 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses 333 .38 (1 ,275.00) 
6 Add: Non-cash expenses - -
7 Less :- NI-tAI Premium - -
8 Less :- PJi nc ipal repayment - -
9 Total Adjustments (B) 7,055.13 5,770.23 
10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 6,800.57 5,890.76 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 
(SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DFII 14120 I 6 dated October 20, 2016 and No CIR 1 MD / DF / 127 / 2016 dated 

November 29,2016 issued under the InvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IRBJD) 

(Rs . in Lakhs) 

Year nded Year ended 

S'·. No. Descril)tion March 31, M.arch,3 l , 
2Q21 2020. 

I Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) (9,602.59) (8,958.57) 

2 
Add : Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income 

1,672.27 2,369.29 
and expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of actual 

- -cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 13,986.94 12,697.06 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses (1,372.05) (752.69) 

6 Add : Non-cash expenses - -
7 Less :- NHA! Premium - -
8 Less :- Principal repayment - -
9 Total Adjust ments (B) 14,287.16 14,313.66 
10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+ B) 4,684.57 5,355.09 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 

(SEBI Circular No CIRlMD/DF/I14/2016 dated October 20,2016 and No CIR I MD I DF 1127 12016 dated 
November 29, 2016 issued under the InvlT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IRBPA) 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

" enl' cnded Vea r ended 
Sr. No. Deserill tion IMarch 31 , March 31, 

2021 2020 

1 Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and loss/income and expenditure (A) (13,725.25) (8,328.26) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and loss/income 

995.47 3,138.16 
and expenditure 

3 
Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of aclual - -cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund 14,618.94 14,225.96 

5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses ( 1,697.59) (1,326.15) 

6 Add: Non-cash expenses - -
7 Less :- NHAI Premium - -
8 Less :- Principal repayment - -
9 Tota11\djustments (B) 13,916.82 16,637_97 

10 Net Distributable Gash Flows (C) = (A+B) 191.57 7,709.71 



IRB fnvlT Fund 
Disclosures pursuant to SEBI Circulars 
(SEBI Circular No CIRlMD/DFIJ 14/2016 dated October 20, 2016 and No CIR I MD I DF 1127/2016 dated 
November 29, 2016 issued under the InvIT Regulations) 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) of underlying SPVs 

IRS Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (lRBTC) 

(Rs. in L akhs) 
, 

Vear coded V car- e 11ded 
Sr. No. I)cscription March 3 1, " March 31; 

lO2l 202() 

I 
Profit after tax as per Statement of profit and losslincome and expenditure 

(2,363.27) (6,836.56) 
ICA) 

2 
Add: Depreciation and amortisation as per Statement of profit and 

12,749.51 13,805.18 
losslincome and expenditure 

Add/less: Any other item of non-cash expense / non cash income (net of 
3 actual cash flows for these items), if deemed necessary by the Investment - -

Manager 

4 Add: Interest paid to the Fund* 13,171.08 13,597.84 
5 Add :- Provision for Resurfacing Expenses (999 .29) (3,389.23) 
6 Add: Non-<:ash expenses (908.11) 2,912.33 
7 Less :- NHAI Premium (19,332.77) (19,926.42) 
8 Less :- Principal repayment - -
9 Total Adjustments (8) 4680.42 6,999.70 
10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 2,317.15 163.14 

* Interest due but not paid for the year ended 31 March 2021 



IRB InvIT Fund 
Summary of significant accounting policies and othel' explanatory information for the year 
ended March 31, 2021 

Sr, 

1. Nature of Operations 

The IRB InvlT Fund (the "Fund" / "Trust") is a trust constituted by "The Indenture of Trust" 
dated October 16, 2015 registered under the Regi lra Li oll Act 1908 and under the Securit ies 
Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure Investment Trust) Regulations, 20 14. The Fund is settled 
by the Sponsor, IRB Infrastructure Developers imited ("IRB" or the " Sponsor' ) , an 
infrastructure development company in India. The Trustee to the Fund is lOBI T rusteeship 
Services Limited (the "Trustee") and Investment manager for the Fund is IRB Infrastructure 
Private Limited (the "Investment Manager"). 

The Fund has been formed to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in 
India. All of the Fund 's road projects are implemented and held through special purpose vehicles 
("Project SPY sl Subsidiaries"). 

The consolidated financial statements comprise of financial statement of IRB InvIT Fund and its 
seven subsidiaries (collectively, "the Group") for the year ended March 31 , 2021. 

The road projects included in the Fund's portfolio comprises as listed below:-

Extent of Extent of 
Principal 

Country of 
Control Control 

No. 
Subsidiary Name Nature of 

Incorporation 
as at as at 

activity March March 

I 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

31,2021 31, 2020 
IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAA) Infrastructure India 100% 100% 

IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
(IRBTA) 
IRB Jaipur Oeoli Tollway Limited Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
(IRBJO) 
IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
(lRBSD) 
IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Giniited Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
(lRBTC) 

.. 

M .V.R Infrastructure and Tollways Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
Limited (MVR) 
IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Infrastructure India 100% 100% 
Limited (IRBPA) 

The registered office of the investment manager is IRB Complex, Chandivali Farm, Chandivali 
Village, Andheri- East, Mumbai - 400 072. 

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with resolution 
passed by the board of directors of the investment manager on May 15,2021. 



2. Basis of preparation 

The consolidated fi nancia l statements anhe roup have b en prepared in accordanc wi1h Indian 
Accounting Standards as defined in Rule 2( I )(1'1) f the Companies (Indian Accounling ta nd ards) 
Rules, 201 5, as amended, prescribed under ction 133 of the Companies Act 201 3 ("rnd AS") 
read with SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended and the 
circulars issued thereunder ("lnvIT Regulations") and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the 
historical cost basis, except for certain financial assets and liabilities (refer accounting policy 
regarding financial instruments) which have been measured at fair value. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee ('INR') which is also the 
Group's functional currency and all values are rounded to the nearest lakhs, except when 
otherwise indicated. Wherever the amount represented '0' (zero) construes value less than Rupees 
five hundred. 

3. Summary of significant accoua.ting policies 

3.1. Basis of coa.solidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Fund and its 
subsidiaries as at 31 March 2021 . Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to 
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. 

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the 
Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the 
subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a Subsidiary acquired or disposed off 
during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group 
gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the Subsidiaries. 

Consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for like 
transactions and other events in similar circumstances. 
The financial statements of each of the subsidiaries used for the purpose of consolidation are 
drawn up to same reporting date as that of the Group; i.e., year ended on 31 March. 

Consolidation procedure: 

I. Combine like items of assets, liabiliti es, equily, income, expenses and cash flows of the parent 
with those of its sub idiaty. F r th'is purpose, income and expenses of the Subsidiaries ar 
based on the amounts of the assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements at the acquisition date. 

II. Offset (eliminate) the carrying amount of the parent's investment in each subsidiary and the 
parent's portion of equity of each subsidiary. Business combinations policy explains how to and an20and5



a) The amount of equity attributed to non-controlling interests at the date on wh ich 
investment in a Subsidiary came into existence; 

b) The non-controlling interest share of movement in equity since the date parent 
relationship came into existence; 

c) Non-controlling interest share of net profit/(Ioss) of consolidated Project Spy for the year 
is identified and adjusted against the profit after tax of the Group. 

3.2. Business Combinations 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acqu is iti on III thod. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured as the aggregate of the consideration transferred measured at fair value on 
acquisition date and the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each 
business combination, the Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the 
acquiree at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabili ties assumed are recognised 
at their acquisition date fair values. For this purpose, the liabilities as umed include contingent 
liabilities representing present obligation and they are measured at their acquisition fair va lue 
irrespective of the fact that outflow of resources embody in g economic benefits is not probable. 

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration 
transferred and the amount recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest 
held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the fair value of the net 
assets acquired is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the Group re-assesses 
whether it has correctly identified all of the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and 
reviews the procedures used to measure the amounts to be recognised at the acquisition date. [f 
the reassessment still results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired over the 
aggregate consideration transferred, then the gain is recognised in OCI and accumulated in equity 
as capital reserve. However, if there is no clear evidence of bargain purchase, the entity 
recognises the gain directly in equity as capital reserve, without routing the same through OCI. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. 
For. the purpose of impainnent testing, goodwill acquired in a bu iness combination is, fi·olll the 
acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group 's cash-generating units that are expected to 
benefit from the comb ination~ in·espective of whether other assets or liabi lities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units. 

A cash generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually, or 
more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the 
other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. 

Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised 
for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash­
generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated 
with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining 
the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the 
relativ.e values of the disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained. 

3.3. Asset acquisition 



Intangible Assets and liabilities assumed. The cost of the group is allocated to the individual 
identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. 
Such a transaction or event does not give rise to goodwillii. 

3.4. Use of estimates 

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date Otthe 
consolidated financial statements and the results of operations during the reporting period end. 
Although these estimates are based upon management's best knowledge of current events and 
actions, actual results could differ from these estimates. 

3.5. Current versus non-current classification 

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on currentl non-current 
classification. 
An asset is treated as current when it is: 
- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at 
least twelve months after the reporting period. 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 
- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 
- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- It is due to be settled within tw.elve months after the reporting period, or 
- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period. 
All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 
The operat ing cycle is the time between the acquisi'tion of assets for processing and their 
realisation in cash and cash equivalents. The Group has identified twelve months as its operating 
cycle. 

3.6. Foreign currencies 

The Group's financial statements are presented in INR, which is also the Group's functional 
currency. The group does not have any foreign operation and has assesseed the functional 
currency to be INR. 

Transactions and balances 

Tran. actions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Group at their respective 
fUll cti Ilal currency spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency 
spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss. 

Non-monetary items that are measur d in terms Qf hi tQrical cost in 
translated lIsing (he exchange rates at the dates ofth il1n~ I ~nlnsact i o n s. 

's?) 



3.7. Fair value measurement 

The Group measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet 
date. 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the 
liability takes place either: 

• In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or 

liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be access ible by Ole roup. 
The fair value of an asset or a liability i measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assllming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest. 

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to 
another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable 
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements 
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 

Level I - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is directly or indirectly observable 
Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement is unobservable 
For assets and liabilities that are. recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the 
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assess ing 
categori sation (based on the 10~.l/est level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as 
a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 

The Group's Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair .value 
measurement, such as derivative instruments and unquoted Iil1ancial assets measured at fair value 
and for non-recurring measurement, such as assets held for distribution in discontinued 
operations. 
At each reporting date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and 
liabilities which are required to be remeasured or re-assessed as per the Group's accounting 
policies. For this analysis, the Management verifies the major inputs applied in the latest valuation 
by agreeing the information in the va luation computation to contracts and other relevant 
documents . 
The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with 
relevant external source to determine whether the change is reasonable. 
On an annual bas is, the Management of lnv stment Manager presents the valuation results to the 
Audit ommi ttec and the roup's independent auditors. This includes a di cllssion of the major 
assumptions used in the valuations. 



For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and I iabi I ities 
on the basis of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair 
value hierarchy as explained above. 

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are 
given in the relevant notes. 

• Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions (note 33 and 38) 
• Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost) (note 33) 
• Quantitative disclosure of fair value measurement hierarchy (note 34) 

3.8. Revenue recognition 

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the goods or services are 
transferred to the customer at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group 
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The Group has concluded that it is 
the principal in its revenue arrangements because it typically controls the services before 
transferring them to the customer. . 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment i being made. 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into 
account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or duties collected on behalf 
of the government. 

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised. 

Toll revenue 

The income from Toll collection is recognised on the actual collection of toll revenue. 

Toll collection charges 

Revenue is recognised on actual collection of toll revenue (net of amount paid to NHAI) as per 
the Supplementary agreement with NHAI. 

Contract revenue (construction contracts) 

Contract revenue associated with the utility shifting incidental to construction of road are 
recognized as revenue by reference to the stage of completion of the projects at the balance sheet 
date. The stage of completion of project is determined by the proportion that contract cost 
incurred for work performed up to the balance sheet date bears to the estimated total contract 
costs. 

The Group's operations involve levying of goods and service tax (GST)on the construction 
work. GST is not received by the Group on its own account. Rather, it is tax collected on value 
added to the commodity by the seller on behalf of the government. Accordingly, it is excluded 
from revenue. 

Claim Revenue 



Interest income 

For all debt instruments measured either at amortised cost or at fair value through other 
c mprehensive income, interest income is recorded using 



between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) IS included 111 the 
statement of profit and loss when the asset is derecogll ised. 

The residual values, useful I ives and methods of depreciation of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed at each financial year end and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 

3.11. Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are stated at cost, less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Toll Collection Rights 

Toll collection rights are stated at cost net of accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Cost includes: 
Toll Collection Rights awarded by the grantor against construction service rendered by the Project 
Spy on DBFOT basis - Direct and indirect expenses on construction of roads, bridges, culverts, 
infrastructure and other assets at the toll plazas. 

Premium Obligation 

As per the service concession agreement , the Group is obligated to pay the annual fixed amount 
of premium to National Highway AutllOriti es of India (NHAI). This premium obligation has been 
capi talized as Intangible Asset given it is paid towards getting the right to earn revenue by 
constructing and operating the roads during the concession period. Hence, total premium payable 
as per the service concession agreement has been upfront capitalized at fair value of the obligation 
at the date of transition. 

Intangible assets are amortised over the period of concession, using revenue based amortisation as 
per Exemption provided in Ind AS 101. Under this method, the carrying value of the rights is 
amortised in the proportion of actual toll revenue for the year to projected revenue for the balance 
toll period, to reflect the pattern in which the assets economic benefits will be consumed. At each 
balance sheet date, the projected revenue for the balance tolI period is reviewed by the 
management. If there is any change in the projected revenue from previous estimates, the 
amortisation of toll collection rights is changed prospectively to reflect any changes in the 
estimates. 

Gains or losses ari ing from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference 
between the net d isposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised. 

Intangible assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible 
asset may be impaired. 

3.12. Taxes 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

Loss is 



or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with 
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and 
establishes provisions where appropriate. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences 'between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the 
reporting date. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except: 

- When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

- In respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the 
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the 
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of 
unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, 
except: 

- When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, 
at the time of the transaction affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss 

-In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that 
it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable 
profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or 
part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at 
each reporting date and ,are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that Juture taxable 
profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
year when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 
Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside statement of profit and loss is recognised outside 
statement of profit and loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Deferred tax 
items are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in Oel or directly in 
equity. 



Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) 

Minimum Alternate Tax (MAT) paid as per Indian Income Tax Act, 1961 is in the nature of 
unused tax credit which can be carried forward and utilised when the Group will pay normal 
income tax during the specified period. Deferred tax assets on such tax credit is recognised to the 
extent that it is probable that the unused tax credit can be utilised in the specified future period. 
The net amount of tax recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

Goods and service tax paid on acquisition of assets or on incurring expenses 

Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and service tax paid, except: 
When the tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the tax 
authority, in which case, the tax paid is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense item, as applicable. 

When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax inoluded. The net amount of tax 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included as part of receivables or payables in 
the balance sheet. 

3.13. Borrowing costs 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that 
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are 
capitalised a part of the cost of the asset. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in 
which they occur. Bon'owing costs consi t of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the bon'owing of fund s. Borrowing cost also includes exchange differences to the 
extent regarded as an adjustment to the borrowing costs. 

3.14. Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is (or contains) a lease is based on the substance of 
the arrangement at the inception of the lease. The an'angement is, or contains, a lease if fulfilment 
of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement 
conveys a right to use the asset or assets, even if that right is not explicitly specified in ' an 
arrangement. 

Group as a lessee 

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not 
contain a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to 
leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 

3.15. Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 
result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be rein ed, for example, 
under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as a scp ~ t only when 
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the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss net of any reimbursement. 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre­
tax rate that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is 
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

3.16. Premium Deferment 

Premium Deferral (i.e. premium payable less paid after adjusting premium deferment) is 
aggregated under premium deferred obligation in the balance sheet. The interest payable on the 
above is aggregated under premium deferral obligation. Interest on premium deferral is 
capitalised during the construction period and thereafter charged to the statement of profit and 
loss. 

3.17. Resurfacing expenses 

As per the Concession Agreement, the Group is obligated to carry out resurfacing of the roads 
under concession. Provision required for resurfacing expenses are measured at the present value 
of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end ofthe reporting period. The 
discount rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to 
the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance cost. 

3.18. Contingent liabilities and Contingent assets 

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the 
control of the Group or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises 
in extremely rare cases where there is a liability that cannot be recognised because it cannot be 
measured reliably. TIle Group does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence 
in the financial statements. 

A contingent assets is not recognised unless it becomes virtually certain that ari inflow of 
economic benefits will arise. When an inflow of economic benefits is probable, contingent assets 
are disclosed in the financial statements. 
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are-reviewed at each balance sheet date. 

3.19. Retirement and other employee benefits 

Defined contribution plan 

Retirement benefits in the form of provident fund, Pension Fund and Employees state Insurance 
Fund are a defined contribution scheme and the contributions are charged to the Statement of 
profit and loss of the period when the employee renders related services. There are no other 
obligations other than the contribution payable to the respective authorities. 

Defined benefit plan 



Re-measurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses excluding amounts included in net 
interest 0 11 the net defined benefi t liabili ty are recognised immedia1 Iy in the balanc heet With a 
corre, p nding debit or cred it to retained earnings (hrough OCI in the period in which they OCcur. 
Re-measuremcnts are 11 0t rec.la sified to statement of profit and loss in sub equent period 

Past service costs are recognised in statement of profit and loss on the earlier of: 

- The date of the plan amendment or curtailment, and 
- The date that the Group recognises related restructuring costs 

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liability or asset. 

The Group recognises the following changes in the net defined benefit obligation as an expense in 
the statement of profit and loss: 

- Service costs comprising current service costs, past-service costs, gallls and losses on 
curtailments and non-routine settlements; and 
- Net interest expense or income . 

Short term benefits 

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undisclosed basis and are expensed 
as the related services are provided, A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid 
i.e. under short-term cash bonus, if the Company has a present legal or constructive obligations to 
pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employees, and the amount of 
obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Leave encashment 

As per the leave encashment policy of the Group, the employees have to utilise their eligible leave 
during the calendar year and lapses at the end of the calendar year. Accrual towards compensated 
absences at the end of the financial year is based on last salary drawn and outstanding leave 
absence at the end of the financial year. 

3.20. Financial instrument 
". 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

All financial assets are recognised initial1y at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not 
recorded at fair value through Statement of Profit and Loss, directly attributable transaction cost 
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within a time frame established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular 
way trad~s) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group commits to purchase or 
sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in followin 
at amortised cost 
at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 



at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 

Debt instruments at amortised cost 

A 'debt instrument' is measured at the amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met: 

a) The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets for collecting 
contractual cash flows, and 
b) Contractual terms of the asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are Solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding. 

After initial measurement, such financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account 
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The 
EIR amortisation is included in other income in the statement of profit or loss. The losses arising 
from impairment are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Debt instrument at FVTOCI 

A 'debt instrument' is classified at FVTOCI if both of the following criteria are met: 

a) The objective of dle business model is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and 
selling the financial assets, and 
b) The asset's contractual cash flows represent SPPI. 

Debt instruments included within the FVTOCI category are measured initially as well as at each 
reporting date at fair value. Fair value movements are recognized in the other comprehensive 
income (OCI). However, the Group recognizes interest income, impairment losses & reversals 
and foreign exchange gain or loss in the Statement of profit and loss. On de-recognition of the 
asset, cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from the equity to 
Statement of profit and loss. Interest earned whilst holding FVTOCI debt instrument is reported 
as interest income using the EIR method. 

Debt instrument at FVTPL ' . 

FVTPL is a residual category for debt instruments. Any debt instrument, which does not meet the 
criteria for categorization as at amortized cost or as FVTOCI, is classified as at FVTPL. 

In addition, the Group may elect to designate a debt instrument, which otherwise meets amortized 
cost or FVTOCI criteria, as at FVTPL. However, such election is allowed only if doing so reduces 
or eliminates a measurement or recognition inconsistency (referred to as 'accounting mismatch'). 
The Group has designated certain debt instrument as at FVTPL. 

Debt instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all changes 
recognized in the statement of profit and loss. 

Equity investments 



classification is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable. 

IU he Gr up decides t c1~,ss iry an equi1y inslrumeM as at FVTOCI, then all fair value changes on 
the in Irumen!, exc luding divid nds, are fec gnized in the OCI. There is no recycling of the 
amounts fr .Ill I t tat men. of profit and loss, even on sale of investment. However, the 

roup may transfer the cumulat ive ga in or I ss within equity. 

Equity instruments included within the FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recogn ized in the statement of profit and loss. 

De-recognition 

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part fa Gr up of similar 
financial assets) is primarily de-rec gn ised (i.e. removed from the Group's balan ~ sheet) When: 

- The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or 
- The roup has transferred its rights to rece ive cash fI w from the asset or has assumed a n 
Obligation to pay tile received cash flows in full wi1hout material delay to a third paliy under a 
' pass-through' arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transfen'cd substantially all the ri sk s and 
rewards ofthe asset, or (b) the Group has neither transfelTed 11 r retained substantially all the risks 
and rewards of the asset, but has mmsferred control of the asset. 

When dle Group has transferred its rights to receive cash fl ws from an ass t or has ntered illt a 
pass-through arrangement, it valuates if and t what extent it has retained the ri ks and rewards 
f ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially a ll r the risk and 

reward o r th a set, lIor transferred control of the asset, the r up continues to recognise the 
transferred asset to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case the Group also 
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the ass ciated liability are measured 
on a basis that reflects the rights and obligatiolls that the Group has retained. 

Continuing involvement that takes the fonn of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured 
at the lower of the original canying amount of the asset and the · maximum amount of 
consideration that the Group could be required to repay, 

3.21. Impairment of assets 

Impairment of financial assets 

Expe ted credit losses are .recognized for all financial assets subsequent to initial recognition 
o('her than financial assets in FVTPL category. 

For financial assets other than trade receivables a per Ind AS I 9, th Group recognizes 12 
month expected credit losses for all originated or acquired financ ial assets if at the reporting date 
the credit risk of the financial asset has not increased significantly si nce its initial recognition . T he 
expected credit losses are measured as lifetime expected credit losses if the cred it risk on financia l 
assets increases significa ntly since its initial recognition. 

The impairment losses and reversals are recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Trade Receivables 

The Group has evaluated the impairment provision requirement under Ind AS 
down below major facts for trade and other receivables impairment provisioning: 



Trade receivable fi'om NHAI are considered to be good and there are neither been any past 
instances of defau It and also management doesn't expect any default in case of Group receivab les. 

Other Financial Assets mainly consists of Loans to employees and Security deposits and other 
deposits, interest accrued on Fixed deposits, loans to related party, Retention money receivable 
from NHAl, Grant receivable from NHAI and other receivables and advances measured at 
amortised cost. 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group estimates the asset's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 
Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or Group's assets. When the 
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. . 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are c1asilified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate. 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, 111 the case of loans and 
borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. 

The Groups financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including 
bank overdrafts, financial guarantee contracts and derivative financial instruments. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through -profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading 
and financial liabilities desigllatcd upon initial recogn ition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities are class ified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of ' 
repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered 
into by the Group that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined 
by Ind AS 109. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Loans and borrowings 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in Statement of profit and 
loss when the liabilities are de-recognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process . 



Amortised cost is calculated by taking il1to account any discount or premium on acqu isition and 
fees or costs that are an integral pal1 of the EIR. The EIR amol1isation is included as finance costs 
in the statement of profit and loss . 

Financial guarantee contracts 

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are thos conlract. that require a payment t be 
made to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fail s to make a 
payment when due in accordance with the terms of a d bt instrument. Financial guara ntee 
contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fa ir value adjusted fo r transaction costs that are 
directly attr ibutable to the issuance of the guarantee. , 1Ibsequently the liabili ty is measured at the 
higher or th e amount f loss allowance det nnined as per impairment requirem nts orrnd AS 109 
and th amount recogn ised Ie cumulative am0l1isation. 

Retention money payable 

Retention money payable is measured at fair value initially. Subsequently, they are measured at 
amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in Statement of Profit and 
Loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 

Reclassification of financial assets 

The Group determines class ification offinall cial assets and liabilities on initial recognition . After 
initial recognition, no rc lass ification i. made for financial asset which are cqurty instruments 
and Cinancial li abilities . For financial ass ts which are debt instruments, a reclass ifrcati n is made 
only if there is a change in the business model for managing those as ets. hanges to the bus iness 
model are expected to be infrequent. The Group's senior managcm nl determines change in the 
business model as a result of external or interhat changes which are significant to the Group's 
operations. Such changes are evident to external parties. A change in t he business mode l o ccurs 
when the Group either begins or ceases to perfi rm an activity thai is significant to its operations. 
If the Group reclassifies financial assets, it applies the reclassification prospectively from the 
reclassification date which is the first day of the immediately next reporting period following the 
change in business model. The Group does not restate any previously recognised gains, losses 
(including impainnent gains or losses) or interest. . 

The following table shows various reclassification and how they are accounted for: 

Original Revised classification Accounting treatment 
classification 
Amortised cost FVTPL Fair value is measured at reclassification date. 

Difference between previous 
amortized cost and fair value is recognised in 
Statement ofprofil and loss. 

FVTPL Amortised cost Fair value at reclassification date becomes its 
new gross cartying amount. EIR is calculated 
based on the new gross carrying amount 

Amortised cost FVTOCI Fair value is measured at reclassification date. 
Difference between previous amortised cost 
and fair value is recognised in OCI. No change 
in EIR due to reclassification . -



FYTOCI Amortised cost Fair value at reclassification date becomes its 
new amortised cost carrying amount. However, 
cumulative gain or loss in OCI is adjusted 
against fair value. Consequently, the asset is 
measured as if it had always been l11easur d at 
amortised cost. 

FYTPL FYTOCI Fair value at reclassification date becomes its 
new carrying amount. No other adjustment is 
required . 

FYTOCI FYTPL Assets continue to be measured fair value. 
Cumulative gain or loss previously recognized 
in OCI is reclassified to Statement of profit and 
loss at the reclassification date. 

De-recognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts 
is recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
consolidated balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously. 

3.22. Contributed Equity 

Units are classified as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the issue of units are directly 
recorded in equity, net of tax. 

3.23. Distribution to unit holders 

The Group recognises a liability to make cash distributions to unit holders when the distribution is 
authorised and a legal obligation has been created. As per the InvIT Regulations, a distTibution is 
authorised when it is approved by the Board of Directors of the Investment Manager. A 
corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity 

3.24. Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term 
deposits with an original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value. 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and 
short-term deposits, as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered 
an integral part of the Group's cash management. 

3.25. Asset held for sale 



Non-current assets or disposal groups comprising of assets and liab ili ties ar class ified as <h 'Id 
for sale' when all of the following criteria's are met: (i) decision has been made to sell. ( ii) the 
assets are available for immediate sale in its presen1 condition. (iii) the assets are be ing actively 
marketed and (iv) sale has been agreed or is expe ted to be c Ileluded within 12 months of the 
Balance Sheet date. 

Subsequently, such nOll-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured 
at the lower of its carrying value and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets held for sale 
are not depreciated or amortised 

3.26. Earnings Per Unit (EPU) 

Basic earnings per unit are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to unit 
holders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per uilit the weighted average numbers of units 
outstanding during the year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units. 

3.27 New pronouncements issued but not effective 

On March 24, 2021, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA ") through a notification, amended 
Schedule If[ of the Companies Act, 2013. The amendments revise Division I, II and III of 

Schedule III and are applicable from April 1, 2021. Certain key amendments relating to Division 

H which relate to companies whose financial statements are required to comply with Companies 

(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 are extensive. The Group will evaluate the same to 
give effect to them as required by law, wherever applicable. 

" 



fRn fn"IT Fund 
Consolidated F'in~nci,,1 Sfatemet1ts rot' the ytAI' ended Mal'ch 31. 2021 

Note -4 : P,'oper'ty, plant and equipment 

L.nd PlaUI "nd m. ch.£D.tty" omC't tQuipments -Computer 

P",rticulal"S 

Gross Block 

As at Mftrch 3', 
2021 

As at March JI, 
2020 

As at March 
31,2021 

As AI MAtch 
31,1010 

As.,MArch 
31,1011 

OpeningSalanco 9861 9861 467 437 777 
Additions 030 027 
De.tdlon I Dd~~;men~ 0,11 
Otu rn'!l n"ljtncf: 93.6t 9S.6t .4,67 .... . 67 7.92 

Depreciation 
Opening Balance 
Additions 
Deletionl adjustment 
ClosinJ! nalance 
Net Block 

In l lTT)':ItJtt.II$St:l1 

98.61 

214 
054 

2.68 
98.51 1.95 

I ~3 404 
061 048 

01 0 
1.14 4 .4.2 
1.S2 l.5Il 

Aut M.rch 
31,1020 

708 
069 

' .17 

330 
074 

~.04 

3.73 

Ton Call.roon Ri!!h" Pr'fmium to NHA I Total 

Croft Black 
Opening B."lance 
Additions 
Deletion! Adjustment 
Closjn~ BAlAnce 

Deprecifttion 
Opening Balance 
Additions 
Deletionl Adjustment 
ClosinJ. Bal:mct 

Net Block 

Notes : 

P"t1iculal's 

I Toll Collection Ri.u:hts jncludes toll eQu;pments 

Inlan"ible a.s~u u.nder tlevrlonmtnt 

P"rticuiJtt"S 

OOtmn'!!, balance 
Additions during the year 
LDgrlnfued dunng the: ~ 
Toml 

A •• tM .. ch .l l. A .. tMorch 31. 
2021 2020 

742.853 31 742,83948 
144"37 1937 

5,88029 5.S( 
737,117.39 742.S~3.31 

150.800 13 93,92654 
50.040,73 56.87560 

~87 IB 2.01 
200.J~.68 t5lJAOD. IJ 

As Jilt Marth As at Ml1rc:h 
31, t021 31.2020 

A. AI M .. ·ch 
31 . 2021 

667,30455 667.30455 1.410.15786 

667.30't.~S 

30,47523 
10.763.73 

.t1.l3!.96 

144,37 
HSo.a9 

667..304.~5 I..4D.t.-!11.9~ 

18.81585 181.27536 
11,65938 60.80446 

~87 18 
30.473..13 241"~91.6.t 

336.763.71 591,O~18 ~065.S9 636.319..3:2 1.161.329.30 

A. At M .. ·ch31, 
2021 

21209 

212,09 

As at March 31, 
2020 

Asat March 
31. 2020 

1.410.14403 
1937 
~. ~~ 

1..tIO.I~7.!6 

112,74239 
68.53498 

!'Ol 
141..1 '~.36 

l .ll~A8BO 

As.t MArch 
31,2021 

269 

0.21 
2.42 

137 
033 
0.01 
1.69 
0.73 

As AI MAtch 
31,2020 

1.32 
087 

1.69 

090 
0.47 

1.37 
1.31 

Vohlcl .. 

As AI MArch 
31,1021 

135 

US 

045 
0.22 

0.67 
D.6S 

Asat March 
31,2020 

135 

1.3~ 

0.12 
033 

D.4~ 

0.90 

Furniture And. Oxtnrr 
As at As At 

March 3', Mal'clt 31, 
2021 10:0 

607 598 
009 

6.07 6.07 

365 288 
036 077 

J.OI 3.65 
2.05 2.42 

IRs- In u~ .. ) 
TOtlll 

As at March 
31,1021 

121 I~ 

027 
030 

11J.OJ 

116.' 
I 93 
o I I 

I l .. ,n 
101-<6 

As at ~1Mrch 
31,2020 

11911 
I 94 

1l1 .1 ~ 

87.1 
192 

I J.6~ 
109_<0 



IRO InvlT Fund 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31,2021 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Note 5 : Investments 

A) Non - current investments 

Investments in Government or trust securities 
(unquoted) (at amortised cost) 

National saving certificates 

B) Current investments 

a) Investments in mutual funds (quoted) 
(at fair value through profit and loss) 
Aditya Birla Sun Life- Liquid Fund- Direct Plan Growth 
28,66,008.32 units @ Rs. 331.532 (March 31, 2020 :'Nil) 
Aditya BirIa Sun Life Overnight Fund- Direct Plan Growth 
103343.78 units @Rs. 1112.937 (March 31, 2020: Nil) 
S81 Magnum Low Duration Fund Direct Plan Growth 
1,86,147.18 units @ Rs.2795.764 (March 31, 2020: 203,373.445 units @ Rs.2,629.974) 
[Mutual fund held for DSRA Rs. 5,204.23 lakhs ( March 31 ,2020 :Rs. 5,348.671akhs)] 
Total (8) 

Total (A+B) 

Aggregate book value of quoted investments 
Market value of quoted investments 
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 

As at March 
31,202t 

0.40 

OAO 

9,501.76 

1,150.15 

5,204.24 

15,856.15 

15,856.55 

15,856.15 
15,856.15 

0.40 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at March 31, 
2020 

0.40 

0.40 

5,348.67 

5,348.67 

5.349.07 

5,348.67 
5,348.67 

0040 



IRB InvIT Fund 

Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 

Note 6 : Loans 

(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 

Loans to employees 

Security and other deposits 
Total 

Note 7: Other financial assets 

Receivable from government authorities 

Interest accrued on fixed deposits 

Retention money receivables 

Other receivables* 
Total 

As at March 31,2021 

Current 

5.80 

68.22 
74.02 

359.34 

0.02 

231.12 

533.89 
1,124.37 

Non-current 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
As at March 31, 2020 

Current 

14.49 

84.24 

98.73 

718.96 

0.02 

221.79 

77.92 

1,018.69 

Non-current 

* Includes Rs.76.20 lakhs receivable from lenders on account of compounded interest paid during the moratorium period. 

Note 8 : Deferred tax assets (net) 

Deferred Tax Liabilities (Net): 
Deferred tax assets: 
Unused Tax credit ( MAT) 
Deferred tax assets (A) 

Deferred tax liabilities: 

Difference in depreciation and other differences in block of 
Property, plant and equipment as per tax books & financial 
books 
Deferred tax liabilities (B) 

Deferred tax assets (net) (A::'B) 

As at March 
31,2021 

3,257.84 

3,257.84 

37.51 

37.51 

3,220.33 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at March 
31,2020 

3,257.84 

3,257.84 

37.51 

37.51 

3,220.33 



IRB InvIT Fund 

Consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 

Note 9 : Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and bank balances 
Balances with banks: 

- on current accounts 

- on escrow accounts * 
Cash on hand 

Total 

114.86 

39,322.59 

61.75 

39,499.20 

* Rs. 3,531.10 lakhs (Previous year Rs. 9,570.18 lakhs) is hypothecated against secured loan. 

Note 10 : Bank balances other than cash and cash equivalent 

- Unpaid distribution accounts 
Deposits with banks 

- Original maturity of more than 3 months but less than 12 months 

Total 

Note 11 : Income tax assets (net) 
Advance income-tax (net of provision for tax) 
Total 

Note 12 : Other current assets 
Advance with suppliers 
Work-ill-progress 
Prepaid expenses 
Duties and taxes receivables 
Total 

44.04 

34.02 

78.06 

722.09 
722.09 

104.04 
138.90 

8.34 
78.39 

329.67 

154.17 

18,765.76 

84.38 
19,004.31 

34.05 

32.11 

66.16 

840.70 
840.70 

431.77 
283.26 

9.07 
45.51 

769.61 



IRB In"IT Fund 
Consolidated Financial Statements ror the year ended March 31,2021 

Note: 13 : Equity 

I . lInit capital 

580,500,000 (March 31, 2020: 580.500,000) units (issue price : 
Rs 102) 

Issued, Subscribed and fully paid up unit capital 
At the beginning of the year 
Less: Capital reduction during the year 

Initial settlement amount 

Right of lInit holders 

As at Mal'clt 3 I, 

2021 

53 \,\ 5750 

542,767.50 
(11,610.00) 

531.157.50 

0.10 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at March 
31,2020 

542,767.50 

560,763.00 
( 17,995.50) 

542.7G7.50 

010 

• LlqicCI to the provisions of the InvlT Regulations, the Indenture of Fund, and applicable rules, regulations and guidelines, the rights of the unit holders include: 
a) right to receive income or disjributions with respect to the units held; 

b) right to allend the annual general meeting and other meetings of the unit holders of the Fund; 
c) right to vote UpOIl allY mallers/r olutions proposed in rclalloll (0 the Fund; 
d) right to receive periodIC I11fom1.(I tiOIl having a bearing oll1hc operations or pcrronnancc onhe Fund in accordance with Ihe InvlT Rejl,ulntiolls; and 
e) right to apply to the Fund to take up certaill is ues at meetings for uni1 holdcrs ~pprovaL 

In accordance with the InvlT Regulations, no unit holders shall enjoy superior voting or any other rights oVeJ any olher unit holdcr~ , lind there shall lUll be multiple classes 
of units. There shall be only one denomination of units. Notwithstanding the above, subordinate unilS 111~y be Issued only to the Sponsor lind its Associates, where such 
subordinate units shall carry only inferior voting or any other rights compared to the other units. 

Limitation to the Liability of the unit holders 

The liability of each unll holdl.'TS towards Ihe paymenl of any amount (thll! may arise in relation \0 the Fund including any taxes, duties. tincs, levics, liabilities, costs or 
expenses) shall be li11111ed olily to thc exjc.n1 of the capilal contribu1ion of such unit holders and lifter such capllal contribution shall havc bccn p~id in rull by the unit 
holders, the unit holders shull not be obligated 10 make nny fll/ther paymclllS. llic unil holdcr (s) shall not have any pel'sonal lillbility r obliga tion with reSJlcct to the 
Fund. 

II. Reconciliation of the number of units outstanding and the amount of unit capital: 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 
Less: Capilal reduction during the year 
At the end of the year 

Details of unit holde/'s holding more than 5% units: 

IRS Infrastructure Developers Limited 
Govemment Of Singapore 

Aditya Birla Sun Life Trustee Private Limited NC Aditya 
Birla Sun Life Equity Hybrid '95 Fund 

Note: 14: Other equity 

Retained earnings 
At the beginning of the year 
Profitl(loss) for the year 
Other comprehensive incomel(loss) for the year 

Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on defined benefit plans 
Interest distribution (refer note 41) 
At the end of the yea,' 

As at March 31, 2021 

No. of units 
Amount Rs, in 

lakhs 
580,500,000 542,767.50 

11 ,6 10.00 
580,500,000 531,157.50 

As at March 31, 2021 

No. of units 

92,705,000 
45,782,500 

37,100,000 

As at March 31, 
2021 

(80,227.27) 

18,084.16 

(38.68) 

(33,669.00) 
(')5,850.79) 

% of total unit 
capital 

15.97% 

7.89% 
6.40% 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

As at March 
31,2020 

(49,911.00) 

17,269.94 

14.79 

(47,601.00) 
(80,227.27) 

As at March 31, 2020 

No, of units 
Amount Rs, in 

lakhs 
580,500,000 560,763.00 

17,995.50 

580,500,000 542,767.50 

As at March 31, 2020 

No. of units 

92,705,000 
47,950,000 

37,100,000 

% of total unit 
capital 

15.97% 

8.26% 
6.40% 
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Note: 15 : Borrowings 
Non-current bOlTowings 

Term loans 
fndian rupee loan from banks (secured) 
Less: current maturities expected to be settled within 12 month from balance sheet date 

Unamortised transaction cost 

From other parties 
Deferred premium obligation (secured) 
Less: current maturities expected to be settled within 12 month from balance sheet date 

Total 

1. Indian rupee loan from banks 

As at March 31, 
2021 

147,630.45 
(5,425.00) 

142,205.45 

(1,033.73) 

29,771.45 

29,771.45 
170,943.17 

(J s. in Lakhs) 
As at March 31, 

2020 

147,820.46 
(6,584.46) 

141,236.00 

(1,119.87) 

29,771.45 
(600 .00) 

29,171.45 
169,287.58 

i) Secured by first charge on escrow account and on receivable of fund arising out of principal and interest payment of the loans by fund to 
subsidiaries. 

ii) Pledge of shares held of 51 % of share holding in the total paid-up equity share capital of IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited and IRB 
Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited. 

iii) Interest rates on Indian rupee loan from State Bank of India is MCLR + 0.15% and IDFC First Bank is 8.15%. The Indian rupee loans 
from banks is repayable in unstructured monthly instalment as per the repayment schedule specified in loan agreement with the Lenders. 

iv) As per RBI Circular dated March 27, 2020 and May 22, 2020, the Group has availed moratorium from Mar 2020 to August 2020. 

2. Deferred premium obligation 

National Highways Authority of India has approved deferment of premium obligation which carries interest rate @2% above the RBI bank 
rate. Bank guarantee has been provided to NHAI. The repayment is in accordance with the cash surplus accruing to the Company over the 
concession period. 

There have been no breaches in the financial covenants with respect to borrowings. 
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Note 16 : Other financial liabilities 

Current maturities of long-term borrowings 
Interest accrued on borrowings' 

Premium obligation/ negative grant to NHAI 
Current maturities of deferred premium obligation 

Interest on premium deferment 

Unclaimed distribution 

Deposits 

Retention money payable 

Revenue share payable 

Employee benefits payable 

Other payable 

Capital Creditors 
Total 

Note 17 : Provisions 
Provision for employee benefits 

- Leave encashment 

- Gratuity ( Refer note 40 ) 
Others 

Resurfacing expenses * 
Total 

As at March 31,2021 

Current 

5,425.00 

10.27 

44,081.87 

44.04 

13.12 

224.30 

8,360.46 

229.99 

359.09 

58,748.14 

8.33 

20.64 

10,670.65 
10,699.62 

Non-current 

530,558 .65 

13,498.29 

1,696.49 
545,753.43 

217.76 

1,085.89 
1,303.65 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 
As at Mal'ch 31,2020 

CUITent Non-culTent 

6,584.46 

1,036.88 

26,880.25 
600.00 

34.05 

20.35 

189.46 

3,767.84 

67.07 

363.68 

39,544.04 

6.60 

15.61 

10,308.28 
10,330.49 

551,235.06 

10,931.60 

7,839.41 
570,006.07 

Hi 1.51 

4,152.32 
4,313.83 

* The above provisions are based on current best estimation of expenses that may be required to fulfil the resurfacing obligation as per the 
service concession agreement with regulatory authorities. It is expected that significant portion of the costs will be incurred over the period. 
The actual expense.incurred may vary from the above. No reimbursements are expected.from any sources against the above obligation. 

The movement in "esu"facing expenses is as follows: 
Pa rticu la rs 

Opening balance 
Add: Provision made during the year 
Less: Utilised during the year 
Total 

Note: 18 : Trade payables 

Total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises ( Refer Note 31 ) 
Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 

Total 

Note 19 : Other Current liabilities 
Advance from customers 
Duties and taxes payable 

Total 

As at March 31, 
2021 

14,460.60 
5,818.16 

(8,522.22) 
11,756.54 

9.42 
1,074.63 

1,084.05 

67.35 
147.02 
214.37 

As at March 31, 
2020 

23,006.24 
6,023.03 

( 14,568.67) 
14,460.60 

76.00 
3,134.88 

3,210.88 

126.38 
126.38 
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(l{s. in l .akhs) 
For the year For the ~ 

ended March 31, ended March 31, 
2021 2020 

------------------------------------------------~~--------~-----

Note 20: Revenue from operations 

Income arising out of toll collection (net of revenue share paid to NHAI) 
Toll collection charges (net of additional revenue share paid to NHAI) 

Contract revenue (Utility shifting) 
Other operating income 
Total 

Disaggregated revenue information 
The table below presents disaggregated revenue from contracts with customers 

Income from services (Revenue from contracts with Customers) 
Services transferred over time 
Income from toll collection 

Contract revenue (Utility shifting) 
Toll collection charges 

Revenue from contracts with customers 
Other operating revenue 
Other operating revenue 

Total revenue from operation 

Performance obligation 
Income from toll collection 

110,249.09 
87.03 

472.34 
3.474.80 

114,283.26 

110,249.09 
472.34 

87.03 

110,808.46 

3,474.80 
114,283.26 

The performance obligation in service of toll collection is recorded as per rates notified by NHAI and approved by 
management and payment is generally due at the time of providing services. 

Contract revenue 
The performance obligation under contractual agreements is due on completion of work as per terms of contracts. 

Contract balances 
There are no reconciling items in the revenue recognised in the statement of profit and loss with contracted price. 

Note 21 : Other income 

Interest income on 

- Bank deposits 

- Others 

Profit on sale of investments (net) 

Change in fair value 00 mutual funds 

Profit on sale of intangible assets 
Other non operating income 

Total 

Note 22 : Operating expenses 

Operation and maintenance expenses 

Site and other direct expenses 

Total 

Note 23 : Employee benefits expense 

Salaries, wages and bonus 

Contribution to provident and other funds 
Gratuity expenses ( Refer note 40 ) 
S laff wei fare expenses 
Total 

Note 24 : Depl'eciation and amol·tisation expenses 

Depreciation on property. plant and equipment 

Amortisation on intangible assets 
Total 

28. 19 
1,139.39 

551.64 
(141.99) 
204.81 

23.51 
1,805.55 

5,539.04 
1 177.97 
6,717.01 

2,041.58 

123.56 
29.38 

234.03 
2,428.55 

1.93 
60,804.46 
60,806.39 

123,503.83 

94.05 
459.37 

124,057.25 

123, 503.83 

459.37 
94.05 

t24,(J57.25 

124,()57.25 

52.26 
435.66 
481.42 
295.75 

1,686.85 

2,951.94 

3,346.12 
1,130.19 
4,476.31 

2,237.90 
141.40 
33 .97 

313 .55 
2,726.82 

2.91 
68,534.98 
68,537.89 
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(Rs, in Lakhs) 
FOI' the year For the ;;;;:--

ended March 31, ended March 31, 
1021 2020 

--------------------------------------------------~------~~----

Note 25 : Finance costs 

Interest expense 
- Banks and financial institutions 
- Premium deferment 
- Unwinding of discount on provision ofMMR 

Other finance costs (Including Unamortise transaction cost) 
Total 

Note 26 : Other expenses 
Power and fuel 
Rent 
Rates and taxes 
Travelling and conveyance 
Vehicle expenses 
Communication cost 
Printing and stationery 

Advertisement expenses 
Directors sitting fees (inc\udingGST) 
Legal and professional expenses 
Payment to Auditor (including GST) 
Bank charges 
Miscellaneous expenses 
Total 

Payment to auditor (iftdvding GST) 
As auditors: 
- StatutOI)' audit fees 
- Limited review fees 
In other capacity: 

- Other services (certification fees) 
Reimbursement of expenses 

11,591.22 
2,566.69 

279.12 
101.18 

14,538.21 

9.56 
13.06 
82.34 

2.54 
0.76 
1.08 
0.07 

10.23 
21.17 

233.40 
43 .91 
31.65 
45.71 

495.48 

19.54 
18.90 

4.71 
0.76 

43.91 

12-443.49 
2,912.33 

'902.86 
102.64 

16,361.32 

179.27 
82.21 

8.99 
58.08 
76.34 

7.60 
108.13 

31.83 
30.46 

462.12 
47.46 
81.87 

247.85 
1.422.21 

24.44 

16.29 

2.34 
4.39 

47.46 
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Note 27: Earnings pcr unit (EPlI) 

The following renects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted EPU computations : 

Prolit / (loss) attributable to Unit holders lor basic and diluted earnings 
Weighted average number or Units in calculating basic and diluted EPU 
Basic earning per Unit (Rupees/unit) 

Diluted earning per Unit (Rupees/unit) 

Notc 28: COl11flonents of othe,' comorehensi\'e income 

The disaggregation of changes to OCI by each type of reserve in equity is shown below: 

Re-measurement gains/ (losses) on detined benefit plans (Refer note 40) 
Total 

Note 29: Commitment and COlltineellcics 

a. Commitments 

a) Estimated value of contracts in capital account remaining to be executed 

b) Commitment for acquisition of toll equipment & machineries 
c) Other commitments 

b. Contingent liability 

Contingent liabilities not provided for 

NHAI claim lor shortfall in Revenue share 

Total 

For the year 
endcd March 31, 

2021 
18.08416 

580,500,000 

312 

312 

For the year 
ended March 31, 

2021 
(38.68) 
(38.68) 

For the year 
ended March 31, 

2021 

156.01 

156.01 

As at March 31, 
2021 

(Rs. In I.nkhsl 
For the year 

ended March 31. 
2U2U 

17.26994 
580,500.000 

298 
298 

(Rs in Lakhs) 
For the year 

ended March 31. 
2020 

14 .79 
14.79 

(Rs . in Lakhs) 

For the year 
ended March 31. 

2020 

As at March 31, 
2020 

3,289.08 

3,289.08 

i) During th e year. oncessiomlire has 1;llncluded itsconci lrallon process with NHAI and it is 
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Note 32 : Fllir "alues 

The carrying values of lin an cia Is instruments of the group are reasonable and approximations affair values 

(Rs in 1.: kh5) 
As at March 31 . 2021 As at 1\1""'ch 31. 2020 -

il .... vin~ amount Fair Value O m ' in~ :unount Fa;" Vlllue 

Fillllncial assets 
Loans 74 ,02 7402 9873 9873 
Other financial assets 1,12437 1,12437 1,01869 1,01869 

Cash and cash equivalents 39,49920 39,49920 19,00431 19,00431 
Bank balance other than cash and cash equivalents 78.06 78 ,06 6616 66 16 
Investments 15,856.55 15,85655 5,34907 5,34907 
Total S6.G32.20 56.632.20 25.536.96 25,:;36.96 

Financial liabilities 
Borrowings 170,943.17 171,97690 169,28758 170,40745 
Trade payables 1084.05 1,08405 3210.88 3,21088 
Other financial liabilities 604,501.57 604.50 1 57 609,550 I I 609,550 \I 

776.528.79 777,S62.52 782,048.57 783.168.44 

The management assessed that cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, bank overdrafts and other current liabilities approximate their carrying amounts largely 
due to the short-term maturities of these instruments 

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other 
than in a forced or liquidation sale 

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that the Group has determined that market participants would take into account when pricing the investments 

The Group is req llircd to pr enl Ihe Stl1lCI1IClll orlolal asscts al ~ Ir vnlucund tntemcnlo IOlal r ~lUn1S at r.1ir value as pcr SE6I Circular No IR/IMD/D 11141201 6 dated 
OClollCr 20. 201 6 as 3 pan or thesc con50ltdnted li na.n ial statemcnlS - R ' Icr. liI tC\)lCt1l nfNet asscLS al fnll' value and Staleim:nl orTolal Rlltums UI lair vallie, 

Tho inputs to thc valuution models lor computation of lilrr Yu lue of road as elS lor the .. bove m~l1tioned s t~ lemclll s are takcn from observab le markels wher poss ible. bUl where 
lhi is nOI 1i."15ililc. n degree of.l udccment IS requIred 111 estubl i s hill ~ ralr values J IIdgemcllls II,clude conSidoratlons of inputs such tiS WAC', Tax ralCS, Infl ation rates, ct 

Note 33: Fair value hierarchy 
All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
significant 10 the fair value measurement as a whole 

Levell: Quoted (unadjusted) price is active market for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2: Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that has a signilic3nt effect on the fai r value meas urement are observed, cillle,r directly or indirectly 

Level 3: Valuation technique for which the lowesllevel input has a significant el1ccl OIl the lair val ue mCllsurcment is not based on observable market data. 

The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis: 

As at Fair value measurement .at end of the reporting year using 

March31.-------------------------------------------
2021 Level I Level 2 Level 3 

Investments in mutual fund 15,856. 15 15,85615 

As at Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year using 

March 31. -------------------------------------------
2020 Level I Level 2 Level 3 

Investments in mutual fund 5,34867 5,348.67 

There has been no transfer between Levell, Level 2 & Levei 3 during the year 

Notl' 34 : Fillllncial risk m'"lllll,eIl1Cnt objeclives Ilnd policies 
T he Group's risk management policlcs are established 10 Iden lify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 
ndhcroncc 10 limits. Risk managemcnt policlcs and systems are reviewed regularly to rellect changes in market conditions and the Group's activities. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Group's risk management framework . 

In performing its operating, investing and financing activities, the Group is exposed to the Credit risk, Liquidity risk and Currency risk 

M;II'kd risk 

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows ofa financial inStillment will fluctuate because of changes in market prices . Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
intcresl rate risk, currency risk and other price ri sk, such as equity price risk ~nd commodity risk . Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings and 
deposits 

C.·edit risk 

risk from ilS investing activities including investments, trade receivables, loans, deposits with banks and other Ii 
2020 the credit risk is considered low since substantial transactions of the Fund are with its subsidiaries 
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I nterest rate ris k 
Interest rate r isk is the risk that the la ir value or future cash /l ows of a linancia l instrument wililluctuate because orchanges in markct interest rates The Group's exposure \0 the 
risk of changes in market interest ra tes relates primarily to the Group 's long-term debt obligations \I ith floatin g interest rates 

I nterest rate scnsiti\·ity 

The fo llowing table dcmonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably poss ible change in interest mtcs on that portion ofloun s and borrowings aflected, after exc luding the credit 
ex pOSure for which interest rate swap has been taken and hence the intercst rate is fi xed With ail other va ri ab les held constant, the fund's profit beforc tax is affected thro ugh the 
impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows: 

1'0.' the year 1'0.' the year 
ended Ma"ch 31, elided Ma'Th 3 I, 

2021 2020 
Increase in basis points 

- INR 50 50 
EfTect on prolit before tax 

-INR 728 01 926 75 

Decrease in basis points 

- INR 50 50 
ElTect on profit before tax 

- INR (728.01 ) (92675) 

Uquidity l"isk 
Liqu idity r isk is the risk that the Group may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral obligations without incurring unacceptable losses The Group's objective 
is to , at all times maintain optimum levels of liquidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements The Group closely monitors its liquidity position and deploys a robust cash 
management system It mai ntains adequate sources oflinancing includ ing debt and overdraft from banks at an optimised cost 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities based on contractual und iscounted payments ' 

As at March 31, 2021 
Borrowings 
Other financial liabilities 

Trade payables 

Total 

As at March 31, 2020 
Borrowin gs 

Other financial liabilities 

Trade payables 

Total 

Less than I year 

16,38921 

53,323 .14 
1,084.05 

70,796.40 

Less tlta n I yea r 

18,995.55 

32,959.58 

3,210.88 

55,166.01 

1 to 5 years 

78,89358 
106,88839 

185,781.97 

I to 5 years 

72,15693 
106,019.80 

178,176.72 

(Rs in Lakhs) 

> 5 years Total 

183,991 55 279,27434 
438,865 .03 599.07657 

1,08405 
622,856.58 879,434.95 

l Rs in Lakhs) 

> 5 years Total 

197,997. 18 289. 149 65 
463,986.27 602,96565 

3.21088 
661,983.45 895,326.18 

At present, the Group does expects to repay all liabilities at thei r contractual maturity In order to meet such cash commitments, the operating activity is expected to generate 
sutllcient cash inflows. 

Nole 35 : ' Ililal ruall"gclllcnt 
"pitul includes equity utt ributable to the equity holders to ensure that it maintains an cfii cicnl capl lol 'st ruclure and hea lthy capital ratios in order to support ils bus iness and 

max imise shareholder vlll ue. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustmentS 10 iI, in light of change.~ in econol11 ic conditions or liS business requirements. To 
l11aintmn Of adj ust the capital slructu re, the Group rna adjust the dividend payment to shareholders . return c~p ila l 10 shareholders or issue new shares . No changes were made in 
Ihe objecl ives, policies or proce.'iSe!i during Ihe ye~r ended March 31, 202 1 and March 31 , 2020. 
The GrollP mon itors capital us ing a gearing ratio, which is net debt div ided by lolal capital plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as loans and borrowings less cash and cash 
eq u iva lents 

Asat As at 
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

Borrowings (Note (5) 177,40190 177,59191 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 9) (39,499.20) (19,004.3 1 ) 

Net debt 137,902.70 158,587.60 

Equity (Note 13 & 14) 435,30681 462,54033 

Total equity 435,306,81 462,540.33 

Capital and net debt 573,209.51 621,127.93 

Gearing ratio (%) 24.06% 25.53% 
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Note 36 : Details of Project management fees and Invcstment management fees 
Details of lees paid to project manager and investment manager as required pursuant to SEBI Circular No CIR/MD/DFIl27/20 16. dated November 29. 20 I (-, are as under : 

i) "roject management fees 
In accordance with the Project Implementation Agreements, the lees and remuneration payable by the I'roject SPVs to the Project Manager has been worked out and agreed upon 
for the duration ofcllrrent 1inancial year, between the Project Manager, Investment Manager and the respective Project SPY, on an arm's length basis, alier taking into account the 
extent of work to be done in respect of maintenance and other services to be provided by the Project Manager to such Project Spy 

ii) Investment management fees 
Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement, the Investment Manager is entitled to an Investment Management fees to be calculated @ 1% pcr annu \'\1 , exclusive of 
Service Tax I GST, of the consolidated toll revenue (net of premium paid I revenue shared with NHAI) of the Fund at the end of the reporting period sUbject to a tloor of Rs. 100 
million and a cap ofRs . 250 million. Considering the COVID-19 impact, the Board of Directors oflnvestment manager has reduced the Investment management fees by 50% lor 
linancial year 2020-2021 and also reduction in 1100r price by 50% for financial year 2020-21. Therefore, the revised management rees to be calculated is 0 50% per annum 
exclusive ofGST subject to a 1100r ofRs 50 million. 

Note 37 : Significlint accounting judgement, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts ()frevenue, expenses . 
assets and liabilities, and the accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates cou Id result in outcomes 
that require a material adjustment to the canying amount of assets or liabilities atlected in future years. 

Estimates and assumptions 
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the year in which the estimates are revised and 
future periods are affected. 

The Group based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future 
developments, however, may change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Group Such changes are reflected in the assumptions 
when they occur. 

Classification of unit holders' funds 
Under the provisions or the InvlT Regulations, the Group is required to distribute to unit holders not less than ninety percent of the net distributable cashtlows of the Group tor 
each financial year Accordingly, a portion of the unit holders'funds contains a contractual obligation of the Fund to pay to its unit holders cash distributions. The unit holders' 
funds could therefore have been classified as compound financial instrument which contain both equity and liability components in accordance with Ind AS 32- Financial 
Instruments: Presentation However, in accordance with SEBI Circulars (No.CIRlIMD/DFII14/20 16 dated October 20,2016 and No. CIRlIMDIDFII27/20 16 dated 29-Nov-2016) 
issued under the InvlT Regulations, the unit holders' funds have been classified as equity in order to comply with the mandatory requirements of Section H of Annexure A to the 
SEBI Circular dated October 20,2016 dealing with the minimum disclosures for key financial statements. In line with the above, the dividend payable to unit holders is 
recognised as liability when the same is approved by the Investment Manager. 

Estimates and assumptions 
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may 
change due to market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Trust. Such changes are rel1ected in the assumptions when they occur. 

i) Major maintenance expenses I Resurfacing expenses 
As per the Service Concession Agreements, the Group is obligated to cany out resurfacing of the roads under concession. Provision required for resurfacing expenses are 
measured at the present value of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end ortbe reporting period The discount rate used to determine the present value is 
a pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as finance cost, in the statement of profit and loss 
in accordance with Ind AS 37 "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets" 

ii) Fair value and disclosures 
SEBI Circulars issued under the InvlT Regulations require disclosures relating to net assets at fair value and total returns at fair value (refer Statement ornet assets at fair value 
and Statement of total returns at fair value) In estimating the fair value of road projects (which constitutes substantial portion of the total assets), the Group engages independent 
qualified external valuers to perform the valuation. The management works closely with the valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The 
management reports the valuation report and findings to the Board of the Investment Manager half yearly to explain the cause ofl1uctuations in the fair value of the road projects . 
The inputs to the valuation models are taken from observable markets where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values. 
Judgments include considerations of inputs such as Debt-equity ratio, WACC, Tax rates, Inflation rates, and uncertainties relating to COVID -19 etc. 

iii) Taxes 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable prolit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Signilicant 
management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits 
together with future tax plann ing strategies 

The subsidiary companies shall be claiming deduction under section 80-IA of the Income Tax Act, 1961. There are signilicant timing differences that result in deterred tax assetsl 
liabilities and which shall be reversing during the said tax holiday period Consequently, the Company has not recognized any deferred tax asset/liability on such non-taxable 
Income 

iv) Defined benefit plans (gratuity benefits) \ J 
A liability in respect of defined benefit plans is recognised in the balance sheet and is measured as the r. 1~i(m l value or(~\lcfi ned ben 
present value of the defined benetit obligation is based on expected future payments at the reporting d~J C. 'ca lc~W ~I~ 11 unIt by Ind 
expected future salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Refer note 40 fo r d (a il s 0 lhe , ey :;SlI l11 p 

these plans. 

reporting date, The 
!iji.1!tll1Jll~~~l6ld cru!l() 11 is given to 

Ie accounting tor 
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v) Amortization of intangible assets 

The intangible assets which are rcc(lgnized in the fonn nf Rig ht to charge users of the inrrastructure us~el3re amortized by lak ing proporLlonntc of actual rev 11 III! received for the 
year over Total Projected Revenue Irom project to Cost or Il1loligible assets. The estimation ortotal prujcC'l ion revenut! requIres si!l,nl fi cnn l a~sUln ption abollt expected growth rate 
and trallic projection for future All assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date. 

vi) Impairment of intangible assets 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable lIIT1(lIlnt. whIch is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. The recoverable amounts tor the intangible assets are based on value in use of the underIYl1lg pm.lectS The vallIe in use calculation is based on a DCF model. The 
cash tlows are derived from budgets I forecasts over the life of the projects 

Note 38: Revenue sharer Premium payment to NHAI 
(a) During the year ended March 31, 2021, the Group has paid/accrued Rs. 34,931.60 lakhs (March 31, 2020 Rs. 36,976.84 lakhs) as Revenue Share t() National Highways 
Authority of India ("NHAI") out of its toll collection in accordance with the Concession Agreements entered with NHAI. Income from Operations in the financials for the above 
periods is net otTlhe above Revenue Share to NHAI. 

(b) Subsidiary companies i.e. IRBTC and MVR have been awarded contracts on a DBFOT basis. As per the terms of the concession agreement, the group is obligated to pay 
NHAI as additional concession fee over the concession period. Accordingly, the liability for the entire amount of concession fee payable has been created and the corresponding 
amount is shown as Toll Collection Rights under the head Intangible Assets_ 

(c) Due to dispute on iiI deferred premium calculatlol1 ofprcvious years' between the concessionaire and the NHAI, the concessionaire has filed appeal with the Honorable High 
Court of Delhi for resolution ag-dll1SI the NHAI's dcrnnlld (l r advance prerni lilu ofRs. 16.98 crore in aggr.:gnte and interest on it. As per the interim order of the Division Bench of 
Honorable High Court. wi thdrawlI l ~ from Escrow Account are not pCnl1lued tIll final order in the matter. Currently, th~ rnalrcr is under appeal with the Honorable High Court. 
Hence, the premium payable to NHAI remams unpil id !lI1d has been considered under the current liability as on 31 st Murch 2021 . 
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Note 39 :Statement of relaled parly Itansaclions : 

i. Lisl of Related Parlies 

IRS Infrastructure Devclop.,~ Limited ( lRBIDL) (Spon,,,,) 

IRS lom,otrtlcture Pn •• t. limlt.d (IRSFL) ( l" • .sonent Man.gerl 

Modam Road Makers Private Lirnited (MRMPL) (Project Manager) (Up till 15th May 

i. Porties to the Fund 2019) 

IRS Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) (Project Manager) (we f. 16th May 
2019) 

IDS1 Tru.le.,.llIp Seme •• L,mned (lTSL) (Trwl.e) 

ii. Promo torsi Dir.olo .... ofthe p •. rtiCl$ '0 the iRS InvlT Fund 'petified in (I) .bove 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (Sponsor and 
IRB Infrastructure Modern Road Makers IDBI Trusteeship Servic", 

Particulars Private Limited Private Limited (Project Limited (Trustee of the 
Project Manager) 

(Investment Manager) Manager) IRB InvlT Fund) 

Mr Virendra D Mhaiskar IDBI Sank LImited 

Mrs. Deep.li V Mhaiskar I RB lnfrastructure IRB Infrastructure 
Life Insurance Corporation 

Promoters 
Developers Limited Developers Limited 

ui Indio 
Gener.tl lnsurance 

Virendra D Mhaiskar HUF 
("orporotion of Indl. 

Mr Virendra D Mhaiskar Mr Vinodkum.r Menon Mr Mukeshlal Gupta 
Mr J.Samuel Joseph ( w .• J 
25. 112019) 

Mrs Deepali V. Mhaiska; Mr Rajinder Pal Singh Mr Dhananjay K. Joshi Mr Ravishankar G Shinde 

Mr Mukeshlal Gupta 
Mr Sunil Tandon 

Mr. Rajpaul S Sharma Ms. Madhuri J Kulkarni 
(we f. 05 06 2020) 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing 
Mr Bajrang Lal Gupta (till Mrs.Arati Taskar ( we.f. Mr Salyajit Tripalhy ( we f. 

2405.2020) 2502.2020) 15.022020) 

Mr Chandrashekhar S Kaptan 
Mr Sumit Banerjee (till Mr Ajay P Deshmukh Ms. Padma Betai ( w •. f. 

31.072020) (till 26 03.2021) 19032020) 
Mr Sunil H Talati 

Directors Mr Sandeep J Shah ( w .• f. Mr G M Yadwadkar (till 
Mr. Sandeep J. Shah 

25.022020) 30102019 ) 

Mrs Heena Raja 
Mr Chandrashekhar S Mr Swapan Kumar Bagchi 

Kaptan l w.e f. 25 02.2020) (1111 03 03 2020 ) 

Mrs Heena Raja (till Mr Saurabh Chandra (till 
25022020) 2 1052019) 

MsSashikal. Muralidharan 
(n11 16 01.2020) 

MT. VI.oodkum.r Menon 
Mr Tushar Kawedia (resigned w.e f 2603.2021) 
Mr Urmil Shah (resigned w e f. 26.06 2019) 
Mr Rushabh Gandhi (w.e f. 31.03 2021) 

iii. Directors orSubsidiaries 
Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 

Mr Sumi! Banerjee 

Mr JitendraSharma(resignedwef 1610.2019) 

~ 
Mrs Heen. Raja (w eno 03 2019) 

I ~ "fl-. Mr. Om Prakash Singh (w.e f. 30.102019) 

'~~~~ :::> .\Cj ,-; r-I ell v'i;~' ~\~')... .... I 
~. rr-rJ}> -¥ 
~ " ~" .~""<-
~~ 



IRB In"IT Fund 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for year ended March 31, 2021 : 
Note 39 :Statement of I'clated party transactions: 

Rs in lakhs 
Sr. Particula rs Relation Year cnded Year ended March 
No. March 31, 2021 31,2020 

Relllicd l!ar'l:y transactions at the 
~earend 

1 Project Manager Fees 20,708.22 26,868.03 
MRMPL Project Manager - 3,879,25 
IRBIDL Project Manager 20,708.22 22,988 .78 

2 Investment Management fees 590.00 1,220.49 
paid (including indirect taxes) 

IRBFL Investment Manager 590.00 1,220.49 

3 Secured advance given 14,775.54 46,622.04 
IRBlDL Project Manager 14,775.54 46,622.04 

4 Secured advance recovered 15,203.53 46,194.06 
IRBlDL Project Manager 15,203.53 46,194.06 

5 Performance security repaid - 2,950.00 
MRMPL Project Manager - 2,950.00 

6 Interest income 361.51 418.15 
lRBlDL Project Manager 361.51 418.15 

7 Director sitting fees Director 17.94 24.53 
Mr.Vinodkumar Menon 3.42 4.39 
Mr.Tushar Kawedia 1.72 2.41 
Mr.Urmil Shah - 0.93 
Mr.Sumit Banarjee 4.70 6.85 
Mrs.Heena Raja 5.40 6.65 
Mr. Jitendra Sharma - 0.80 
Mr. Om prakash Singh 0.90 -
Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta 1.80 . 2.50 

8 Trusteeship Fees 29.50 29.50 
ITSL Trustee 29.50 29.50 

9 Distribution in the form of 6,188.86 8,725.23 
interest 
IRBIDL Sponsor 5,376.89 7,601.81 
Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 709.92 959.40 
Mrs. Decpali V. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 89.90 127.10 
Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing Director of Sponsor 9.28 8.60 
Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Director of Sponsor & - 8.68 

Project Manager 
Mr. Vinodkumar Menon Director of Investment 1.74 2.46 -Manager ~~~ 
Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta Director of Investment II Vfr~~ - IT ~-. 0.41 

~'? C I ~~'<.-)' Manager I ;:; (" ,... . 'P \ ~::~{'1 .~ 
~ ACC(lUnt.3nts J!! . 
* b 

, 
4/;MB~\ 
-" -



Rs. in lakhs 
Sr. Particulars Relation Year ended Yeal' ended Mat'ch 
No. March 31,2021 31,202,0 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee Director of Project 0.55 3.26 
Manager 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Director of Project - 1.23 
Manager 

Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh Di:rector of Project . 10.66 
Manager 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Director of Proj ect - 0.82 
Manager 

Mr. Sunil Talati Director of Sponsor & 0.58 0.20 
Project Manager 

Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaptan Director of Sponsor & - 0.60 
Project Manager 

10 Distribution in the form of 2,134.34 3,298.58 , 
return of capital 
IRBIDL Sponsor 1,854.10 2,873.86 
Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 244.80 362.70 
Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 31.00 48.05 
Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing Director of Sponsor 3.20 3.24 
Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Director of Sponsor & - 3.36 

Project Manager 

Mr. Vinodkumar Menon Director of Investment 0.60 0.93 
Manager 

Mr. Bajrang Lal Gupta Director of Investment . 0.16 
Manager 

Mr. Sumit Banerjee Director of Investment 0.44 1.22 
Manager 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Director of Project - 0.47 
Manager 

Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh Director of Project - 4.03 
Manager 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Director of Project - 0.31 
Manager 

Mr. Sunil Talati Director of Sponsor & 0.20 0.07 
Project Manager 

Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaptan Director of Sponsor & - 0.18 
Project Manager 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for year ended March 31,2021 : 
Note 39 :Statement of related party transactions: • 

Rs in !akhs 
Sr. Particulars Relation Ason Ason 
No. March 31, March 31, 

2021 2020 
Rel!lted (larty balances: 

1 Trade PllYlIbles 138.13 2,519.48 
IRB FL Investment Manager 138.13 816.06 
IRB!OL Project Manager - 1,703.42 

2 Secured Advance - 427.98 
IR BIDL Project Manager - 427.98 

3 Director s itting fees payable Director 0.05 1.27 
Mr. Vinodkumar Menon 0.05 0.23 
Mr. Tushar Kawedia - 0.14 
Mrs. Heena Raja - 0.45 
Mr. Bujmng La! Gupta - 0.45 
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ConsOlidated Finllncial Statements fOI ' the yeal' ended Mllrch 31, 2021 

Note 40: Gratuity and other post employment benefit plans 
(a) Defined contribution plan 
The following amount recognized as an expense in Statement of profit and loss on account of provident fi.lI1d and other 
fi.ll1ds. There arc no other obligations other than the contribution payable to the respective authorities. 

Contribution in defined plan 

(b) Defined benefit plan 

For the year 
ended March 31, 

2021 
123 .56 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year 
ended March 31, 

2020 
141.40 

The JTOUp has a LlIlrunded defined benelit gratuity plan. The gratuity plnn is governed by the Payment of Gratui ty Act, 
1972. Under the act, empl yee who has completed five years of service is entitled to specilic bellefi r. T he level or benefits 
provided d pends on the member's lenglh of service and salary at reti rement age. Every employee who Iws completed live 
years or morc of service gelS a gratuilY 011 departure at I S days sa lary ( I a~t drawn salary) lor each completed year or 
service as per the provision of the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. 

The following tables summarise the components of net benefit expense recognised in the Statement of ProJit and Loss 
and the funded status and amounts recognised in the balance sheet for the Gratuity plan. 

Statement of profit and I(lss 

Net employee benefit expense recognised in the employee cost 
Current service cost 
Past service cost 
Interest cost on benefit obligation 
(Gain) ! losses on settlement 

Net benefit expense recognised in statement of pr(lfit and loss (A) (before tax) 

Amount recorded in Other comprehensive income (OCI) 

Remeasurement during the year due to : 
Actuarial loss! (gain) arising from change in financial assumptions 
Actuarial loss! (gain) arising from change in Demographic Assumptions 

Actuarial loss! (gain) arising on account of experience changes 
Amount recognised in OCI during the year (8) (before tax) 

Total charge recognised during the year in statement of profit and loss and 
OCI (A+B) 

Reconciliation of net liability! asset 
Opening defined benefit liability! (assets) 

Additions on acquisition of projects 
Expense charged to profit & loss account 
Amount recognised in outside profit and loss statement 

Actual Benefits paid 

Closing net defined benefit liability! (asset) 

Balance sheet 
Benefit liability! (asset) 
Defined benefit obligation 
Fair value of plan assets 
Present value of unfunded obligations 

For the year For the year 
ended March 31, ended March 31, 

2021 2020 

18.82 20.98 

10.56 12.99 

29.38 33.97 

(\.96) 22.51 

6.36 (0.44) 

34.27 (36.86) 

38.68 (14.79) 

68.05 19.18 

177 174.89 

29.38 33.97 

38.68 (14.79) 

(6.77) (16.95) 

238.40 177.12 

238.40 177.12 

238.40 177.12 
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation arc as follows: 
Opening deli ned benefit obligation 

Additions on acquisition of projects 
Current service cost 
Past service cost 

Interest on deli ned benefit obligation 

Remeasurement during the period due to : 

Actuarial loss I (gain) arising from change in linancial assumptions 

Actuarial loss I (gain) arising 11'0111 change in Demographic Assumptions 

Actuarial loss I (gain) arising on account of experience changes 
Benefits paid 

Closing defined benefit obligation 

Net liability is bifurcated as follows: 
Current 

Non-current 

Net liability 

177 

18.82 

10.56 

(1.96 ) 

6.36 
34.27 

{6.77) 

238.40 

20.64 

217.76 

238.40 

174.89 

20.98 

12.99 

22.51 

(0.44) 

(36.86) 

( 16.95) 

177.12 

15.61 

161.51 

177.12 

The principal assumptions used in determining gnltuity benefit obligation for the Group's plans are shown below: 

Discount rate 

Expected rate of return on plan assets (p.a.) 

Salary escalation 

Mortality pre-retirement 

A quantitative analysis for significant assumption is as shown below: 

Indian g"atuity plan: 

Assumptions -~iscount rate 

Sensitivity Level 

Impact of Increase in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 

Impact of Decrease in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 

Assumptions - Salary Escalation rate 

Sensitivity Lever 

Impact on defined benefit obligation 

Impact of Increase in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 

Impact of Decrease in 50 bps on defined benefit obligation 

For the year For the year 
ended March 31, ended March 31, 

2021 2020 
6.25% - 6.50% 

N.A. 

8.50% 

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 

6.05% - 6.75% 
N.A. 

8.50% 

Indian Assured 
Lives Mortality 

(2012-14) 

For the year For the year 
ended March 31, ended March 31, 

2021 2020 

0.50% 

( 10.78) 

4.50 

0.50% 

10.78 

(10.11) 

0.50% 

(8.37) 

4.50 

0.50% 

6.35 

(6.00) 

The estimates of future salary increases, considered in actuarial valuation, take account of inflation, seniority, promotion 

and other relevant factors, such as supply and demand in the employment market. 

The gratuity liabilities of the Company are unfunded and hence there are no assets held to meet the liabilities. 

The following payments are expected contributions to the defined benefit plan in future years 
-------------------------

Within the next 12 months (next annual reporting period) 

Between 2 and 5 years 

Between 6 and 10 years 

Total expected payments 

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit plan obligation at the end of 
the reporting period 

For the year 
ended March 31, 

2021 
20.64 

75.38 

85 .51 

181.54 

9.49 -10 .05 years 

For the year 
ended March 31, 

2020 
15.61 

53.46 

66.49 

135.56 

9.07 -9.94 years 
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Note 41 : Distribution made 

Distributed during the year as 
Interest 

Return on capital 

Note 42: Income tax 

The major components of income tax expense for the year ended March 3 I, 2021 and March 31, 2020 are: 

CUrrent income tax: 
Current income tax charge 
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous year 

OefelTcd tax: 
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences 
Reversal of temporary differences 

I ncome tax expense reported in the state~ .. t ~f profit or loss 

For the yea,' 
ended March 31, 

2021 

33,66900 
11,610.00 
45,279.00 

For the year 
ended Manh 31, 

2021 

(1.85) 

(1.85) 

Reconciliation of tax expenses and the accounting of profit multiplied by Indian domestic tax rate for March 31,2021 and March 31, 2020 are: 

Profit/(loss) before tax 

Tax rate 
Expected income tax at India's statutory rate 
Impact of exemption uls 10(23FC) of the Income Tax Act, 1961 available to the Trust 

MA T liability on book profit 

Deferred tax 
I ncome tax expense reported in the sutement of profit and loss 

Note 43: 

For the year 
ended March 31, 

2021 

18,082 
25.47% 

(4,605.56) 

4,605 .56 
(1,85) 

(1.85) 

lRs in Lakils) 
For the year 

ended Ma,'ch 31, 
2020 

47,601.00 

17,995.50 
65,596.50 

(Rs, in Lakhs) 

For the year 
ended Ma rch 31 , 

2020 

10,05 

2.69 
12.74 

(Rs. in Lakhs) 

For the year 
ended March 31, 

2020 

17,282.68 
25.47% 

(4,40 I. 90) 

4,401.90 
10.05 

2.69 
12.74 

The Indian Parliament has approved the Code on Social Security, 2020 which would impact the contributions by the company towards Provident Fund and Gratuity. 
The Ministry of Labour and Employment has released draft rules for the Code on Social Security, 2020 on November 13,2020, and has invited suggestions from 
stakeholders which are under active consideration by the Ministry. The Group will assess the impact and its evaluation once the subject rules are notified and will 
give appropriate impact in its financial statements in the period in which, the Code becomes effective and the related rules to determine the financial impact are 
published. 

Note 44: Estimation of uncertainties relating to the global health pandemic from COVIO-19 

The outbreak of oronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic globally and in India has caused signilicant disturbance and slowdown or economic activity. As pel' the 
direc tions of the Ministry of Road Transport & Highways (MoRTH)! National Highway AUlhority of India (NHAJ), in order to follow MHA guidelines abollt 
commercia l and private establishment in the wake of OV ID-19 epidemic in thc country. operations at the toll pla:z.a of the sl,lbsidiary complll1ies were closed down 
w.e. f. March 26, 2020. The toll operations were resumed from April 20, 2020 by ensuring compliance with preventive measures in ternlS of guidelinesl instructions 
issue by Government of India to contain spread of COVID-l 9. 

Due to this, traffic for the toll road has been impacted during the first half of Financial year 2020-21. In accordance with the Concession Agreement and NHAI 
Policy no. 8.3.33/2020 and 8 4.20/2020 dated May 26, 2020, the subsidiary companies are eligible for extension of concession period with NHAI towards loss of 
revenue due to COVID-19 pandemic situation and NHAI is also extending CO VID- 19 loan to the Concessionaire ror shortfall in cash flow. 

/ .. ' 

Considering the uncertainties involved in estimating the impact of this pandemic, the f~ urc'i 1 R~~I , oil.t lis lilndemic ma 
date of approval of these consolidated financial statements, and this will continue to be i ;lonitor~ il\ futllrelpcriod~. 

estimated as on the 
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Note 45: Previous year cOll1paratives 

Previous year's ngures have been regrouped/redassilled, wherever necessary, to confirm to current year' s classitication. 

Note 46 : Subsequent events 

The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager have approved 4th Distribution of Rs, 2 .50 per unit which comprises of Rs . 1.70 per unit as interest and Re. 0.80 
per unit as eturn of capital in their meeting held on May 15, 2021. 

As per our report of eve.n date 

For Suresh Surana and associates LLP 
Chartered Accountants ....-::::::=:::::. ..... 
Firnl'S Reg no. 121750W/W-100010 

R',"~ 
Partner 

Membership no : 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 15,2021 

Signature to Note 1 to 46 

For and on behal f of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investmc:nt Manager of IRB InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

CEO & Wholetime Director 

DIN: 03075345 

[,..v~v'" 

~, 
Rushabh G andhi 

hierFinoncial O fliccr 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 15,2021 

Sunil Tandon 

Director 

DIN : 00874257 

~ 
~~~ 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



Suresh Suralla & ssociates LLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

!:Ilil f-loCH, 13~lkI1IJW,11 

2 2q i'~,'1 illl,HI Poillt 

Mumi),-I; ·toO 021. india 

r ; ')1 (22) )2i~7 SilU 

l'111:1i1r.:; :_t)~jCJ - ~.~(; soc- i,ltC<';,COlll \VV'J\'\I C:'~-l- (l(~soci~lt('s.ron 1 

LLPld(':J!ilyi'-jc flAl3 ISO') 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

To, 
The Unit holders of IRB InvlT Fund 

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying standalone financial statements of IRB InvlT Fund ("the Fund"), 
which comprise the Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2021, the Statement of Profit and Loss including the 
Other Comprehensive Income, the Statement of Changes in Unit Holders' Equity and the Statement of 
Cash Flows for the year then ended and the Statement of Net Assets at fair value as at March 31, 
2021 and the Statement of Total Returns at fair value and the Statement of Net Distributable Cash 
Flows ('NDCFs') for the year then ended, and notes to the standalone financial statements including a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as 
"the standalone financial statements"). 

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, the 
standalone financial statements give the information required by the Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to time including any 
guidelines and circulars issued thereunder in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in the Rule 
2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rule, 2015 and other accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of the Fund as at March 31, 2021, its profit including 
other comprehensive income, movement of the unit holders' funds and its cash flows for the year 
ended March 31, 2021, its net assets at fair value as at March 31, 2021, its total returns at fair value 
and the net distributable cash flows for the year ended on that date. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit of the standalone financial statements in accordance with the Standards on 
Auditing (SAs) issued by Institute of Chartered Accountants of India ("ICAI"). Our responsibilities under 
those Standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Fund in accordance with the Code of Ethics 
issued by the ICAI and we have fulfilled our other ethical respo . . . , s in accordance with the ICAl's 
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Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion on the standalone financial statements. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the standalone financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the standalone financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have determined the matters described 
below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report. 

Sr.No. Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the key audit 
matter 

1 Assessing Impairment of investments and Our audit procedures included the 
loans in subsidiary companies (note 3.09, 4.1, following: 
4.2 and 5.4) 

As at March 31, 2021, the carrying values of 
Fund's investment in subsidiaries amounted to 
Rs.226,936.48 Lakhs. Further, the Fund has 
granted loans to its subsidiaries amounting to 
Rs.424,761.90 Lakhs. 

Management reviews regularly whether there are 
any indicators of impairment of such investments/ 
loans by reference to the requirements under Ind -
AS. Management performs its impairment 
assessment by comparing the carrying value of 
these investments/ loans made to their 
recoverable amount to determine whether 
impairment needs to be recognized. 

For impairment testing, value in use has been 
determined by forecasting and discounting future 
cash flows of subsidiary companies. Further, the 
value in use is highly sensitive to changes in 
critical variable used for forecasting the future 
cash flows including traffic projection for revenues -
and discounting rate. The determination of the 
recoverable amount from subsidiary companies 
involves significant judgment and accordingly, the 
evaluation of impairment of investments/loans in 
subsidiary companies has been determined as a 
key audit matter. -

-

Assessed the appropriateness of 
the Fund's valuation methodology 
applied in determining the 
recoverable amount. In making 
this assessment, we also 
evaluated the objectivity, 
independence and competency of 
specialists involved in the 
process; 

Assessed the assumptions 
around the key drivers of the cash 
flow forecasts, discount rates, 
revenue projection based on the 
independent experts traffic study 
report, etc. by management and 
independent valuer, including 
considerations due to current 
economic and market conditions 
including effects of COV/D-19 
pandemic; 

Assessed the appropriateness of 
the weighted average cost of 
capital used in the determining 
recoverable amount by engaging 
valuation expert; 

Discussed/Evaluated potential 
changes in key drivers as 
compared to previous year / 
actual performance with 
management in order to evaluate 
whether the inputs and 
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Computation and disclosures as prescribed 
in the InvlT regulations relating to Statement 
of Net Assets and Total Returns at Fair Value 

(as described in note 30 and in Statement of Net 
assets at fair value and Statement of total returns 
at fair value of the standalone financial 
statements) 

As per the provisions of InvlT Regulations, the 
Fund is required to disclose Statement of Net 
Assets at Fair Value and Statement of Total 
Returns at Fair Value which requires fair 
valuation of assets. For this purpose, fair value is 
determined by forecasting and discounting future 
cash flows. The inputs to the valuation models 
are taken from observable markets where 
possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree 
of judgement is required in establishing fair 
values. Judgements include considerations of 
inputs such as WACC, Tax rates, Inflation rates 
etc. 

Accordingly, the aforementioned computation 
and disclosures are determined to be a key audit 
matter in our audit of the standalone financial 
statements. 

Chartered Acc.ountants 

assumptions used in the cash flow 
forecasts were suitable, including 
considerations due to current 
economic and market conditions 
including effects of COVID- 19 
pandemic. 

Assessed the recoverable value 
headroom by performing 
sensitivity analysis of key 
assumptions used. 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy 
of the model. 

As regards loans granted to 
subsidiary companies, we have 
obtained and considered 
management evaluations of 
recoverability of loans granted to 
its subsidia com anies. 

Our audit procedures include the 
following-

Read the requirements of SEBI InvlT 
regulations for disclosures relating to 
Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value 
and Statement of Total Returns at Fair 
Value. 

Assessed the appropriateness of 
independent valuer's and 
management's valuation methodology 
applied in determining the fair values. 

Tested controls implemented by 
management to determine inputs for 
fair valuation as well as assumptions 
used in the fair valuation. 

We involved valuation specialists to: 

a) Assess the valuation reports issued 
by the independent valuer engaged 
by the management and compared 
key property related data used as 
input with actual data. 

b) Assess the key assumptions 
included in the cash flow forecasts 
b manaqement and inde endent 
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valuer, including considerations due 
to current economic and market 
conditions including effects of 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

c) Discussed changes in key drivers as 
compared to actual performance 
with management in order to 
evaluate whether the in puts and 
assumptions used in the valuation 
models by management and 
independent valuer were 
reasonable, including 
considerations due to current 
economic and market conditions 
including effects of COVID-19 
pandemic. 

Tested the arithmetical accuracy of 
computation in the Statement of Net 
Assets and Total Returns at Fair Value 

Read/Assessed the disclosures in the 
standalone financial statements for 
compliance with the relevant 
requirements of InvlT Regulations. 

3 Related party transactions and disclosures Our audit procedures, included the 
(as described in note 22 of the standalone following: 
financial statements) 

The Fund has undertaken transactions with its 
related parties in the normal course of business. 
These include making new loans to SPVs, 
interest on such loans, fees for services provided 
by related parties to Fund etc. as disclosed in 
Note 22 of the standalone financial statements. 

We identified the accuracy and completeness of 
related party transactions and its disclosure as 
set out in respective notes to the standalone 
financial statements as a key audit matter due to 
the significance of transactions with related 
parties during the year ended March 31,2021 and 
regulatory compliance thereon. 

- Obtained, read and assessed the Fund's 
policies, processes and procedures in 
respect of identifying related parties, 
evaluation of arm's length, obtaining 
necessary approvals, recording and 
disclosure of related party transactions, 
including compliance of transactions and 
disclosures in accordance with InvlT 
regulations. 

- We tested, on a sample basis, related 
party transactions with the underlying 
contracts and other supporting 
documents for appropriate authorization 
and approval for such transactions. 

- We read minutes of Unit holder 
meetings, Board and its relevant 
committee meetings and minutes of 
meetings of those charged with 
governance of the Manager in 

//". ~ ~ connection with transactions with 
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related parties affected durin 9 the year 
and Fund's assessment of related party 
transactions being in the ordinary 
course of business at arm's length and 
in accordance with the InvlT 
regulations. 

- Assessed and tested the disclosures 
made in accordance with the 
requirements of Ind AS and InvlT 
regulations. 

Information Other than the Standalone Financial Statements and Auditor's Report Thereon 

The management of IRS Infrastructure Private Limited ("Investment Manager") is responsible for the 
preparation of the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Management Discussion and Analysis, Investment Manager's Report including Annexures to Investment 
Manager's Report and Investment Manager's Information, but does not include the standalone financial 
statements and our auditor's report thereon. 

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
standalone financial statements or our knowledge obtained during the course of our audit or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Management's Responsibility for the Standalone Financial Statements 

The Management of IRS Infrastructure Private Limited (,Investment Manager'), is responsible for the 
preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position 
as at March 31, 2021, financial performance including other comprehensive income, movement of the unit 
holders' funds and cash flows for the year ended March 31, 2021, its net assets at fair value as at March 
31, 2021, its total returns at fair value and the net distributable cash flows of the Fund for the year ended 
March 31, 2021, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in India, including the 
Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended read with the Securities and 
Exchange Soard of India (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 as amended from time to 
time including any guidelines and circulars issued thereunder (together referred to as the "lnvlT 
Regulations"). This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in 
accordance with the provisions InvlT Regulations for safeguarding of the assets of the FUnd and for 
preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate 
accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; for ensuring the 
accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of the 
financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. & A 
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In preparing the standalone financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Fund's 
ability to continue as a going concern , disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going c oncern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate th e Fund or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

The Investment Manager is also responsible for overseeing the Fund's financial reporting process. 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of Standalone Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and 
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal financial controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of such controls. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's 'use of the going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to 
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Fund's ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up 
to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Fund to 
cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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planning the scope of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work; and (ii) to evaluate the 
effect of any identified misstatements in the standalone financial statements. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing ·of the audit and significant audit findihgs, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related 
safeguards. 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements of the current period and are 
therefore, the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Based on our audit and as required by InvlT Regulations, we report that: 

a) We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and 
belief were necessary for the purpose of our audit; 

b) The balance sheet, and statement of profit and loss including other comprehensive income dealt 
with by this report are in agreement with the books of account of the Fund; and 

c) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) and/or any addendum thereto as defined in Rule 2(1 )(a) of the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended. 

FOR SURESH SURANA & ASSOCIATES LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
Firm's Reg. No. 121750W/w-10001 

(Rame~) 
Partner 
Membership No.:102306 
UDIN: 211 02306AAAAB08034 
Place: Mumbai 

Dated: 15 May 2021 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2021 

I ASSETS 
(1) Non-current assets 

Financial assets 

i) Investments 
ii) Loans 

Total non-current assets 

(2) Current assets 

Financial assets 

i) Investments 
ii) Cash and cash equivalents 

Particulars 

iii) Bank balance other than (ii) above 
iv) Loans 

v) Other financial assets 
Current tax assets (net) 
Other cu rrent assets 

Total current assets 

Total Assets 

II EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
Equity 

Unit capital 
Other equity 

Total unit holder's equity 

(1) Non-current liabilities 

Financial liabilities 
Borrowings 

Total non- current liabilities 

(2) Current liabilities 

Financial liabilities 

i) Trade payables 

a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 
b) total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro enterprises and 

small enterprises 
ii) Other financial liabilities 

Other current liabilities 

Total current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Summary of significant accounting poliCies 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 
For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration Number: 12U50W/W-1 

.. m~~~ partn!:~ 
Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 15, 2021 

Note No. 

4 

4.1 
4.2 

5 
5.1 

5.2 

5.3 
5.4 

5.5 

6 
7 

8 
9 

10 

11.1 

11.2 
12 

3 

As at 

March 31, 2021 

226,936.48 
389,920.33 
616,856.81 

14,705.99 

3,538.39 
44.04 

35,177.64 
17,649.67 

7.32 
0.29 

71,123.34 

687,980.15 

531,157.60 

9,997.81 
541,155.41 

141,171.72 
141,171.72 

9.42 

153.37 

5,479.31 
10.92 

5,653.02 

146,824.74 

687,980.15 

( Rs. In lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2020 

226,936.48 
387,024.37 
613,960.85 

5,348.67 
9,578.44 

34.05 
56,262.63 

4,402.40 

35 .34 
0.28 

75,661.81 

689,622.66 

542,767.60 

(1,787.04) 
540,980.56 

140,116.13 
140,116.13 

8.20 

834.98 

7,655.39 

27.40 
8,525.97 

148.642.10 

689, 622.66 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Limited 

(Investment Manager of IRB InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

CEO & Wholetime Director 
DIN: 03075345 

~~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 
Chief Financial Offlcer 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 15,2021 

[5--~ 
~ 

Sunil Tandon 
Director 

DIN: 00874257 

Swapna Vengurlekar 
Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Statement of Profit and Loss for the year ended March 31,2021 

Income 

Revenue from operations 
Other income 

TOTAL INCOME 

Expenses 
Finance costs 
Investment Manager fees 

Annual listing fees 

Trustee fees 
Other expenses 
TOTAL EXPENSES 

Profit before tax 

Tax expenses 
Current tax 
Deferred tax 
TOTAL TAX EXPENSES 

Profit for the year (A) 

Particulars 

Other comprehensive income/(Ioss) for the year (net of tax) (B) 
Total comprehensive loss for the year, net of tax: (A+B) 

Earnings per unit 

Basic 

Diluted 

Summary of significant accounting policies 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates lLP 
Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration Number: 1217S0W/W 

",m.~ 
Partner 
Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 15, 2021 

Note No. 

13 
14 

15 

16 

17 

3 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 

57,562.76 
338.99 

57.901.75 

11,692.39 
590.00 

60.81 
29.50 
75.20 

12,447.90 

45,453.85 

45,453.85 

45,453.85 

7.83 

7.83 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

For the year ended 

March 31, ~020 

59,426.29 
628.16 

60,054.45 

12,544.91 
1,220.49 

60.81 
29.50 

93.64 
13,949.35 

46.105.10 

46,105.10 

46,105.10 

7.94 

7.94 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private limited 
(Investment Manager of IRB InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 
CEO & Wholetime Director 

DIN: 03075345 

,;;-: 

'V-~ 
Rushabh Gandhi 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Mumbai 
Date: May 15, 2021 

Sunil Tandon 
Director 

DIN: 00874257 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 
Membership No: A32376 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Statement of changes in unit holders equity for the year ended March 31,2021 

a. Unit Capital 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

Less: Capital reduction during the year (Refer Note 27 )* 

At the end of the year 

Number of units 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

At the end of the year 

b. Initial settlement amount 

At the beginning of the year 

Received during the year 

At the end of the year 

c. Other Equity 

At the beginning of the year 

Profit / (loss) for the year 

Interest distribution (Refer Note 27 ) * 
At the end of the year 

As at 

March 31, 2021 

542,767.50 

(11,610.00) 

531,157.50 

580,500,000 

580,500,000 

0.10 

0.10 

(1,787.04) 

45,453.85 

(33,669.00) 

9,997.81 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 

March 31, 2020 

560,763.00 

(17,995.50) 

542,767.50 

580,500,000 

580,500,000 

0.10 

0.10 

(291.14) 

46,105.10 

(47,601.00) 

(1,787.04) 

* Pertains to the distributions made during the financial year along with the distribution related to the last quarter of FY 2019·20 and does 

not include the distribution relating to the last quarter of FY 2020-21 which will be paid after March 31, 2021. 

Summary of significant accounting policies (refer note no.3) 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

R'm~ part;:~P~ 
Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 15, 2021 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private limited 

(Investment Manager of IRB InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

CEO & Wholetime Director 

DIN : 03075345 

~, 
Rushabh Gandhi 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 15, 2021 

Sunil Tandon 

Director 

DIN: 00874257 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB InvlT Fund 

DISCLOSURES PURSUANT TO SEBI CIRCULARS 

(SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/114/2016 dated 20-0ct-2016 and No. CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated 29-Nov-2016 

A. Statement of Net Asset at Fair Value 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

As at March 31, 2021 As at March 31, 2020 

Particulars Book value Fair value Book value Fair value 

A. Assets 687,980.15 754,911.34 689,622.66 657,419.80 

B. Liabilities (at book value) 146,824.74 146,824.74 148,642.10 148,642.10 

C. Net Assets (A-B) 541,155.42 608,086.60 540,980.56 508,777.70 

D. Number of units (in Lakhs) 5,805.00 5,805.00 5,805.00 5,805.00 

E. NAV (C/O) (Amount In RS.) 93.22 104.75 93.19 87.64* 

B. Statement of total returns at Fair Value 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

Particulars For the year ended March 31, 2021 For the year ended Ma rch 31, 2020 

Total Comprehensive Income 
45,453.85 46,105.10 

(As per the Statement of Profit and Loss) 

Add/(Iess) : Other Changes in Fair Value 66,931.19 (32,202.86) 

ComprehensIve Income- 112,385.04 13,902.24 

Notes: 

Fair value of assets as at March 31, 2021 and other changes In fair value for the year then ended as disclosed In the above tables are derived based on the fair 

valuation reports issued by the independent valuer appointed under Regulation 21 of the InvlT Regulations. 

* During the previous year, the fair value of investments in Project SPV's are computed on the basis of the fair value of the underlying Toll Collection Rights as at 

March 31,2020 along with the book values of other assets and liabilities accounted in respective Project SPV's financial statements as at March 31, 2020. The 

independent valuer has considered the effect of COVID-19 till the end of concession period for the purpose of fair valuation. Further, the Trust has performed 

sensitivity analysis on the assumptions used and based on the current estimates expects the carrying amount ofthese assets as reflected in the balance sheet as at 31 

March 2020 will be recovered . Management believes that impact of COVID 19 is temporary and its impact will not be there till the end of concession agreement. 

Considering the impact of Covid -19 being transient, the fair value of the asset would be Rs.698,090 lakhs which is higher than book value. Hence, no impairment in 

the value of investments is considered necessary in the financial results at this stage. The management will continue to monitor and assess Impact of economic 

conditions arising due to COVID 19. The impact of COVID 19 may differ from that expected at the date of approval of these standalone financial statement. 

As per our report of even date 

For Suresh Surana & Associates LlP 

Chartered Accountants 

Firm's Registration Number: 121750W/ W-100010 
~=~ 

~~ 
Romes1J 

Partner 

Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbai 

Date: May 15, 2021 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private limited 

(Investment Manager of IRB InvlT Fund) 

Vinod Kumar Menon 

CEO & Wholetime Director 

DIN : 03075345 

Rushabh Gandhi 

Ch ief Financial Officer 

Place: 1VIumbai 

Date: May 15, 2021 

Sunil Tandon 

Director 

DIN: 00874257 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Cash flow statement for the year ended March 31, 2021 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Particulars 
For year ended For year ended 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

Cash flow from operating activities 

Profit before tax 45,453.85 46,105.10 

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows: 

Finance costs 11,692.39 12,544.91 

Change In fair value on investments 142.20 (295 .75) 

Profll on sale of investments (452.44) (282.08) 

Interest income on 

- fixed deposits (26.64) (50.33) 

Transaction cost on loan given 26.53 23.51 

Operating profit!(loss) before working capital changes 56,835.89 58,045.36 

Movement in working capital: 

Decrease/ (lncrease) in others financial assets (13,171.07) (4,402.40) 

Decrease/(increase) In other assets (0.01) (0.28) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables (680.39) 520.25 

Increase/(decrease) In 4Tj
355 0 69 TdTd
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IRB InvlT Fund 

Cash flow statement for the year ended March 31, 2021 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

Particular long term borrowing 

1- Apr- 2019 150,103.45 

Cash flow 

- Interest ( ll,432.54) 

- Net of proceeds and repayment of long term borrowings (3,478.35) 

Accrual for the year 12,544.91 

31 - Mar - 2020 147,737.47 

Cash flow 

-Interest (8,589.61) 

- Net of proceeds a nd repayment of long term borrowings (4,309.46) 

Accrual for the year 11,692.39 

31 - Mar - 2021 146,530.80 

4. The cash flow statement has been prepared under Indirect Method as per Ind AS 7 "Statement of Cash Flows" as notified under section 133 of the 

Companies Act, 2013. 

As per our report of even date 

For 5uresh Surana & Associates UP 

",,,,,~I~ partn!~' 
Membership No.: 102306 

Place: Mumbal 

Date : May 15, 2021 

For and on behalf of IRB Infrastructure Private Umited 

(investment Manager of IRB InvlT Fund) 

VI nod Kumar Menon 

CEO & Wholetime Director 

DIN : 03075345 

~ 
~, 
Rushabh Gandhi 

Chief Financial Officer 

Place: Mumbai 

Date : May 15, 2021 

Sunil Tandon 

Director 

DIN: 00874257 

Swapna Vengurlekar 

Company Secretary 

Membership No: A32376 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCFs) 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Sr. No. Particulars 
Year ended Year ended 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

1 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Interest (Refer note 1) 44,391 .68 59,426.29 

2 Cash flows received from Project SPVs in the form of Dividend - -

Any other income accruing at the Trust level and not captured above, 
3 including but not limited to interesVreturn on surplus cash invested by the 338.99 628.16 

Trust (Refer note 2) 

4 
Cash flows received from the project SPVs towards the repayment of the 22,393.89 18,054.58 
debt issued to the Project SPVs by the Trust (Refer note 2) 

5 Total cash inflow at the Trust level (A) 67,124.56 78,109.03 

Less: 

Any payment of fees. interest and expense incurred at the Trust level, 
6 including but not limited to the fees of the Investment Manager (Refer note (9,355.06) (13,949.35) 

3) 

7 Income tax (if applicable) at the Standalone Trust Level - -

8 Repayment of external debt (4,309.46) (3,478.35) 

9 Tota l cash outflows I retention at the Trust level (B) (13,664.52) (17,427.70) 

10 Net Distributable Cash Flows (C) = (A+B) 53,460.04 60,681.33 

Note: 

1) Excludes interest due but not received ofRs.13, 171.08 lakhs for the year ended March 31, 2021. 

2) Netted - off with long-term unsecured loan given to project SPY's. (Refer note 22) 

3) Excludes interest ofRs. 4,119.45 (Previous year Rs. Nil) which was not paid on account of moratorium availed as per RBI circular dated 
March 27,2020 and May 22, 2020. 



IRB InvIT Fund 

Summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information for the year ended March 31, 2021 

1 Nature of Operations 

The IRE InvIT Fund (the "Fund" / "Trust") is a trust constituted by "The Indenture of Trust" dated October 16,2015 
registered under the Registration Act, 1908 and under the Securities Exchange Board of India (Infrastructure 
Investment Trust) Regulations, 2014. The Fund is settled by the Sponsor, IRE Infrastructure Developers Limited 
("IRE" or the "Sponsor"), an infrastructure development company in India. The Trustee to the Fund is IDBI 
Trusteeship Services Limited (the "Trustee") and Investment manager for the Fund is IRE Infrastructure Private 
Limited (the "Investment Manager"). 

The Fund has been formed to invest in infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in India. All ofthe 
Fund's road projects are implemented and held through special purpose vehicles ("Project SPVs") 

Sr. No. Project Spy Name 

1 IRE Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTL) 

2 IRE Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (IIDTL) 

3 IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAAIL) 

4 IRE Pathankot Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) 

5 IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) 

6 IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) 

7 M.V.R Infrastructure and Tollways Limited (MITL) 

The registered office of the Investment Manager is IRB Complex, Chandivali Farm, Chandivali village, Andheri- East, 
Mumbai-4000n. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with resolution passed by the board of directors ofthe 
Investment manager on May 15,2021. 

2 Basis of preparation 

The financial statements of IRB InvIT Fund have been prepared in accordance with Indian Accounting Standards as 
defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended, prescribed under 
Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 ("Ind AS") read with SEBI (Infrastructure Investment Trusts) Regulations, 
2014, as amended and the circulars issued thereunder ("InvIT Regulations") and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India. 

The financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and under the historical cost convention except for 
certain financial assets and liabilities (refer accounting policy regarding financial instruments) which have been 
measured at fair value. 

The financial statements are presented in Indian Rupee ('INR') which is the functional currency of the Fund and all 
values are rounded to the nearest lakhs, except when otherwise indicated. Wherever the amount represented '0' (zero) 
construes value less than Rupees five hundred. 

3 Summary of significant accounting policies 

3.01 Use of estimates 



3.02 Current versus non-current classification 

The Fund presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on cutTent/ non-current classification. 
An asset is treated as current when it is: 
- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in normal operating cycle 
- Held primarily for the purpose of trading 
- Expected to be realised within twelve months after the I'eporting period, or 
- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period. 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 

A liability is current when: 
- It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle 
- It is held primarily for the purpose oftrading 
- It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or 
- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting 
period. 

All other liabilities are classified as non-current. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as non-current assets and liabilities. 
The operating cycle is the time between the acquisition of assets for processing and their realisation in cash and cash 
equivalents. The Fund has identified twelve months as its operating cycle. 

3.03 Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Fund and the revenue 
can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 
consideration received or receivable, taking into account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes or 
duties collected on behalf of the government. 

The specific recognition criteria described below must also be met before revenue is recognised: 

Interest income: 

Revenue is recognised on a time proportion basis taking into account the amount outstanding and the rates applicable. 
For all debt instruments measured either at amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income, interest 
income is recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR). 

Dividends: 

Revenue is recognised when the Fund's right to receive the payment is established, which is generally when 
shareholders approve the dividend. 

3.04 Taxes 

Current income tax 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date in the countries where the Fund operates and generates taxable income. 
Current income tax relating to items recognised outside the Statement of Profit and Loss is recognised outside the 
Statement of Profit and Loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity). Current tax items are recognised in 
correlation to the underlying transaction either in OCI or directly in equity. Management periodically evaluates 
positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to 
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 



Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 
li abilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the reporting date. 

Deferred \[Ix linbil ilics are recognised tor allt:u:a.blc temporary differences, except: 
- Wben the dclcrrcd lax liabl.lity arises from the in itial recogni tion of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transactiOll 
tbat is not a business combinati on and at the lime of (he u'al]saelion, affects neither the accounting profit n .I' taxable 
profit or loss. 

- In respect of 'l!l)(ablc temporary differences a.'lsoeiated with investments In subsidiaries, when the timing of the 
reversal of the tempOI'a!'y dinercl1ces can be oontrolled and it is probable that the temporary differences wi ll not reverse 
In the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets arc recogni sed for all deducti ble temporary dirtcrenccs, lhe C¥I'Y forward of unused (ax c redi ts and 
any unused lax losses. Deferred tax assets are rccogll ised (0 the exlCDt that it is probable that taxable pI' fit will be 
avail able against which the deducti bJ lernp(lr~lIY di fferences, and Lhe c~ lTy 'IOl'ward f unused tax credits and unused 
tax losses can be utilised, except: 

- When the deferred tax asset relating to tho deductib le temporary dil1brenoe arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business com bi nation and, at the time of the transaction affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss. 

The ~l11yillg amount or defim ed tax asscts is reviewed at ca h rcporiing date Dnd reduced to the ex tenl thal it is no 
longer probablc (haL suflieientlaxable profit wil l be nvailabl to allow all 01' part on he del'orred tax asset to be util ised. 
Unrecognised deferred tax assets ar re-assessed (It each reporting dale and arc recognised to Ule extent that it h:1S 
become probable thut futuro ta.xable profi ts wi ll allow the deferred t •. x asset to be recovered. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is 
realised or the liability is setll ed based on tax rates (and tax laws) Ulat have been enacted or substanli vely enacted at 
the reporting date. 

Deferred tax relating (0 items recognised outs ide sttl tement or profit and loss is recognised outside statement of profit 
and loss (either in other comprehensive income or in equity. Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the 
underlying lrollsacti n aither ill oel ur directly in equity. 

Defcrred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally enforceable l'ight exists to set off current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable enlily and the same taxation authority. 

Goods and service tax paid on acquisition of assets or on incurring expenses 

Expcllses and assets arc recogni sed net or the amount of goods and service tax paid, except: 
When [hc laX incurred Oil a purchase of asset or services is not recoverable from the tax authority, in which case, the 
lax paid is recognised (l part orthe cost of aoquisition ufthe asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable. 

When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of tax included. The net amount of tax recoverable from, or 
payable to, the tax authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the balance sheet. 

3.05 Borrowing costs 

Borrowing c sts cllrcctl1 attributable to the acquisition, constr1Jction or production of an asset lha( necessarily takes a 
substanti al period of time to get rcady fo r its intended llse r sa le are capitalised us part of the cost of Lhe asset. All 
other' borrowing costs uJ'e expcDscd in the peri d in which they oecllr. Rorrowillg costs consist of Interest and other 
costs that all entity incurs ill COll11ection with (he borrowing of fu nds. norrowi ng cost also incllldes cxc\1 ,mg 
dlITcrencesto the extent regarded as an adjustment LO the borrowing costs. 



3.06 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Fund has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that an ouUlow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obl igation and a 
reliable estimate can be made ofthe amount ofthe obligation. When the Fund expects some or all of a provision to be 
reimbursed, for example, under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recogni sed as a separate asset, but only 
when the reimbursement is virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is presented in the Statement of Profit 
and Loss net of any reimbursement. 
If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, 
when appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the 
passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

3.07 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

A con tingent li abillty is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or Jl0n-Occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Fund or a present 
obligation that is not recogni sed bccause it is not probabJe thal an outflow of resources will be required to settle Ule 
obligation. A contingent li ability also arises in exlremely rare cases where there is a liabili ty that cannot b recognised 
because it cannot be measured reli ably. The Fund does not recognise II conlingeoll iabllity but discloses its existence in 
the financial statements. 
A contingent assets is not recognised unless it becomes virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits will arise. 
When an inflow of economic benefits is probable, conti l1gent assets are disclosed in the financial statements. 
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. 

3.08 Financial instrument 

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity 
instrument of another entity. 

Financial assets 

Initial recognition and measurement 

All :financial assets arc recognised in iti ally at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not recorded at fair value 
lhrough Statement of Prom and Loss, directly attributable transaction cost to the acquisition of the financial asset. 
Purchases or sales of Iinancial assets that require deUvery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 
convention in the market place (regular way trades) are recognised on the trade date, I.e., the date that the Fund 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. 

Subsequent measurement 

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in following categories; 
- at amoliised cost 
- at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 
- at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) 



Financial Assets at amortised cost 

A '''naneial asset is measured althc tunorLised cosl if both the following conditions arc met: 
a) The asset is held wiU,in a business mode'l whose obj ective is to hold asset." for collecting conlraotual cash flows, and 
b) ontJ'acluul term s of Lbe assct give risc on spccii'ied dales to cnsl1 flows that arc solely payments of principal and 
interest (SPPI on the prinoipal amount outstanding. 

This category is the most relevant to the Fund. All the Loans and other receivables under financial assets (except 
Investment'» are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. 

After initial measurement such 'linDneinl assets ar subsequently measured at 8mol1ised cost using the effective interest 
rate (EIR) meth d. Amortised cost is calcu lated by taking into account any di scount or premium 011 acquisition and 
fees or costs that are an integral part of' the ElR . The losses arising from impairment arc recognised in the tutement or 
Profit and Loss. 

Financial Assets at Fair Value through Statement of Profit and Loss/Other comprehensive income 

AJI illve tments in scope of lnd AS 109 are measured at fair value. The Fund has investment ill Debt ori ented mutunl 
f'und which are held for trading, are classil1cd as at FYT PC. Tbe Fund makes such election on an insu'ument by 
instrument basis. The classificallol1 is made on initial recognition and is irrevocable. The gain! loss on sa le of 
investments are recognised in the StatemenL of Profit and Loss. 
Instruments included within the FVTPL. catego!,), are measured at fair value with all changes recognized in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss. 

Derecognition 

A financial asset (01' whcre applicable, a part of a 'fi nanoial asset or part of a the Fund of similar financial assets) is 
primarily del'ecognised (I.e. removed from the Fund's balance shcct) when: 
TIle rights to receive cash Dow from the asset have expired, or 
The · und bas transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
recelved calih Dows in lull wilhout malcrial dclay to a third party under a 'pass-through' arrangement; and either (a) the 
fund has (ransren'ed subSlantial ly all the risks and rewards of the asset, 0 1' (b) the Fund has neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all the risks and rewards oCthe asset, bUl has transferred control of the asset. 

When the Fund has transferred ils ri ghts to receive cash flows from an Ilsset or has entcred into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates ' if and to what extent it has retained the risks and rewords of own rship. When it has neither 
transferred nOr retained substanti ally all of Ule risks and rewards f Ih asset, nor transferred control of the asset the 
Fund continues to recognise the transferred assct to the extent of H,e Fund" continuing involvement. In that case the 
Fund also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liabilily ar mcaS1lred on a basis 
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Fund has retained. 

3.09 Impairment of assets 

Impairment of financial assets 

Expected credit losses are recognized for all financial assets subsequent to initial recognition other than financial assets 
in FVTPL category. 

For .fUl neial assets other than trade receivables, as per Ind AS 109, the Fund recognizes 12 month expected credit 
losses for nil originated or acquired lillsncial assets if at the reporting date the credit risk of the financial asset has not 
increased significantly since its initial recogni tion. The expect d credit losses are measured as lifetime expected credit 
losses if the credit risk on financial assets increases significantly since its initial recognition. 

The impairment losses and reversals are recognized in Statement of Profit and Loss. 



Impairment of non-financial assets 

The Fund assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any 
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Fund estimates the asset's recoverable 
amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-generating unit's (CGU) fair value less costs 
of disposal and its value in use. Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset unless the asset does not 
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or Fund's assets. When the carrying 
amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 

Financial liabilities 

Initial recognition and measurement 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate. 
Al1 financial liabilities are recognised initial1y at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net 
of directly attributable transaction costs. 
The Fund's financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts, 
financial guarantee contracts and derivative financial instruments. 

Subsequent measurement 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as 
held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes 
derivative financial instruments entered into by the Fund that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge 
relationships as defined by Ind AS 109. 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Loans and borrowings 

This is the category most relevant to the Fund. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 
the liabilities are de-recognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process. 
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit and loss. 

De-recognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When 
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantial1y modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is 
recognised in the statement of profit and loss. 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the standalone balance sheet if 
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis, to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 

3.10 Investment in subsidiaries 

Investments (equity instruments as wel1 as subordinate debt) in subsidiaries are carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the investment is assessed 
and written down immediately to its recoverable amount. On disposal of investments in subsidiaries, the difference 
between net disposal proceeds and carrying amounts are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 



3.11 Foreign currencies 

The Fund's financial statements are presented in INR, which is also the Fund's functional currency. The Fund does not 
have any foreign operation and has assessed the functional currency to be INR. 

Transactions and balances 

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by the Fund at their respective functional currency spot rates at 
the date the transaction first qualifies for recognition. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are translated at the functional currency spot rates of exchange at the reporting date. 

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. 

3.12 Fair value measurement 

The Fund measures financial instruments, such as, derivatives at fair value at each balance sheet date. 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the 
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: 
~ In the principal market for the asset or liability, or 
~ In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Fund. 

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when 
pricing the asset or liability, assuming thalmurket participants act in their eeonomic besl interest. 
A fair value measurement of a non-linancial asset takes into account a market parlioipant's ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would 
use the asset in its highest and best use. 
The Fund uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available 
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within 
the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole: 
~ Levell - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
~ Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
directly or indirectly observable 
~ Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is 
unobservable. 

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Fund determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 
The Fund's Management determines the policies and procedures for both recurring fair value measurement, such as 
derivative instruments and unquoted financial assets measured at fair value, and for non-recurring measurement, such 
as assets held for distribution in discontinued operations. 



At each reporting date, the Management analyses the movements in the values of assets and liabilities which are 
required to bc rcmeasured or re-assessed as per the Fund's accounting policies. For this analysis, the Managemcnt 
verities the major inputs applied in the latest valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation. to 
contracts and other relevant documents. 
The management also compares the change in the fair value of each asset and liability with relevant external sources to 
determine whether the change is reasonable. 
On an annual basis, the Management of Investment Manager presents the valuation results to the Audit Committee and 
the Fund's independent auditors. This includes a discussion of the major assumptions used in the valuations. 
For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Fund has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the 
nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above. 

This note summarises accounting policy for fair value. Other fair value related disclosures are given in the relevant 
notes. 

- Disclosures for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions (note 30 ) 

- Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost) (note 23 and 24 ) 

- Quantitative disclosure offair value measurement hierarchy (note 23 and 24 ) 

3.13 Contributed Equity 

Units are classified as equity. Incremental costs attributable to the issue of units are directly recorded in equity, net of 
tax. 

3.14 Distribution to unit holders 

The Fund recognises a liability to make cash distributions to unit holders when the distribution is authorised and a 
legal obligation has been created. As per the InvIT Regulations, a distribution is authorised when it is approved by the 
Board of Directors of the Investment Manager. A corresponding amount is recognised directly in equity. 

3.1S Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-term deposits with an 
original maturity of three months or less, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits, as 
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the Fund's cash 
management. 

3.16 Earnings Per Unit (EPU) 

Basic earnings per unit are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to unit holders by the weighted 
average number of units outstanding during the year. 

For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per unit, the weighted average number of units outstanding during the 
year are adjusted for the effects of all dilutive potential units. 

3.17 New pronouncements issued but not effective 

On March 24, 2021, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs ("MCA") through a notification, amended Schedule III of the 
Companies Act, 2013. The amendments revise Division I, II and III of Schedule III and are applicable from April I, 
2021. Certain key amendments relating to Division II which relate to companies whose financial statements are 
required to comply with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules 2015 are extensive. The Fund will evaluate 
the same to give effect to them as required by law, wherever applicable. 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 

Note 4 : Financial assets (Non-current) 
4.1 Investments 
A) Investments at cost 

Particulars 

Investments in equity instruments of subsidiaries (unqoated) 
510,842,000 (March 31,2020 - 510,842,000) equity shares of IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway 
Limited 
131,750,000 (March 31, 2020 - 131,750,000) equity shares of IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway 
Limited * 

198,120,003 (March 31, 2020 - 198,120,003) equity shares of IDAA Infrastructure Limited 

98,600,000 (March 31, 2020 - 98,600,000) equity shares of IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll 
Road Limited ** 
49,250,000 (March 31, 2020 - 49,250,000) equity shares IRB Taiegaon Amravati Tollway 
Limited 
155,500,002 (March 31, 2020 - 155,500,002) equity shares IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway 
Limited 
6,910,170 (March 31, 2020 - 6,910,170) equity shares M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways 
Limited 
Investment In equity instruments of related parties (unquoted) 

B) Investments at cost 
Investments in sub debt of subsidiaries (unguotedl 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited 
IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited 
IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited 
IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited 
Subordinated debt to related parties (interest free) 

Total non-current investments ( A + B ) 

* 67,192,500 equity shares have been pledged with banks for availing term loan. 

** 50,286,000 equity shares have been pledged with banks for availing term loan. 

Aggregate book value of quoted investments 
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments 

4.2 Loans 
(Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Loans to related parties ( Refer note 22) 
- interest bearing 
Less: Current maturities of loan to related parties 
Total- (A) 

(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Loans to related parties ( Refer note 22) 
- Interest bearing 
Less: Current maturities of loan to related parties 
Total- (8) 

Add : Unamortised transaction cost ( C) 
Total (A+B+C) 

As at 
March 31, 2021 

53,232.48 

13,175.00 

19,812.00 

9,909.00 

4,925.00 

15,550.00 

10,902.00 

127,505.48 

39,525.00 
29,581.00 
14,775.00 
15,550.00 
99,431.00 

226,936.48 

226,936.48 

330,347.81 
(3,910.93) 

326,436.88 

78,320.19 
(15,172.81) 
63,147.38 

336.07 
389,920.33 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2020 

53,232.48 

13,175.00 

19,812.00 

9,909.00 

4,925.00 

15,550.00 

10,902.00 

127,505.48 

39,525.00 
29,581.00 
14,775.00 
15,550.00 
99,431.00 

226,936.48 

348,049.38 
(17,701.57) 

330,347.81 

83,012.52 
(26.698.56) 
56,313.96 

362.60 
387,024.37 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 

Note 5 : Financial assets (current) 
5.1 Investments 

Particulars 

Investments at fair value through Profit & Loss 
Investments in mutual fund (quoted) 

Aditya Birla Sun Life Liquid Fund 
March 31, 2021- 2,866,008.324 Units @ RS.331.S328 (March 31, 2020 - Nil) 

SBI Magnum Low Duration Fund Direct Fund 
March 31, 2021-186,147.18 units @ Rs. 2,795.7642 (March 31,2020 - 203,373.445 units @ 

Rs. 2,629.9735) 

[(Mutual fund held for DSRA Rs. 5,204.23 lakhs ( March 31 , 2020 :Rs. 5,348.67 lakhs)) 

Aggregate book value of quoted investments 
Aggregate market value of quoted investments 

5.2 Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash on hand 
Balances with banks: 
- In current accounts 
- In escrow account * 

• Escrow account as hypothecated against secured loan. 

5.3 Other bank balances 
Debt service reserve account with banks /earmarked balance 
Unpaid distribution accounts 

5.4 Loans 
(Secured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Current maturities of long term loans to related parties 
(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
loans to related parties 
Current maturities of long term loan to related parties 

5.5 Other financial assets 
(Unsecured, considered good, unless otherwise stated) 
Interest receivable from related parties ( Refer note 29) 
Other receivable· 

* Receivable from lenders on account of compounded interest paid during the moratorium 
period. 

Note 6 : Current tax assets (net) 
Advance income tax (net of provision for tax Rs. Nil (March 31, 2020: Rs. Nil)) 

Note 7 : Other current assets 
(Unsecured, considered good unless otherwise stated) 
Prepaid expenses 

As at 
March 31, 2021 

9,501.76 

5,204.23 

14,705.99 

14,705.99 
14,705.99 

0.03 

7.26 
3,531.10 
3,538.39 

44.04 
44.04 

3,910.93 

16,093.90 
15,172.81 
35,177.64 

17,573.47 
76.20 

17,649.67 

7.32 
7.32 

0.29 
0.29 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2020 

5,348.67 

5,348.67 

5,348.67 
5,348.67 

0.05 

8.21 
9,570.18 
9,578.44 

34.05 
34.05 

17,701.57 

11,862.50 
26,698.56 
56,262.63 

4,402.40 

4,402.40 

35.34 
35.34 

0.28 
0.28 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 

Note 8: Equity 

I. Unit capital 

a. Issued, subscribed and fully paid up unit capital 

580,500,000 (March 31, 2020 - 580,500,000) 

b. Initial settlement amount 

At the end of the year 

c. Terms / rights attached to units 

Rights of unit holders 

As at 
March 31,2021 

531,157.50 

0.10 

531,157.60 

( Rs. In lakhs) 

As at 
March 31,2020 

542,767.50 

0.10 

542,767.60 

Subject to the provisions of the InvlT Regulations, the Indenture of Fund, and applicable rules, regulations and guidelines, the rights of the unit holders 
include: 

a) right to receive Income or distributions with respect to the units held; 

b) right to attend the annual general meeting and other m"el ngs of Ihe unit holders of the Fund; 

c) right to vole upon any mattr.rs/(csolutions proposed in relation to Ihe Fund; 

d) right to receive periodic information having a bearing on the operations or performance of the Fund in accordance with the InvlT Regulations; and 

e) right to apply to the Fund to take up certain issues at meetings for unit holders approval. 

In accord."cc With the InvlT Regulations, no unit holders sha ll enjoy superior voting or any othet rlgllts over any other unit holders, and there shall not be 
multiple classes of units. There shall be only one denomination of units. Notwlthst"nding the above, subordinate units may be issued only to the Sponsor 
and its Associates, where such subordinate units shalt carry only Inferior voting or any other rights compared to the other units. 

limitation to the liability of the unit holders 

The liabi li ty of each unll holders towards the payment of any amount (that may arise In relation 10 the Fund including any taxes. dullllS, nnllS, levies, 
lia bilities, costs 0(' expenses) shall be limited only to the extent of the capltll' contribution of s\l~h unit holders and after sud, capital contribution shall have 
been paid Tn fu ll by the IInit holders, the unit holders sh all not be obllgOlted to make any further payments. The unit hol(h!rs(s) shall nOf halle any personal 
liability or obligation with respect to the Fund. 

II. Reconciliation of the number of units out~t'l1 ndlnc and the amount of unit capital: 

At the beginning of the year 

Issued during the year 

Less: Capital reduction durl nll the year (Refer note 27) 

At the end ofthe year 

Details of unit holdIng more than 5% units: 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited 

Government Of Singapore 

Adl tya Birla Sun life Trustee Private limited 
AlC Aditya Birla Sun life Equity Hybrid '95 Fund 

Note :9 Other Equity 

Retained earnings 

At the beginning of the year 

Profit / (loss) for the year 

Interest distribution (Refer Note 27 ) 

Total Other Equity (A+B) 

Retained earnings 

As at March 31,2021 

No. of units In lakhs Amount Rs. In lakhs 

5,805.00 542,767.50 

- -
- 11,610.00 

5,805.00 531,157.50 

As at March 31,2021 

No. of units In lakhs Amount Rs. In lakhs 

927.05 15.97% 

457.83 7.89% 

371.00 6.40% 

As at March 31,2020 

No. of units In lakhs Amount Rs. In lakhs 

5,805.00 560,763.00 

- -
17,995.50 

5,805.00 542,767.50 

As at March 31,2020 

No. of units In lakhs 

927.05 

479.50 

371.00 

As at 
March 31,20ll 

(1,787.04) 

45,453.85 

(33,669.00) 

9,997.81 

Amount Rs. In Takhs 

15.97% 

8.26% 

6.40% 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 
March 31,2020 

(291.14) 

46,105.10 

(47,601.00) 

(1,787.04) 

Retained earnings are the profits that the Fund has earned till date, less any transfers to general reserve, dividends or other distributions paid to unit 

holders. 



IRB InvlT Fund 
Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 

Particulars 

Note 10 : Non-current financial liabilities 
Borrowings 
Secured 
Term loans 
Indian rupee loan from banks 
Less: Current maturities 

Less: Una mortised transaction cost 

1. Secured Term loans 

i) Secured by first charge on escrow account and on receivable of fund arising out of 
principal and interest payment of the loans by Fund to subsidiaries. 

ii) Pledge of shares held of 51% of share holding in the total paid-up eqUity share capital of 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited and IRB Pathankot Amritsar Tollway Limited 

iii) Interest rates on Indian rupee loan from State Bank of India is MCLR + 0.30% & IDFC First 
Bank is 8.15%. The Indian rupee loan from banks is repayable in unstructured quarterly 
instalment as per the repayment schedule specified in loan agreement with the Lenders. 

iv) There have been no breaches in the financial covenants with respect to borrowings. 

v) As per RBI Circular dated March 27, 2020 and May 22, 2020, the Fund has availed 
moratorium from Mar 2020 to August 2020. 

Note 11 : Current financial liabilities 
11.1 Trade Payables 

a) total outstanding dues of micro enterprises and small enterprises 

b) Total outstanding dues of creditors other than micro and small enterprises 

Total 

11.2 Other financial liabilities 
Current maturities of long-term borrowings 
- Indian rupee loan from banks 
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 
Unpaid distribution 

Note 12 : Other current liabilities 
Statutory dues payable 

As at 
March 31, 2021 

147,630.45 
(5,425.00) 

142,205.45 

1,033.73 
141,171.72 

9.42 

153.37 
162.79 

5,425.00 
10.27 
44.04 

5,479.31 

10.92 
10.92 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 
March 31, 2020 

147,820.46 
(6,584.46) 

141,236.00 

1,119.87 
140,116.13 

8.20 

834.98 
843.18 

6,584.46 
1,036.88 

34.05 
7,655.39 

27.40 
27.40 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 

Note 13 : Revenue from operations 

Operating income 

Interest income 

Note 14 : Other income 
Interest income on 

Interest income on bank deposits 

Interest income on income tax refund 

Profit on sale of investments 

Change in fair value on investments 

Note 15 : Finance costs 

Interest expense 

- Term loan from banks 

Other borrowing cost 

Other finance costs (Including Unamortise transaction costs) 

Note 16 : Other expenses 

Legal and professional fees 

Payment to auditor (refer note below) 

Miscellaneous expenses 

Payment to auditor (including GST) 

As auditors: 

- Statutory audit fees 

- Limited review fees 

- Tax audit fees 

In other capacity: 

- Other services (certification fees) 

Reimbursement of expenses 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 

57,562.76 
57,562.76 

26.64 

2.11 

452.44 

(142.20) 

338.99 

11,591.22 

101.17 

11,692.39 

52.40 

15.32 

7.48 

75.20 

8.50 

4.25 

1.42 

0.53 

0.62 

15.32 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2020 

59,426.29 
59A26.29 

50.33 

282.08 

295.75 

628.16 

12,443.49 

101.42 

12,544.91 

61.13 

12.92 

19.59 

93.64 

7.08 

3.54 

1.18 

0.53 

0.59 

12.92 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 

Note 17 : Earninas per unit (EPUI 

The following reflects the Income and unit data used in the basic and diluted EPU computations: 

Profit attributable to unit holders of the Fund for basic & diluted earnings 

Weighted average number of unit for basic & diluted EPU (in lakhs) 

Basic earning per unit (Amount in Rs.) 

Diluted earning per unit (Amount In Rs.) 

Note 18 : Capital and other commitments 

There are no capital and other commitments as at March 31, 2021 (March 31,2020 : Rs. NIL). 

Note 19 :Contlngent liabilities 

There are no contingent liabilities as at March 31, 2021 (March 31,2020 : Rs. NIL). 

Note 20 : Details of dues to micro and small enterprises as ner MSMEO Ac!, 2006 

For the year ended 

March 31, 2021 

45,453.85 

5,805.00 

7.83 

7.83 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

For the year ended 

March 31,2020 

46,105.10 

5,805.00 

7.94 

7.94 

The following details regarding Micro and small Enterprises has been determined to the extent such parties has been identified on the baSis of information available with the 

Fund. 

Particulars 

Principal amount remaining unpaid to any supplier as at the period end 

Interest due thereon 

Amount of interest paid by the Company in terms of section 16 of the MSMED, along with the amount of the payment 

made to the supplier beyond the apPOinted day during the accounting period. 

Amount of interest due and payable for the period of delay in making payment (whiCh have been paid but beyond the 

appOinted day during the period) but without adding the interest specified under the MSMED, 2006 

Amount of Interest accrued and remaining unpaid at the end of the accounting period 

The amount of further interest remaining due and payable even in the succeeding years, until such date when the 

interest dues as above are actually paid to the small enterprise for the purpose of disallowance as a deductible 

expenditure under the MSMED Act, 2006 

Note 21 : Operating segment 

As at 
March 31, 2021 

9.42 

( Rs. in lakhs) 

As at 

March 31, 2020 

8.20 

The Fund is engaged in to invest In infrastructure assets primarily being in the road sector in India which in the context of Ind AS 108 - Operating Segments is considered as 

the only segment. The Fund's activities are restricted within India and hence no separate geographical segment disclosure is considered necessary. 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Notes to Flnandal Statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 

Note n : Rclatp,d parlV t rao511ctlon 

List of Related Parties 

I. Subsidiaries/ SPVs 

II. Parties to the Fund 0 

IRB SUrat Dahls.r Tollw.y Limited ( ISDTL ) 

IRB Jalpur Deoll Tollway Limited ( IJDTL ) 

IDAA Infrastructure Limited (IDAAIL) 

IRB Pathankot Amrltsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRL) 

IRB Talegaon Amravatl Tollway Limited ( ITAlL ) 

IRB Tumkur Chltradurga Tollway Limited ( ITCTL ) 

M .V.R. Infr.structure & Tollways Limited (MITL) 

IRB Infrastructure Developers limited (IRBIDL) (Sponsor) 

IRB Infrastructure Private limited (lRBFL) (Investment Manager) 

Modern Road Makers Private Limited (MRMPL) (Project Manager) (Up tll11s lh M.y 2019) 

IRB Infrastructure Developers limited (IRBIDL) (Project M.nager) (w.e.f. 161h May 2019) 

lOBI Trusteeship Services Limited (ITSL) (Trustee) 

• As per InvlT regulations 

III. Promoters/ Directors of the parties to the Fuod specified In (II) above 

IRBlnfrastructure Developers 
IRBlnfrastructure Private Limited 

Modern Road Makers Private 

Particulars Limited (Sponsor & Project 
(Investment manager) 

Limited 

M onaCllr) I (Project manager) 

Mr. Vlrendra D. Mhalskar 

Promolers Mrs. Deepali V. Mhalskar IRB Infrastructure Developers IRB Infrastructure Developers 

Umlled limited 

Vlrondra D. Mhalskar HUF 

Mr. Vlrendra D. Mhalskar M r. Vlnod Kumar Menon Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta 

Mrs. Deepall V. Mhaiskar Mr. RaJlnder Pal Singh Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta 
Mr. Sunil Tandon 

Mr. Raj paul S. Sharma 
(w.e.!. Os.06.2020) 

Mr. Sudhlr Rao Hoshlng 
Mr.Bajarang Lal Gupta Mr. S.ndeep J. Shah 

(till 24.05.2020) ( w.e.!. 25.02.2020) 

Mr. Ch.ndrashekhar S. Kaplan 
Mr. Sumlt Banerjee Mrs.Arati Task.r 

(UII 31.07.2020) I w.e.!. 25.02.2020) 

M r. Sunil H. Talatl 
Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh 

(till 26.03.2021) 

Directors Mr. S.ndeep J. Shah 

M is. Heena Raja 

lOBI Trusteeship Services limited 

(Trustee olthe IRB InvlT Fund) 

lOBI Bank Limited 

lite Insurance Corporation of India 

Generilllnsurance Corporation of 

Indfa 

M r. J.Samuel Joseph 

( w.e.!. 26.11.2019) 

M r. Ravlshankar G. Shlnde 

M ~. Madhurl J. Kulkarni 

Mr. Satyajlt Trlpathy 

( w.e.!. 15.02.2020) 

Ms. Padma Betal 

(w.e.f.19.03.2020) 



IRB InvlT Fund 

Notes to Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 

Related party outstanding balances 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Relation 
Ason Ason Sr. No. Particula rs 

March 31,2021 March 31,2020 

1 Equity Investment 127,505.48 127,505.48 
IRS Surat Oahisar Tollway Limited (ISOTL) Subsidiary 53,232.48 53,232.48 
IRS Jaipur Oeoli Tollway Limited (UOTl) Subsidiary 13,175.00 13,175.00 
IOAA Infrastructure Limited (IDMll) Subsidiary 19,812.00 19,812.00 
IRS Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRl) Subsidiary 9,909.00 9,909.00 
IRS Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (lTATl) Subsidiary 4,925.00 4,925.00 
IRS Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary 15,550.00 15,550.00 
M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITl) Subsidiary 10,902.00 10,902.00 

2 Subordinated debt 99,431.00 99,431.00 
IRS Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited (UOTL) Subsidiary 39,525.00 39,525.00 
IRS Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road Limited (IPATRl) Subsidiary 29,581.00 29,581.00 
IRS Talegaon Amravati Tollway limited (ITATL) Subsidiary 14,775.00 14,775.00 
IRS Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (ITCTl) Subsidiary 15,550.00 15,550.00 

3 Secured loan receivable (Long term) 330,347.81 348,049.38 
IRS Surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISOTl) Subsidiary - 14,129.87 
IRS Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited (UDTl) Subsidiary 92,068.74 92,661.77 
IRS Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road limited (IPATRl) Subsidiary 92,901.41 93,154.14 
IRS Talegaon Amravati Tollway limited (ITATl) Subsidiary 37,153.84 37,153.84 
IRS Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (ITCTl) Subsidiary 93,712.76 93,712.76 
M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 14,511.06 17,237.00 

4 Unsecured loan receivable (Long term) 78,320.19 83,012.52 
IRS surat Dahisar Tollway Limited (ISDTl) Subsidiary 11,006.23 11,006.23 
IRS Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited (UOTL) Subsidiary 14,907.71 12,907.71 
IDM Infrastructure limited (IOAAll) Subsidiary 4,166.58 19,858.91 
IRS Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road limited (IPATRl) Subsidiary 15,490.04 15,490.04 
IRS Talegaon Amravati Tollway limited (ITATl) Subsidiary 8,905.47 8,905.47 
IRS Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (ITCTl) Subsidiary 7,338.07 7,338.07 
M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways limited (MITl) Subsidiary 16,506.09 7,506.09 

5 Unsecured loan receivable (Short term) 16,093.90 11,862.50 
IRB surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTl) Subsidiary 12,365.00 -
IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (lTCTl) Subsidiary 265.20 265.20 
M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITl) Subsidiary 3,463.70 11,597.30 

6 Interest recievable 17,573.47 4,402.40 
IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary 17,573.47 4,402.39 
M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways limited (MITl) Subsidiary - 0.01 

7 Trade payables 138.13 816.06 
IRB Infrastructure Private limited (1 RBFL) Investment Manager 138.13 816.06 



IRB InvlT Fund 
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Related party transaction during the period 

IRs In lakhs) 

Particulars 
Year ended Year ended Sr. No. Relation 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

1 Repavment of secured loan (Long term) 17,701.57 27,808.63 
IRB Surat DahisarToliway limited (ISDTL) Subsidiary 14,129.87 19,457.52 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Limited (UDTL) Subsidiary 593.04 -
IDM Infrastructure limited (IDMIL) Subsidiary - 6,402.00 
IRB Pathankot AmritsarToil Road limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 252.73 196.57 
M.V.R.lnfrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 2,725.93 1,752.54 

2 Unsecured loan given (Long term) 11,000.00 15,662.50 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway Umlted (UDTL) Subsidiary 2,000.00 9,800.00 
M'v.R.lnfrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 9,000.00 5,862.50 

3 Repayment of unsecured loan (Long term) 15,692.32 5,908.46 
IDM Infrastructure limited (IDAAIL) Subsidiary 15,692.32 5,908.46 

4 Unsecured loans given (Short term) 26,658.00 55,874.30 
IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTL) Subsidiary 12,815.00 9,897.00 
IRB Jaipur Deoll Tollway Limited (UDTL) Subsidiary 400.00 7,552.00 
IRB Pathankot AmritsarToil Road Limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 11,981.00 2,700.00 
IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (lTATL) Subsidiary 100.00 800.00 
IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary - 11,173.00 
M .V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 1,362.00 23,752.30 

5 Repayment of unsecured loan given (Short term) 22,426.60 50,729.00 
IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTL) Subsidiary 450.00 9,897.00 
IRB Jaipur Deoli Tollway limited (UDTL) Subsidiary 400.00 7,552.00 
IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 11,981.00 2,700.00 
IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) Subsidiary 100.00 800.00 
IRB Tumkur Chltradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) Subsid iary - 13,850.00 
M.V.R.lnfrastructure & Tollways Limited (MITL) Subsidiary 9,495.60 15,930.00 

6 Interest Income 57,589.28 59,449.81 
IRB Surat Dahisar Tollway limited (ISDTL) Subsidiary 3,307.71 5,293.49 
IRB Jaipur Deoll Tollway Limited (UDTL) Subsidiary 13,986.94 12,697.06 
IDM Infrastructure Limited (IDMIL) Subsidiary 2,122.88 3,518.35 
IRB Pathankot Amritsar Toll Road limited (IPATRL) Subsidiary 14,618.94 14,225.96 
IRB Talegaon Amravati Tollway Limited (ITATL) Subsidiary 5,989.17 6,015.80 
IRB Tumkur Ch ltradurga Tollway Limited (ITCTL) Subsidiary 13,171.08 13,597.84 
M.V.R. Infrastructure & Tollways limited (MITL) Subsidiary 4,392.56 4,101.31 

7 Investment Management fees (including indirect taxes) 590.00 1,220.49 

IRB Infrastructure Private Limited (IRBFL) Investment 
590.00 1,220.49 

Manager 



(Rs In l akhs) 

Sr. No. Particulars Relation 
Year ended Year ended 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

8 Distribution In the form of Interest 6,188.86 8,725.23 

IRB Infrastructure Developers limited (IRBIDL) 
Sponsor & Project 

5,376.89 7,601.81 
Manager 

Mr. Vlrendra D. Mhalskar Director of Sponsor 
709.92 959.40 & Project Manager 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhalskar Director of Sponsor 
89.90 127.10 & Project Manager 

Mr. Sudhlr Rao Hoshlng Director of Sponsor 
9.28 8.60 & Project Manager 

Mr. Mukeshlal Gupta Director of Sponsor . 8.68 & Project Manager 

Mr. Sunil Talati Director of Sponsor 
0.58 0.20 & Project Manager 

Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaptan 
Director of Sponsor 

- 0.60 & Project Manager 

Director of 
Mr. Vlnod Kumar Menon Investment 1.74 2.46 

Manager 

Director of 
Mr.Bajarang Lal Gupta Investment - 0.41 

Manager 

Director of 
Mr. Sumit Banerjee Investment 0.55 3.26 

Manager 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Director of Project - 1.23 Manager 

Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh Director of Project - 10.66 
Manager 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Director of Project 
- 0.82 Manager 



(Rs in l akhs) 

Particulars Relation 
Year ended Year ended Sr. No. 

March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

9 Distribution in form of capital 2,134.34 3,298.S8 

IRB Infrastructure Developers Limited (IRBIDL) 
Sponsor & Project 

1,854.10 2,873.86 
Manager 

Mr. Virendra D. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 
244.80 362.70 & Project Manager 

Mrs. Deepali V. Mhaiskar Director of Sponsor 
31.00 48.05 & Project Manager 

Mr. Sudhir Rao Hoshing Director of Sponsor 
3.20 3.24 & Project Manager 

Mr. Mukeshial Gupta 
Director of Sponsor - 3.36 & Project Manager 

Mr. Sunil Talati Director of Sponsor 
0.20 0.07 & Project Manager 

Mr. Chandrashekhar Kaptan 
Director of Sponsor - 0.18 & Project Manager 

Director of 
Mr. Vinod Kumar Menon Investment 0.60 0.93 

Manager 

Director of 
Mr.Bajarang Lal Gupta Investment - 0.16 

Manager 

Director of 
Mr. Sumit Banerjee investment 0.44 1.22 

Manager 

Mr. Dhananjay K. Joshi Director of Project 
- 0.47 

Manager 

Mr. Ajay P. Deshmukh Director of Project - 4.03 Manager 

Mr. Rajpaul S. Sharma Director of Project - 0.31 
Manager 

10 Trustee fee 29.50 29.50 
lOBI Trusteeship Services Limited (ITSL) Trustee 29.50 29.50 
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Note 23 : Fair Values 

Financial assets and liabilities 

The carrying values of financials instruments of the Fund are reasonable and approximations of fair values. 

The accounting classification of each category of financial instruments, their carrying amounts and the categories of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value, are set 
out below: 

IRs. In lakhs) 

Carrying amount Fair Value 

As at As at As at As at 
March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 March 31, 2021 March 31, 2020 

Financial assets 

Loans 425,097.97 443,287.00 425,097.97 443,287.00 

Other financial assets 17,649.67 4,402.40 17,649.67 4,402.40 

Investments in mutual funds 14,705.99 5,348.67 14,705.99 5,348.67 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,538.39 9,578.44 3,538.39 9,578.44 

Other Bank balances 44.04 34.05 44.04 34.05 

Financial liabilities 

Trade payables 162.79 843.18 162.79 843.18 

Borrowings 146,596.72 146,700.59 146,596.72 146,700.59 

Other financial liabilities 54.31 1,070.93 54.31 1,070.93 

The management assessed that the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, bank overdrafts and other current liabilities approximate their 
carrying amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. 

The fair value of the financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the Instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other 
than in a forced or liquidation sale. 

The discount for lack of marketability represents the amounts that the Company has determined that market participants would take into account when pricing the investments. 

The Fund is required to present the Statement of total assets at fair value and Statement of total returns at fair value as per SEBI Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/114/2016 dated October 
20, 2016 as a part of these financial statements - Refer Statement of Net assets at fair value and Statement of Total Returns at fair value. 

Note 24 : Fair Value Hierarchy 

All financial instruments for which fair value is recognised or disclosed are categorised within the fair value hierarchy described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is 
Significant to the fair value measurement as a whole. 

Levell: Quoted (unadjusted) price is active market for identical assets or liabilities 

Level 2: Valuation technique for which the lowest level Input that has a significant effect on the fair value measurement are observed, either directly or indirectly. 

Level 3: Valuation technique for which the lowest level Input has a significant effect on the fair value measurement is not based on observable market data. 

The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring baSis as of March 31, 2021 : 

IRs. In lakhs) 

As at Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year 
using 

March 31, 2021 - - -L-ev- e- l-l-----L-e-v-el::.2-- --- Le-v-e-I-3--

Assets 

Investments in mutual funds(Quoted) 14,705.99 14,705.99 

The following table presents fair value hierarchy of assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2020 : 

Assets 

Investments in mutual funds(Quoted) 

There has been no transfer between Levell, Level 2 & Level 3 during the year. 

As at 
March 31, 2020 

5,348.67 

IRs. in lakhs) 

Fair value measurement at end of the reporting year 
using 

Levell Level 2 Level 3 

5,348.67 
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Note 25 : Financial risk management objectives and policies 

The fund's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the fund, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and 
adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the fund's activities_ 

The Board of Directors of Investment Manager have overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the fund 's risk management framework. 

In performing its operating, investing and finanCing activities, the fund is exposed to the Credit risk, Liquidity risk and Market risk. 

a. Market Risk 

Market risk Is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: 
interest rate risk, currency risk and other price risk, such as equity price risk and commodity risk. Financial instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, 

deposits. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a counter party will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Fund is exposed to credit 
risk from its investing activities including loans to subsidiaries, deposits with banks and other financial instruments. As at March 31, 2021, the credit risk is considered low since 
substantial transactions of the Fund are with its subsidiaries. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument wili fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates . The fund's exposure to the 
risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the fund's long-term debt obligations with floating interest rates. 

Interest rate sensitivity 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of loans and borrowings affected, after the excluding the credit 
exposure for which In terest rate swap has been taken and hence the interest rate Is fixed . With all other variables held constant, the Fund's profit before tax is affected through 
the impact on floating rate borrowings, as follows: 

Increase in basis points 

- INR 

Effect on profit before tax 

· INR 

Decrease in basis points 

-INR 

Effect on profit before tax 

-INR 

b. Liquidity risk 

For year ended 
March 31, 2021 

50 

728.01 

50 

(728.01) 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

Foryearended 
March 31. 2020 

50 

724.61 

50 

(724.61) 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Fund may not be able to meet its present and future cash and collateral obligations without Incurring unacceptable losses. The Fund's objective is 
to, at all times maintain optimum levels of liqUidity to meet its cash and collateral requirements. 

The Fund closely monitors its liquidity pOSition and deploys a robust cash management system. It maintains adequate sources of financing including debt and overdraft from banks 
at an optimised cost. 

The liquidity risk is managed on the basis of expected maturity dates of the financialliabilltles_ The average credit period taken to settle trade payables is about 30 to 90 days. The 
other payables are with short-term durations. The carrying amounts are assumed to be a re~son able approximation of fair value. The following table analyses financial liabilities by 
remaining contractual maturities: 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

March 31, 2021 On demand 
less than 3 

less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 
months 

Borrowings 4,127.93 12,261.28 61,493.58 171,620.10 249,502.89 

Other financial liabilities 44.04 10.28 54.32 

Trade payables 162.79 162.79 

Total 44.04 4,301.00 12,261.28 61,493.58 171,620.10 249,720.00 

(Rs. in lakhs) 

March 31, 2020 On demand 
less than 3 

less than 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years Total 
months 

Borrowings 5,519.30 12,876.24 64,456.93 176,525.73 259,378.20 

Other financial liabilities 34.05 1,036.88 1,070.93 

Trade payables 843.18 843.18 

Total 34.05 7,399.36 12,876.24 64,456.93 176,525.73 26.1,292.31 

et such cash commitments, the operating activity is expected to generate 
suffiCient cash inflows. 
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Note 26 : Capital m~naccmcnt 

Capital Includes equity attributable to the equity holders to ensure that it maintains an efficient capital structure and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and 
maximise shareholder value. The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions or its business requirements. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were 
made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020. 
The company monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as loans and borrowings less cash and cash 
equivalents. 

(Rs. in lakhsl 
As at As at 

March 31, 2021 March 31,2020 
Borrowings (Secured) 147,630.45 147,820.46 
Trade and other payables 162.79 843.18 
Other financial liabilities 54.31 1,070.93 
Less: cash and cash equivalents (3,538.39) (9,578.44) 
Net debt (A) 144,309.16 140,156.12 
Unit capital 531,157.50 542,767.50 
Initial settlement amount 0.10 0.10 
Total equity (B) 531,157.60 542,767.60 
Capital and net debt C = A + B 675,466.76 682.923.72 
Gearing ratio (%) (e / Al 21.36% 20.52% 

In order to achieve this overall objective, the fund's capital management, amongst other things, aims to ensure that it meets financial covenants attached to the interest-bearing 
loans and borrowings that define capital structure requirements. Breaches in meeting the financial covenants would permit the bank to immediately call loans and borrowings. 
There have been no breaches In the financial covenants of any interest-bearing borrowings in the current period. 

Note 27 : Distribution made 

Distributed during the year as : 

Interest" 

Return on capital" 

For the year 

ended 
March 31,2021 

33,669.00 

11,610.00 

45,279.00 

(Rs. In lakhs) 

For the year 
ended 

March 31,2020 

47,601.00 

17,995.50 

65,596.50 

" Pertains to the distributions made during the financial year along with the distribution related to the last quarter of FY 2019-20 and does not include the distribution relating to 
the last quarter of FY 2020-21 which will be paid after March 31, 2021. 

The distributions made by the Fund to its unit holders are based on the Net Distribution Cash Flow (NDCF) of Fund under the InvlT Regulations and hence part of the same includes 
repayment of capital as well. 

Note 28 : Estimation of uncertainties relating to the global health pandemic from eOVID-19 

The Trust has considered the possible effects that may result from the second wave of COVID-19 pandemic on the carrying amounts of its investments in SPVs including loans and 
other receivables. In developing the assumptions relating to the possible future uncertainties in the global economic conditions because of this pandemic, the Trust, as at the date 
of approval of these financial results has used internal and external sources of information including reports from Independent Traffic Consultants and related information, 
economic forecasts and consensus estimates from market sources on the expected future performance of the Trust. 

The Trust has performed sensitivity analysis on the assumptions used and based on current estimates expects the carrying amount of these assets as reflected in the balance sheet 
as at 31 March 2021 will be recovered. The impact of COVID-19 on the Trust's financial statements may differ from that estimated as at the date of approval of these Standalone 
financial statements. 

Note 29 

Due to dispute on the deferred premium calculation of previous years between the IRB Tumkur Chitradurga Tollway Limited ("Subsidiary Company or concessionaire") and the 
NHAI, the concessionaire has filed appeal with the Honorable High Court of Delhi for resolution against the NHAl's demand of advance premium of Rs. 16.98 crore in aggregate and 
interest on It. As per the Interim Order of the DiviSion Bench of Honorable High Court, withdrawals from Escrow Account are not permitted till Final Order In the matter. Currently, 
the matter is under appeal with the Honorable High Court. Hence, the subsidiary company could not paid the interest on loans from December 2019 to 31 March 2021 amounting 
to Rs. 17573.47 Lakhs to the Fund. 
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Note 30 : Significant accounting judgement, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of the Fund's financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenue, expenses, 
assets and liabilities and the accompanying disclosures and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in out comes 
that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. 

Judgement 

In the process of applying the Fund's accounting policies, management has made the following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements. 

Classification of unit holders Funds 

Under the provisions of the InvlT Regulations, Fund is required to distribute to Unit holders not less than ninety percent of the net distributable cash flows of Fund for each 
financial year. Accordingly, a portion of the unit holders' Funds contains a contractual obligation of the Fund to pay to its Unit holders cash distributions. The Unit holder's Funds 
could therefore have been classified as compound finanCial instrument which contain both equity and liability components in accordance with Ind AS 32-Financial Instruments: 
Presentation. 

However, in accordance with SEBI Circulars(No.CIR/IMD/DF/114/2016 dated 20-0ct-2016 and No.CIR/IMD/DF/127/2016 dated 29-Nov-2016) issued under the InvlT Regulations, 
the unit holders' Funds have been classified as equity in order to comply with the mandatory requirements of Section H of Annexure A to the SEBI Circular dated 20-0ct-2016 

dealing with the minimum disclosures for key financial statements. In line with the above, the income distribution payable to unit holders is recognized as liability when the same is 
approved by the Investment Manager. 

Estimates and assumptions 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to 
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities or fair value disclosures within the next financial year, are described below. The Fund based its assumptions and estimates on 
parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market 
changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Fund. Such charges are reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 

Fair valuation and disclosures 

SEBI Circulars issued under the InvlT Regulations required is diclosures relating to net assets at fair value and total returns at fair value. In estimating the fair value of investments 
in subsidiaries (which constitute substantial portion of the net assets), the Fund engages independent qualified external valuers to perform the valuation. The management works 
closely with the valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The management reports the valuation report and findings to the Board of the 
Investment Manager half yearly to explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the road projects. The inputs to the valuation models are taken from observable markets 
where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values. Judgements include considerations of inputs such as WACC, Tax rates, 
Inflation rates etc. Changes in assumptions about these factors could affect the fair value. (refer note 23 for details). 

Impairment of Investments and loans in subsidiaries 

Impairment exists when the carrying value of an asset or cash generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its 
value in use. The recoverable amounts for the investments in subsidiaries are based on value in use of the underlying projects. The value in use calculation is based on a DCF 
model. The cash flows are derived from budgets / forecasts over the life of the projects. 

Note 31 : Taxes 

In accordance with section 10 (23FC) of the Income Tax Act, the income of business Fund in the form of interest received or receivable from Project SPV is exempt from tax. 

Accordingly, the Fund is not required to provide any current tax liability. Further, deferred tax assets on carry forward losses is not being created since there is no virtual certainty 
of reversal of the same in the near future . 
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Note 32 : Subsequent events 

The Board of Directors ofthe Investment Manager have approved 4th Distribution of Rs. 2.50 per unit which comprises of Rs. 1.70 per unit as Interest and Re. 0.80 per unit as 
eturn of capital In their meeting held on May 15, 2021. 

Note 33 : Previous year comparatives 

Previous year's figures have been regrouped/reclassified, wherever necessary to conform to the current year's presentation. 

As per our report of even date 
For Suresh Surana & Associates LLP 
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Firm's Registration Number: ill7S0W/W·l 
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